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This prospectus (the “Prospectus”) qualifies the distribution (the “Offering”) of a minimum (the “Minimum 
Offering”) of 12,666,667 common shares (“Shares”) and a maximum (the “Maximum Offering”) of 16,666,666
Shares in the capital of Doca Capital Corp. (“Doca”), and together with up to 2,500,000 Shares to be issued on 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option described below, the “Offered Shares”) of Doca at a price of $0.15 per Share
(the “Offering Price”).

The Offering Price and terms of this Offering have been determined by negotiation between Doca and Canaccord 
Genuity Corp. (the “Agent”).  See “Plan of Distribution”.

$0.15 per Offered Share

Price to Public Agent’s Fee(1) Net Proceeds(2)

Per Offered Share $0.15 $0.012 $0.138

Minimum Offering $1,900,000 $152,000 $1,748,000

Maximum 
Offering(3)(4)(5)

$2,500,000 $200,000 $2,300,000

(1) Assumes full commission is paid on all proceeds; the Agent will be paid a cash commission equal to 8% of the aggregate 
gross proceeds from the sale of the Offered Shares (the “Agent’s Commission”).

Doca will also grant non-transferable warrants to the Agent (the “Agent’s Warrants”) entitling the Agent to purchase that 
number of Common Shares as is equal to 10% of the number of Offered Shares sold under the Offering.  Each Agent’s 
Warrant will be exercisable to purchase one Common Share at the Offering Price for a period of 24 months after the 
Closing, as herein defined.

The Company has also agreed to pay to the Agent the Agent’s Work Fee of $75,000 ($32,500 of which has been paid), a 
non-refundable administrative work fee of $3,000 and to issue to the Agent the Agent’s Corporate Finance Shares (up to 
402,500 common shares, assuming full exercise of the Over-Allotment Option described below).

This Prospectus qualifies for distribution the Agent’s Warrants and the Corporate Finance Shares to the extent permitted by 
National Instrument 41-101 (“NI 41-101”).  NI 41-101 restricts the maximum number of securities being issued to an agent 
as compensation that may be qualified under a prospectus (“Qualified Compensation Securities”), to not more than 10% of 
the number of securities being offered; which in the case of the Maximum Offering equates to 1,666,666 Shares (1,916,666 
Shares if the maximum Over-Allotment Option is exercised).  For the purposes of this Offering, any combination of Agent’s 
Warrants and Corporate Finance Shares totalling up to 10% of the number of Shares sold are Qualified Compensation 
Securities and are qualified for distribution by this Prospectus.  To the extent that the Agent is entitled to receive securities 
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as compensation exceeding 10% of the Shares sold, those securities exceeding the 10% threshold will not be Qualified 
Compensation Securities, will not be qualified for distribution under this Prospectus and will be subject to a four month hold 
period in accordance with applicable securities laws.  See “Plan of Distribution”.

(2) Before deducting the remaining expenses of the Offering, estimated to be approximately $87,000, which will be paid from 
the proceeds of the Offering.

(3) Doca has granted the Agent an option, exercisable in whole or in part in the sole discretion of the Agent not later than 30
days after the Closing of the Offering, to arrange for the sale of up to an additional 2,500,000 Offered Shares at the Offering 
Price, to cover over-allotments and for market stabilization purposes (the “Over-Allotment Option”). The Over-Allotment 
Option will only be exercised if the Maximum Offering is achieved.  A purchaser who acquires Offered Shares forming part 
of the Over-Allotment Option acquires those Offered Shares under this Prospectus, regardless of whether the Over-
Allotment Option is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases.  If
the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, Doca will receive gross proceeds of $2,875,000 from the Offering (net 
proceeds of $2,645,000 after deduction of the Agent’s fee of $230,000 but excluding costs of the Offering).  

(4) This Prospectus also qualifies the distribution of the Common Shares issuable upon exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.  
See “Plan of Distribution”.

(5) Unless an amendment to the final prospectus is filed and the “principal regulator” under National Policy 11-202 (the 
“Securities Regulatory Authority”) has issued a receipt for the amendment, the latest date that the distribution is to remain 
open is 90 days after the date of issuance of a receipt for the final prospectus by the Securities Regulatory Authority.

The following table sets out securities issuable to the Agent:

Agent’s Position

Number of Securities 
Available Based on the 

Minimum Offering

Number of 
Securities 

Available Based 
on the Maximum 

Offering Exercise Period 

Exercise 
Price or 

Issue Price

Over-Allotment Option(1) Nil 2,500,000 Shares 30 days after Closing $0.15

Agent’s Warrants(1) 1,266,666 Warrants 1,916,666 
Warrants(2)

24 months after Closing $0.15

Agent’s Corporate 
Finance Shares

350,000 Shares 402,500 Shares(2) Upon Closing of the Offering $0.15

Total Securities under 
Option to Agent

1,266,666 Agent’s 
Warrants and 350,000
Agent’s Corporate 
Finance Shares

2,500,000 Shares, 
1,916,666 Agent’s 
Warrants and 
402,500 Agent’s 
Corporate Finance 
Shares

30 days after Closing, as to 
2,500,000 Shares (assuming 
Maximum Offering is 
achieved)

24 months after Closing, as to 
1,266,666 Agent’s Warrants 
(based on the Minimum 
Offering) or 1,916,666 
Agent’s Warrants (based on 
the Maximum Offering and 
exercise of Over-Allotment 
Option)

Upon Closing as to 350,000 
Agent’s Corporate Finance 
Shares (based on the 
Minimum Offering) or 
402,500 Agent’s Corporate 
Finance Shares (based on the 
Maximum Offering and 
exercise of Over-Allotment 
Option)

$0.15

(1) This Prospectus qualifies for distribution the Agent’s Warrants and the Corporate Finance Shares to the extent 
permitted by National Instrument 41-101 (“NI 41-101”).  NI 41-101 restricts the maximum number of securities being 
issued to an agent as compensation that may be qualified under a prospectus (“Qualified Compensation Securities”), to 
not more than 10% of the number of securities being offered; which in the case of the Maximum Offering equates to 
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1,666,666 Shares (1,916,666 Shares if the maximum Over-Allotment Option is exercised).  For the purposes of this 
Offering, any combination of Agent’s Warrants and Corporate Finance Shares totalling up to 10% of the number of 
Shares sold are Qualified Compensation Securities and are qualified for distribution by this Prospectus.  To the extent 
that the Agent is entitled to receive securities as compensation exceeding 10% of the Shares sold, those securities 
exceeding the 10% threshold will not be Qualified Compensation Securities, will not be qualified for distribution under 
this Prospectus and will be subject to a four month hold period in accordance with applicable securities laws.  See 
“Plan of Distribution”.

(2) Assuming full exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.

Doca is a capital pool company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange. The Offering is being completed 
concurrently with Doca’s proposed Qualifying Transaction which involves the acquisition of options to 
acquire 100% interests in the Wekusko Gold Property in Manitoba.  This Transaction is further described in 
this Prospectus.  The Offering will close concurrently with the Transaction. The Transaction was negotiated 
at arm’s length and does not constitute a non-arm’s length qualifying transaction as defined in the Exchange
Manual.

The Common Shares are listed on the Exchange under the symbol “DCA.P”. Doca has received conditional 
approval to list the Common Shares issued pursuant to the Offering and the Common Shares to be issued in 
connection with the exercise of the Agent’s Warrants on the Exchange upon completion of the Qualifying 
Transaction.  Listing will be subject to Doca fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the Exchange. On
February 2, 2012, the last trading day before trading was halted, the closing price on the Exchange of the 
Common Shares was $0.15. At the request of Doca, trading in the Common Shares was halted on February 
7, 2012.  Effective July 16, 2012, trading in the shares of Doca was suspended from listing as the Company 
did not complete its Qualifying Transaction within two years of its IPO as required by the Exchange, and has 
not resumed trading as at the date of this Prospectus.  It is anticipated that upon completion of the 
Transaction, the Common Shares will resume trading.

Investment in the Common Shares is speculative due to various factors. An investment in these securities 
should be made only by persons who can afford the total loss of their investment. See “Risk Factors”.

The Agent conditionally offers the Offered Shares for sale on a commercially reasonable efforts basis, without 
underwriter liability, subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued by Doca and delivered and accepted by the Agent 
in accordance with the conditions contained in the Agency Agreement referred to under “Plan of Distribution”, and 
subject to approval of certain legal matters by McMillan LLP on behalf of Doca, and Miller Thomson on behalf of 
the Agent.

Subscriptions will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the right to close the 
subscription books at any time without notice is reserved. Subscriptions for 12,666,667 Shares for total gross 
proceeds of $1,900,000 must be raised within 90 days of the issuance of a receipt for the final prospectus (being 
December 12, 2012), unless an amendment to the final prospectus is filed and receipted in which case the 
distribution must close within 90 days of the receipt for the amended Prospectus, and in any case not later than 180 
days from the date of the issuance of a receipt for the final prospectus, or such other time as may be consented to by 
the Agent and persons or companies that subscribed for Shares within such period.  If the Agent is unable to receive 
subscriptions for a total of 12,666,667 Shares (based on the Minimum Offering), all subscription monies will be 
returned to subscribers without interest or deduction, unless subscribers have otherwise instructed the Agent.

Certificates representing the Common Shares forming part of the Offered Shares will be available for delivery on the 
Closing (see “Plan of Distribution”). It is expected that the closing of the Offering and the Transaction will take 
place no later than October 5, 2012, or such other date as agreed to by the Company and the Agent.

The registered office of Doca is Suite 1500 – 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6E 4N7. Its 
head office is Suite 300 – 1055 Hastings Street West, Vancouver, British Columbia V6E 2E9.

It is expected that one or more global certificates evidencing the Offered Shares distributed under this Prospectus 
will be issued in registered form to CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. (“CDS”) and will be deposited with 
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CDS on the closing of the Offering.  If Doca and the Agent elect to proceed in this manner, no certificates 
evidencing the Offered Shares will be issued to subscribers under this Prospectus, and registration will be made in 
the depository service of CDS.  Subscribers of Offered Shares under this Prospectus will receive only a customer 
confirmation from the Agent or other registered dealer who is a CDS participant and from or through whom a 
beneficial interest in the Offered Shares is purchased.
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GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS

Agency Agreement means the agency agreement dated September 13, 2012 entered into between 
the Agent and Doca relating to the Offering.

Agent means Canaccord Genuity Corp.

Agent’s Corporate Finance 
Shares

means up to 402,500 common shares to be issued to the Agent upon Closing.

Agent’s Commission means the cash consideration payable to the Agent equal to 8% of the 
aggregate gross proceeds from the sale of the Offered Shares. 

Agent’s Work Fee means the cash consideration of $75,000 payable to the Agent ($32,500 of 
which has been paid).

Agent’s Warrants means the non-transferable share purchase warrants of Doca granted to the 
Agent as described under “Plan of Distribution”.

BCBCA means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).

Cangame means Cangame Corporation, a private corporation incorporated under the 
laws of the Province of Manitoba.

Closing means the concurrent closing of the Offering and Transaction, which will take 
place at the offices of McMillan LLP on the Closing Date.

Closing Date means such date as Doca and the Agent agree, but in any event no later than 
October 5, 2012, or such other date as agreed to by the Company and the 
Agent.

Common Shares means common shares of Doca.

company unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated 
association or organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association or 
other entity other than an individual.

CPC Agents’ Options means outstanding options to purchase 200,000 Common Shares at $0.10
each, granted by Doca to Raymond James Ltd., in their capacity as agent for
Doca’s initial public offering.

CPC Escrow Agreement means the escrow agreement dated February 12, 2010 among Doca, certain 
Shareholders and Computershare Investor Services Inc., as escrow agent, 
providing for the escrow of 2,890,000 Common Shares. 

CPC Options means options to purchase 600,000 Common Shares granted to directors and
officers of Doca.

Doca or the Company means Doca Capital Corporation, a corporation incorporated under the 
BCBCA.

Exchange or TSXV means the TSX Venture Exchange Inc.
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Exchange Policy 2.4 means “Policy 2.4 – Capital Pool Companies” as set out in the Exchange
Manual.

Ferro Property means the property known as the “Ferro Mine Property” located 
approximately 23 kilometres southeast of Snow Lake, Manitoba, and east of 
Wekusko Lake, Manitoba that is comprised of 3 mineral claims totalling 
approximately 60 hectares (together with the Wekusko Property, the 
“Properties”).

Finder means 668730 B.C. Ltd., a corporation controlled by Andrew Cook 
(incoming Vice President of Operations of the Company)

Finder’s Fee Shares means the 300,000 common shares in the capital of the Company to be issued 
to the Finder as a finders fee in connection with the Transaction.

Final Exchange Bulletin means the Exchange bulletin which is issued after the submission of all 
required documentation to the Exchange and after the Closing, and which 
evidences the final Exchange acceptance of the Transaction.

GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles.

IFRS means International Financial Reporting Standards.

Maximum Offering means up to 16,666,666 Shares offered under this Prospectus.

Minimum Offering means 12,666,667 Shares offered under this Prospectus.

Non-Arm’s Length Party in relation to a company, means a promoter, officer, director or other insider 
or control person of that company and any associates or affiliates of any such 
Persons, or another entitle or an affiliate of that entity, if that entity or its 
affiliate have the same promoter, office, director, insider or control person as 
the company; and in relation to an individual, means any associate of the 
individual or any company of which the individual is a promoter, officer, 
director, insider or control person.

Non-Arm’s Length Qualifying
Transaction

means a proposed Qualifying Transaction where the same party or parties or 
their respective Associates or Affiliates are Control Persons in both the CPC 
and in relation to the Properties which are the subject of the proposed 
Qualifying Transaction.

Offered Shares means up to 19,166,666 Shares offered under this Prospectus (including 
2,500,000 Shares issuable on exercise of the Over-Allotment Option).

Offering means the offering of Offered Shares pursuant to this Prospectus.

Offering Price means $0.15 per Offered Share.

Over-Allotment Option means the option granted by Doca to the Agent, exercisable not later than 30 
days after the Closing, to arrange for the sale of up to an additional 2,500,000
Shares at the Offering Price, to cover over-allotments.

Partnership means Strider and Cangame.

Person means a company or individual.
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Pro Group has the meaning assigned thereto in “Policy 1.1 – Interpretation” of the 
Exchange Manual.

Properties means the Wekusko Property and the Ferro Property.

Prospectus means this Prospectus.

Qualifying Transaction means a transaction pursuant to which a capital pool company acquires 
significant assets by way of purchase, amalgamation, merger or arrangement 
with another company or by other means other than by cash in accordance 
with Exchange Policy 2.4.

Share Option Plan means Doca’s share purchase option plan described under “Options to 
Purchase Securities – Stock Option Plan”.

Shareholders means Persons holding Common Shares.

Strider means Strider Resources Limited, a private corporation incorporated under 
the laws of the Province of Manitoba.

Subscriber means a subscriber for the Offered Shares offered under this Offering.

Technical Report means the National Instrument 43-101 compliant technical report dated 
May 12, 2012 on the Wekusko Property entitled “NI 43-101 Technical 
Report: Geology, Mineralization and Exploration of The Wekusko Gold 
Project, Snow Lake Area, Manitoba (NTS 63J/13), Canada”.

Transaction means the Offering together with the transactions contemplated in the 
Transaction Agreements, resulting in Doca’s acquisition of options to acquire 
the Wekusko Property and the Ferro Property, such transactions constituting 
the Company’s Qualifying Transaction.

Transaction Agreements means the agreement dated February 6, 2012 entered into between Strider and 
the Company, providing for the grant of an option to acquire the Wekusko 
Property by the Company, and the agreement dated February 6, 2012 entered 
into between Strider, Cangame and the Company, providing for the grant of 
an option to acquire the Ferro Property by the Company.

U.S. means the United States of America.

Value Escrow Agreement means an escrow agreement to be entered into among Doca, Computershare 
Investor Services Inc., and certain Shareholders.

Wekusko Property means the property known as the “Wekusko Property” that is located 
approximately 23 kilometres southeast of Snow Lake, Manitoba and that is 
comprised of 55 mineral claims totaling approximately 8,880 hectares, 
(together with the Ferro Property, the “Properties”).

Currency and Exchange Rates

All references to “dollar” or the use of the symbol “$” are to Canadian dollars, all references to “US dollars” or 
“US$” are to U.S. dollars.
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

In this prospectus the following terms mean:

Ag symbol for silver.

Al symbol for aluminum.

Alteration means the change in minerals that can occur when rock units are subjected to 
hydrothermal solutions typically associated with intrusive rocks or with areas of 
volcanic activity.

Andesite means a dark, fine grained extrusive volcanic rock that can be porphyritic or contain 
phenocrysts of various chemical compositions.

Anomaly an elevated geophysical or geochemical response to a mineral exploration survey 
normally undertaken to assess an area for high metal concentrations in soils or 
electromagnetic and magnetic responses that are typical of rocks with mineralization. 

As symbol for arsenic.

Au symbol for gold.

Bi symbol for bismuth.

Biotite means a common rock-forming mineral of the mica group.

Ca symbol for calcium.

Canadian Shield means a physiographic division, consisting of five smaller physiographic provinces 
extending from Canada to the United States.

Chalcopyrite means a sulphide mineral.

Channel sample means the gathering of a sample by cutting a channel a few centimeters wide and 
more than one-half centimeters deep  along a rock surface.

Chip sample means the collection of representative samples of rock fragments within a limited 
area.

Commercial ore body means an economic concentration of minerals defined by its size and commercial 
value.

Cu symbol for copper.

Delineation means a form of drilling which expands or outlines an ore-body.

Diamond drilling means a process of drilling holes into rocks using bits inset with diamonds that 
because of their hardness can cut through rock

Drifting means mining a deposit by underground methods accessed by adits driven 
horizontally into rock to follow a vein or the ore.

Fault means a fracture or fracture zone along which there has been  displacement of the 
sides relative to one another surface.
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Fe symbol for iron.

Flin Flon-Snow Lake 
greenstone belt

means the Flin Flon greenstone belt, a Precambrian greenstone  belt, 250 kilometers 
long and 75 kilometers wide. 

G/t means grams per tonne, a common term used to describe the amount of gold present.

Geochemical Surveys means a type of mineral exploration survey that involves the collection of samples of 
overburden or soil to assist in the identification of buried mineralized zones.

Ha means hectares.

Historical Estimate means a historical estimate of grade and tonnage of ore which is not compliant under 
NI43-101 policy and cannot be verified without the additional collection of data.

Hydrothermal means the heated, generally acidic solutions associated with areas of volcanic 
activity within the earths crust.

Infill Drilling means the drilling of extra holes around a known ore body or mineralized zone to 
assist in the definition of grade of ore and tonnage present.

IP means induced polarization survey which measures the earth’s resistivity to low 
frequency electrical currents and its ability to transmit current (a common 
geophysical exploration tool especially in the search for gold).

IPO means the Company’s initial public offering.

K symbol for potassium.

Li symbol for lithium.

Lineaments means a linear feature in a landscape which is an expression of an underlying 
geological structure such as a fault.

Longitudinal section means a section that is cut along the long axis of a structure.

Low rock outcrop means less than 20 meters of relief.

Mafic minerals means a rock primarily made up of magnesium and iron.

Magma means a naturally occurring molten rock material present below the earth’s surface.

Magnetic survey means a survey which measure the magnetism of the rock units within the survey 
area.

McLeod Road Thrust means a geological structure near Snow Lake which hosts 3 known gold deposits.

Metasedimentary means a sedimentary rock that has had its mineralogy and chemistry changed by 
increased temperatures and pressures that accompany metamorphism.

Metavolcanic means a volcanic rock that has had its mineralogy and chemistry changed by 
increased temperatures and pressures that accompany metamorphism.

Mg symbol for magnesium.
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Mineral Tenures property means the claims or “tenures” that comprise a mineral property

MMI means Mobile Metal Ion, an advanced soil geochemical exploration technique that 
measures ions released from ore bodies.

Mn symbol for manganese.

Mo symbol for molybdenum.

Ore Shoot means a zone of mineralization confined to a certain orientation that can be mined 
profitably.

Overburden means soils and loose or unconsolidated rock material that overlies a mineral deposit.

P symbol for phosphorus.

Paleoproterozoic means 900 million years; a sub-division of geological time.

Pb symbol for lead.

Porphyritic means rocks that contain phenocrysts or mineral crystals that are larger than the 
matric or groundmass of the rock.  

PPB means parts per billion.

PPM means parts per million.

Precambrian Shield means Canadian Shield.

QA means quality assurance.

QC means quality control.

Reserves means the total tonnage and average value of proven ore that are available for 
mining.

Snow Lake means the total tonnage and average value of proven ore that are available for 
mining.

Stockpiled Ore means ore stored for future use and processing.

Sulphide means a mineral made up of sulphur and one or more metals.

Tag Alder Survey means sampling of tag alder twigs for traces of Mineralization; tag alder is a 
common shrub growing in

Tectonics means the studying of the structure of the Earth’s crust and the forces that shaped it.

Trans Hudson Oregon means the highly eroded remains of an ancient mountain chain in northern Canada.

Vein System means the highly eroded remains of an ancient mountain chain in northern Canada.

Volcanic means a type of rock that originated from a vent or volcano in the earth’s crust 
through which, lava steam and ashes are expelled.
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VMS means volcanogenic massive sulphides or copper and zinc base metal mineralization 
associated with the processes of volcanism.

Zn symbol for zinc.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND RISKS

This Prospectus contains statements and information that, to the extent that they are not historical fact, may 
constitute “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities legislation. Forward-looking 
information may include, but is not limited to, statements relating to the amount of financings; expected use of 
proceeds; business objectives; the acquisition of interests in mineral properties; the timing and costs of future 
exploration activities on Doca’s properties; success of exploration activities; permitting time lines and requirements 
for additional capital. This Prospectus uses words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “likely”, “except”, 
“anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, “plan”, “forecast”, “project”, “estimate”, “outlook”, and other similar expressions 
to identify forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is based in part, on assumptions that may 
change, thus causing actual future results or anticipated events to differ materially from those expressed or implied 
in any forward-looking information. Such assumptions include, but are not limited to, the assumption that this 
Offering and the Qualifying Transaction will be completed and any additional financing needed will be available on 
reasonable terms.  Other Assumptions are discussed throughout this Prospectus and, in particular, in the “Risk 
Factors” section in this Prospectus.

Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the 
actual results, performance or achievements of Doca to differ materially from any future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking information. Such risks include, but are not limited to, 
risks related to the completion of financings and the use of proceeds; operations and contractual obligations; changes 
in exploration programs based upon results of exploration; future prices of metals; availability of third party 
contractors; availability of equipment; failure of equipment to operate as anticipated; accidents, effects of weather 
and other natural phenomena and other risks of the mineral exploration industry; environmental risks; community 
relations; and delays in obtaining governmental approvals or financing; as well as those factors discussed in the 
section entitled "Risk Factors" in this Prospectus.

Actual results, performance or achievement could differ materially from that expressed in, or implied by, any 
forward-looking information in this Prospectus, and, accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance on any 
such forward-looking information. Further, any forward-looking information speaks only as of the date on which 
such statement is made, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement or 
forward-looking information to reflect information, events, results, circumstances or otherwise after the date on 
which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law 
including securities laws. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all 
of such factors and to assess in advance the impact of each such factor on the business or the extent to which any 
factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking information.

For a more detailed discussion of certain of these risk factors, see “Risk Factors”.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with the more 
detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Company: Doca Capital Corporation, a capital pool company.

Principal 
Business of the 
Company:

Doca is a CPC, and to date the Company has not carried on any operations. The principal business 
of the Company has been to identify and evaluate businesses and assets with a view to completing 
a Qualifying Transaction and, having identified and evaluated such opportunities, to negotiate an 
acquisition subject to acceptance by the Exchange. Doca has entered into a Property Option
Agreement with Strider, pursuant to which Doca may be granted an option to earn a 100% 
undivided interest in the property known as the Wekusko Property located 23 kilometres southeast 
of Snow Lake, Manitoba and comprising 55 mineral claims totaling approximately 8,880 hectares. 
Doca has also entered into a Property Option Agreement with Strider and Cangame to earn a 100% 
undivided interest in the property known as the Ferro Mine Property located 23 kilometres 
southeast of Snow Lake, Manitoba and east of Wekusko Lake, Manitoba (together the 
“Transaction”)

Distribution: Minimum of 12,666,667 Shares for gross proceeds of $1,900,000 and maximum of 16,666,666
Shares for gross proceeds of $2,500,000.  See “Plan of Distribution”.

Offering Price: $0.15 per Offered Share.

Over-Allotment 
Option

The Agent has been granted an option, exercisable not later than 30 days after the Closing of the 
Offering, to arrange for the sale of up to an additional 2,500,000 Shares at the Offering Price, to 
cover over-allotments and for market stabilization, if necessary.  See “Plan of Distribution”.

Agent’s 
Compensation

The Agent will receive a cash commission equal to 8% of the gross proceeds from the sale of the 
Offered Shares. The Agent will also receive non-transferable share purchase warrants entitling the 
Agent to purchase that number of Common Shares as is equal to 10% of the number of Offered 
Shares sold under the Offering. Each Agent’s Warrant will be exercisable to purchase one 
Common Share at the Offering Price for a period of 24 months after the Closing. See “Plan of 
Distribution”.

The Company has also agreed to pay to the Agent the Agent’s Work Fee of $75,000 ($32,500 of 
which has been paid), a non-refundable administrative work fee of $3,000 (paid) and to issue to the 
Agent the Agent’s Corporate Finance Shares (up to 402,500 common shares, assuming full 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option).

Agent’s 
Expenses

The Agent will be reimbursed by the Company for all reasonable expenses and fees in connection 
with the offering (for which $25,000 in an advance retainer was paid) as well as receive an 
administrative work fee of $3,000 (paid).

The 
Transaction

The Transaction includes the Offering, the grant of an option to the Company to acquire the 
Wekusko Property and the grant of an option to the Company to acquire the Ferro Property.  The 
Transaction will constitute the Company’s Qualifying Transaction under the policies of the 
Exchange.  See “Description of Business - The Transaction”.

It is a condition of closing of the Offering that the closing of the grant of the option to acquire the 
Wekusko Property and the grant of the option to acquire the Ferro Property are completed 
immediately before the closing of the Offering.
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Use of Proceeds After deduction of the Agent’s Commission, net proceeds of $1,748,000 (based on the Minimum 
Offering), $2,300,000 (based on the Maximum Offering) or $2,645,000 (based on the Maximum 
Offering, and assuming the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option), before deduction of the 
expenses of the Offering, will be added to the Company’s working capital after completion of the 
Transaction (see “Use of Proceeds”).  After payment of expenses of the Offering and the 
Transaction, the Company will use its working capital to carry on its business as disclosed herein.  
The Company intends to use such funds, in order of priority, as follows:

Use of Funds Funds to be Expended

Minimum
Offering

Maximum 
Offering

No exercise of 
Over-

Allotment 
Option

Full 
Exercise of 

Over-
Allotment 

Option

Remaining costs of the Offering 
(including the Agent’s Commission and 
the Agent’s Work Fee)

$239,000 $287,000 $317,000

Mineral property payments $525,000 $525,000 $525,000

Anticipated exploration expenditures $660,500 $660,500 $660,500

Administration and regulatory compliance $93,000 $93,000 $93,000

Management and Directors fees(CEO, VP 
Operations, CFO, Board of Directors)

$218,000 $218,000 $218,000

Investor relations (consultant, travel, 
newsletters)

$25,500 $126,000 $126,000

Professional fees (accounting, audit and 
legal expenses)

$66,000 $66,000 $66,000

Unallocated Working Capital(1) $100,000 $551,500 $836,500

TOTAL $1,927,000 $2,527,000 $2,902,000

_______

Notes:

(1) Unallocated Working Capital as at August 31, 2012 includes the Company’s current net working capital 
of approximately $27,000, consisting of approximately $52,000 in cash less approximately $25,000 of 
accounts payable. 

There may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be 
necessary. See “Use of Proceeds”.
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Summary of 
Financial 
Information:

The following table sets out selected financial information as at and for the periods indicated. Such 
information is derived from the financial statements of the Company which are included in this 
Prospectus. See “Selected Financial Information and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Doca” as well as the financial statements included herein.

Six Months
Period ended May

31, 2012
(Unaudited) $

Year ended 
November 30, 

2011 
(Audited) 

$

Incorporation (July 
27, 2009) to 

November 30, 2010
(Audited) 

$

Total Expenses $102,699 $77,291 $134,421 

Net income (loss) ($102,699) ($77,291) ($134,421)

Cash at end of period $115,452 $303,676 $370,545 

Assets at end of period $208,467 $303,676 $375,287 

Liabilities at end of 
period

$25,677 $18,187 $11,017

Shareholders’ Equity at 
end of period

$182,790 $285,489 $364,270

Sponsor: No sponsor has been retained in connection with the Qualifying Transaction as the Company has 
applied to the Exchange for an exemption from the sponsorship requirement. 

Risk Factors: An investment in the Offered Shares should be considered highly speculative and investors may 
incur a loss on their investment. Upon completion of the Transaction, the business of Doca will be 
to explore and develop the Properties, and to maintain its public company listing on the Exchange.  
Due to the nature of the business, an investment in Doca is subject to significant risks. 
Development and operating results associated with the Transaction may be very different from 
those expected as at the date of this Prospectus. 

For a detailed description of these and other risk factors see “Risk Factors”.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

The Company was incorporated under the name Doca Capital Corp. under the BCBCA on July 27, 2009.

The Registered Office of the Company is located at Suite 1500 – 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, V6E 4N7. The Head Office of the Company is located at 300 – 1055 Hastings Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, V6E 2E9.

Effective May 3, 2011, Doca’s Articles were amended to ensure that they facilitate the use of uncertificated shares 
and electronic record keeping systems used worldwide and increasingly in Canada.  The Articles were also amended 
to include certain clarifications required to provide for in the case of an insufficient quorum at a meeting of 
shareholders and for deposit of a proxy.  See Doca’s information circular dated March 18, 2011 for further details of 
the amendments to its Articles.

The Company has no subsidiaries.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Description of the Business

Doca is designated as a capital pool company by the Exchange. It has not commenced operations and has no assets 
other than cash. Doca completed an offering under its prospectus dated April 1, 2010, the purpose of which was to 
provide it with funds to identify and evaluate businesses or assets with a view to completing a Qualifying 
Transaction.

The Company filed an amended and restated Prospectus for its initial public offering (“IPO”) on May 19, 2010, 
received regulatory approval on May 31, 2010 and commenced trading on Tier 2 of the TSX Venture Exchange 
under the trading symbol DCA.P on July 12, 2010. To date, the Company has not yet realized profitable operations 
and has relied on equity financings and trade credit to fund the losses.

Doca intends for the Transaction to constitute its Qualifying Transaction. The Transaction is an arm’s length 
transaction and will not be subject to shareholder approval. Upon completion of the Transaction, Doca expects to be 
a Tier 2 Mineral Exploration Issuer.

At the request of Doca, trading in the Common Shares was halted on February 7, 2012.   Effective July 16, 2012, 
trading in the shares of Doca was suspended from listing as the Company did not complete its Qualifying 
Transaction within two years of its IPO as required by the Exchange, and has not resumed trading as at the date of 
this Prospectus.  It is anticipated that upon completion of the Transaction, the Common Shares will resume trading.

The Transaction

On February 13, 2012 Doca announced the signing of a Property Option Agreement dated effective 
February 6, 2012 (the “Wekusko Option Agreement”) with Strider pursuant to which Doca may be granted an 
option (the “Wekusko Option”) to earn a 100% undivided interest in the property known as the Wekusko Property. 
The Wekusko Property is located approximately 23 kilometres southeast of Snow Lake, Manitoba and comprises 55 
mineral claims totaling approximately 8,880 hectares. Doca also announced the signing of a Property Option 
Agreement dated effective February 6, 2012 (the “Ferro Option Agreement”) with Strider and Cangame pursuant to 
which Doca may be granted an option (the “Ferro Option”) to earn a 100% undivided interest in the property known 
as the Ferro Property. The Ferro Property comprises 3 mineral claims totaling approximately 60 hectares (together, 
the “Transaction”). The Wekusko Property and the Ferro Property are continguous to one another.  The Wekusko 
Property and the Ferro Property, together, are referred to as the “Wekusko Gold Property” or the “Properties”.

Pursuant to the Wekusko Option Agreement, the Company can earn a 100% interest in the Wekusko Property by 
issuing 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.25 per share for 36 months, making 
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cumulative cash payments totalling $1,000,000 over 4 years, issuing to Strider an aggregate of 1,000,000 common 
shares over 4 years and incurring cumulative expenditures of $5,000,000 over 5 years on the Wekusko Property.

Pursuant to the Ferro Option Agreement the Company can earn a 100% interest in the Ferro Property by making 
cumulative cash payments totalling $1,500,000 over 4 years and issuing to Strider an aggregate of 1,500,000 
common shares over 4 years.

Both the Wekusko Option Agreement and the Ferro Option Agreement are subject to a 3% net smelter return (each, 
an “NSR”). On or before the first anniversary date of the commencement of commercial production from the 
Properties, Doca has the one time right to buy back up to fifty (50%) percent of each NSR interest (being an amount 
equal to 1.5% NSR interest) for $1,500,000 leaving a 1.5% NSR interest. The right to purchase the NSR interests 
shall be exercised by Doca providing notice of the purchase accompanied by payment in the amount of $1,500,000 
together with a full accounting and payment for the NSR accrued to the date of the said notice.

In connection with the Transaction, the Company has entered into a Finder’s Fee Agreement with the Finder and has 
agreed to issue the Finder’s Fee Shares to the Finder upon closing of the Transaction.  This Prospectus qualifies the 
distribution of the Finder’s Fee Shares. See “Plan of Distribution”.

Subject to the acceptance of the Exchange and following completion of the proposed Qualifying Transaction, it is 
anticipated that Doca will change its name to “Great Northern Gold Exploration Corporation”.

MINERAL PROJECTS

Upon completion of the Transaction, the Wekusko Property and the Ferro Property will constitute Doca’s principal 
mineral projects.  The following are excerpts from the Technical Report.  The Technical Report was prepared by 
Mark A.F. Fedikow, Ph.D., P. Eng. P. Geo. C.P.G., Mount Morgan Resources Ltd. of Lac du Bonnet, Manitoba, 
Canada.  Mr. Fedikow is a qualified person for the purpose of National Instrument 43-101.  The Technical Report is 
available for review under the Company’s profile on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com.  The following excerpt 
is derived from the Technical Report and is qualified by the reference to the Technical Report in its entirety.  
Readers are encouraged to review the Technical Report.  

Project Description and Location

Property Location

The Wekusko Gold Property occurs in west-central Manitoba within NTS area 63J/13. Figures 1 and 2 show the 
location of the claims that comprise the Wekusko Gold Property in relation to latitude, longitude and UTM 
coordinates and the position of the property in Manitoba.  The approximate center of the property occurs at UTM 
457027m East and 6076613m North using Datum NAD83 Zone 14. Surface and mineral rights are 100% held by 
Strider Resources Inc. and legal access to the property is guaranteed by the Province of Manitoba for purposes of 
exploration and development on the property through the issuance of claim registration. There are no outstanding 
royalties, back-in rights, payments or other agreements to which the property is subject. 

To the extent known there are no known environmental liabilities to which the property is subject. All permits 
required to undertake exploration and development on the property have been obtained. To the extent known there 
are no other significant factors and risks that may affect access, title, or the right or ability to perform work on the 
property.  The Strider Resources-Cangame obligations to the Manitoba government in order to maintain 100% 
ownership are nil until the expiry date listed in Table 1 is achieved. Requirements for expenditures to hold the 
claims have been met. 

DOCA Capital Corp. will earn a 100% interest in the property after fulfilling obligations specified in the February 6, 
2012 option agreement for the Wekusko Gold property. Details of this agreement are given below.
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The Wekusko Gold Property claims and the core Ferro claims (collectively referred to as the Wekusko Gold 
Property “WGP”) comprise a total of 8940 hectares. The specifics of these mineral tenures are summarized in 
Table 1 and illustrated in Figure 1. Figure 2 gives the property outline draped on a digital elevation model.
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Table 1: Summary of mineral tenures, Wekusko Gold and Ferro Gold Properties, Snow Lake, Manitoba 
(NTS SE13-63J).

CLAIM # NAME AREA (Ha) HOLDER EXPIRY DATE

WEKUSKO GOLD PROPERTY:

W54114 Cam - 1 182 Strider Resources Ltd Apr. 3, 2030

W54113 Cam - 2 236 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 5, 2030

W54110 Cam - 3 84 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 13, 2030

W54588 Cam - 54588 175 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 24, 2020

W54746 Cam - 54746 223 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 11, 2030

W54856 Cam - 54856 239 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 12, 2020

MB649 Cam - 649 30 Strider Resources Ltd July 3, 2020

MB791 Cam - 791 180 Strider Resources Ltd Sept 18, 2019

W54587 Jud - 54587 105 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 23, 2020

MB571 Jud - 571 17 Strider Resources Ltd Sept 27, 2030

P3028F Mac - 3 256 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 1, 2020

P3258F Mac - 3258 211 Strider Resources Ltd Jun 1, 2030

P3029F Mac - 4 170 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 2, 2030

W54855 Mac - 54855 22 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 25, 2030

MB 646 Mac - 646F 11 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 23, 2020

MB717 Mac - 717 38 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 23, 2031

MB795 Mac - 795 256 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 3, 2020

MB796 Mac-796 251 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 3, 2030

MB798 Mac-798 142 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 3, 2030

MB4896 Cam 4896 16 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 8, 2020

MB4897 Cam 4897 32 Strider Resources Ltd June 7, 2030

MB498 Noc - 498 148 Strider Resources Ltd Jun 8, 2030

MB718 Noc - 718 256 Strider Resources Ltd May 8, 2019

P3027F Cam - 3027 216 Strider Resources Ltd May 20, 2030

P3032F Jake -10 173 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 28, 2020

P3056F Jake -11 256 Strider Resources Ltd Jun 27, 2030

P3425F Jake - 3425 256 Strider Resources Ltd Aug 27, 2030

P3557F Jake - 3557 256 Strider Resources Ltd Sep 1, 2030

P3558F Jake - 3558 250 Strider Resources Ltd Sep 1, 2030

MB4898 Noc - 4898 175 Strider Resources Ltd Nov. 4, 2030

MB54199 Jake – 54199 131 Strider Resources Ltd Jan, 7, 2030

W54745 Jake - 54745 245 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 8, 2030

P3031F Jake - 9 256 Strider Resources Ltd May 26, 2020

MB2406 Kel - 1 18 Strider Resources Ltd Oct 8, 2031

MB2407 Kel - 2FR 4 Strider Resources Ltd Oct 8, 2030

MB3769 Kel - 3 39 Strider Resources Ltd Oct 8, 2020

MB2413 Jake - 2413 196 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 16, 2020

MB2655 Jake - 2655 255 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 16, 2030

MB2412 Jake - 2412 256 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 16, 2030

MB2410 Cam - 2410 192 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 16, 2030

MB1054 Jake -1054 240 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 16, 2030

MB2411 Cam - 2411 183 Strider Resources Ltd Jul 16, 2030

MB792 Bert -792 120 Strider Resources Ltd Aug 15, 2030

MB797 Bert - 797 235 Strider Resources Ltd Aug 15, 2030

MB800 Bert - 800 209 Strider Resources Ltd Aug 15, 2030

MB3691 Ains - 3691 125 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 8, 2030
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CLAIM # NAME AREA (Ha) HOLDER EXPIRY DATE

WEKUSKO GOLD PROPERTY:

MB3692 Ains - 3692 160 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 8, 2030

MB3693 Ains - 3693 248 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 8, 2030

MB3694 Ains - 3694 256 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 8, 2030

MB3383 Kel - 3383 28 Strider Resources Ltd July 7, 2030

MB5030 Kel - 5030 128 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 26, 2020

MB4475 Zeke - 4475 128 Strider Resources Ltd June 6, 2020

MB4476 Zeke - 4476 120 Strider Resources Ltd June 6, 2030

MB5029 Kel – 5029 54 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 26, 2030

MB5734 Cro – 5734 192 Strider Resources Ltd Apr 11, 2020

TOTAL AREA FOR WEKUSKO GOLD PROPERTY: 8880 Ha (21,904 acres)

FERRO GOLD PROPERTY:

P7041E Zeke 1 23 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 20, 2031

P7043E Zeke 2 16 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 20, 2032

P7741E Zed 1 21 Strider Resources Ltd Mar 20, 2032

TOTAL AREA FOR FERRO GOLD PROPERTY: 60 Ha (148 acres)
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Figure 1. Location of the claims comprising the Wekusko Gold Project, Snow Lake area, Manitoba.

 



17

Figure 2. Wekusko Gold Property outline draped on digital elevation model.

 

Property Description

The Wekusko Gold Property includes the Ferro gold mine (60 hectares) and the surrounding area of 8880 hectares 
which includes the important Gold Dust Zone, McCafferty Vein and the Rainbow-Pocahontas Zone. The WGP 
option between the Doca Capital Corporation and partners (Strider Resources Inc. {70%} and Cangame Corporation 
{30%} “the Partnership”) includes both the Ferro and surrounding property as individual and unique arrangements 
within the same agreement. 
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In consideration of the Ferro gold mine portion of the option agreement (“Ferro Project Option Agreement”) Doca 
needs to pay $1,500,000 in cash and issue 1,500,000 shares over 4 year period to the Partnership will make 
payments as follows:

Payment Date Cash Shares

within 10 days from completion of the Qualifying Transaction $75,000 300,000

On or before 1 year after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $150,000 300,000

On or before 2 years after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $225,000 300,000

On or before 3 years after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $450,000 300,000

On or before 4 years after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $600,000 300,000

$1,500,000 1,500,000

The Ferro gold mine property subject to a 3% net smelter return of which 1.5% can be purchased by Doca for 1.5 
million. There is no work commitment in this portion of the agreement.

The remainder of the option agreement concerns the area surrounding the Ferro Gold Mine property and consists of 
8880 hectares. Pursuant to the Wekusko Option Agreement, Doca needs to pay to the Strider $1,000,000 in cash, 
issue 1,000,000 shares, issue 1,000,000 share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.25 per Common Share within 36 
months from the date of completion of the Qualifying Transaction and incur $5,000,000 of exploration expenditures 
over 5 year as follows:

Payment Date Cash Shares Warrants Explorations 
Costs

within 10 days from completion of the Qualifying Transaction $50,000 200,000 1,000,000 $–

On or before 6 months after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $50,000 – – $–

On or before 1 year after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $200,000 200,000 – $300,000

On or before 2 years after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $200,000 200,000 – $700,000

On or before 3 years after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $200,000 200,000 – $1,000,000

On or before 4 years after completion of the Qualifying Transaction $300,000 200,000 – $1,500,000

On or before 5 years after completion of the Qualifying Transaction – – – $1,500,000

$1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 $5,000,000

Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography

The property lies approximately 23 kilometres southeast of Snow Lake, Manitoba, a mining town in north-central 
Manitoba. The main industry is mining, producing copper and gold and zinc. The population in 2001 was 1,207 but 
has declined to about 800. The New Britannia Mine, which has recently closed, contributed to the town’s drop in 
population as a result of its closure although Alexis Minerals is reviewing the deposit with the aim of re-opening the 
mine. The discovery of a new large Zn-Cu-Au deposit (Lalor Lake) by Hudbay Mining and Smelting and a Cu-Zn-
Au-Ag deposit at Reed Lake by VMS Ventures should invigorate the local economy and with it swell the 
population. HudBay Mining and Smelting, which operates the Chisel North Zn mine and concentrator, is the largest 
employer in town. The Wekusko Gold Project occurs within the Flin Flon-Snow Lake greenstone belt (Figure 3).

The property is accessible by a combination of Provincial Road 391 to Wekusko Landing, then by boat seasonally to 
the former town at Herb Lake, and by bush road to the Ferro mine site about 2 km from the east shore of Wekusko 
Lake. A power line passes within 3 km of this locale which has a number of mine related buildings from previous 
developments. The property is typical Precambrian Shield with low rock outcrop (<20 meters relief) covered by 
glacial till and its derivatives, swamp and muskeg. The overstory comprises spruce, aspen, pine and tamarack with 
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abundant alder and willow dominating in the low ground and interspersed with Labrador tea and a wide variety of 
grasses and vascular plants. Climate varies from -30C with abundant snow fall in the winter to +30C in the summer.  

The elevation at the Ferro Mine site is 285 m above sea level. The climate is continental with extremes of heat in the 
short summers and cold in the long winters. During the months of January through March larger equipment can be 
mobilized across the ice on Wekusko Lake from Bartlett’s Landing, just south of the Town of Snow Lake.

The land covered by the claims currently has no commercial utility and has no farming, fishing or logging activity. 
The eastern shore area of Wekusko Lake is largely uninhabited.

The Snow Lake area offers fixed and rotary wing air support and is also capable of accepting fixed wing aircraft on 
its all-weather airstrip. The local community offers accommodation and support facilities including machine shops 
and vehicle repair facilities. The presence of on-going mineral exploration in the area by junior and major mining 
companies ensures the Snow Lake area offers all available necessities for exploration and mining development 
including a knowledgeable work force. Supplies, transportation and equipment can be sourced from Snow Lake or 
alternatively from the mining centres of Flin Flon and Thompson. 
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Figure 3: General Location of the Wekusko Gold Project and Geologic domains of Manitoba.
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History

Property History

Gold was first discovered in the Wekusko Lake area in 1914. Early prospecting work during the 1920’s and 1930’s 
resulted in the discovery of numerous gold occurrences in the vicinity of two main gold trends, including the Rex-
Laguna and the Ferro deposits. The Rex-Laguna mine occurs 700 meters west of the Wekusko Gold Property 
boundary. The mine operated intermittently from 1924-1940 with a recorded production of 58,962 oz from 131,386 
tons milled for a recovered grade of 0.51 ounces per ton. The Wekusko Gold Property contains numerous gold 
showings including three known zones, the Ferro, the McCafferty Vein and the Gold Dust Zone. Stockwell (1937) 
provides early detailed descriptions of known gold occurrences in the area.

The Ferro Gold Mine

Louis Revord staked the Ferro M.C. (35202) in 1923. Work on the property began the next year, but the type and 
amount of work are not known. Mrs. Sophie Kott was assigned a half interest in the claim. The property was 
sampled in 1930, by Consolidated Mining and Smelting Company of Canada (Limited). In 1932, Kott assigned her 
interest in the claim to C.B. Morgan, who in turn assigned it to his wife, Lila May. C.B. Morgan was President of the 
North British Mining and Milling Company Limited. This company was incorporated, in 1932, to develop several 
deposits in the Wekusko Lake area, including Ferro. A 9-tonne mill, brought from Bingo Fraction (Mineral 
Inventory Card 457, 63J/13SE Au03), was established on Ferro. Several veins were stripped and trenched. Channel 
samples from some of the workings averaged about $22.05/ton Au. Morgan sent 45.4 kg of ore, probably from the 
Ferro deposit, to Ottawa for testing. An average assay yielded 44.5 g an open cut, 18 to 20 m deep, 31 m long, and 
3-6 m wide. By the end of 1932, 16.28 kg (523.5 oz.) gold and 0.9 kg (28.97 oz.) silver was produced from 1005 t of 
ore (Manitoba Mines Branch, Corporation Files). Recovery was about 90%. Some gold was probably produced in 
1933. A shaft, 12.2 m deep, was started on a vein 244 m southwest of the open pit. Louis Revord diamond drilled 
three holes, totaling 274.5 m, in 1939. 

The Ferro claim was then optioned to H. Vance Echols, Mining Engineer of Gurney Gold Mines Limited. Later, in 
1939, The Mining Corporation of Canada Limited (MCC) did some drilling and decided to sink a shaft on the 
property. In 1940, MCC sunk a vertical 3-compartment shaft at the west end of the open pit. The shaft was 52.5 m 
deep, with a station at 150 ft. (46 m). Drifting amounted to 148 m, with 15 m of crosscutting (Manitoba Mines 
Branch, Corporation Files). Underground work cut two zones, one grading 0.80 g/t gold (0.024 oz. Au/ton) across 
1.1 m, for a length of 18 m. The other yielded 10.32 g/t gold (0.301 oz. Au/ton) over 29 m (Manitoba Mines Branch, 
Corporation Files). A mining plant, installed earlier in 1940, was removed due to poor underground results, in 
comparison to results obtained from drilling. Mining Corporation relinquished its interest in the property. Echols 
surrendered his option in 1941, and it reverted to Revord and L.M. Morgan. It was leased as M-1199 in 1941. 

Wekusko Consolidated Limited was formed in 1943 by several major mining companies to explore and develop the 
Ferro deposit and several others in the Wekusko Lake area. Between 1944 and 1947, Wekusko Consolidated drilled 
at least 23 holes on the Ferro-Rainbow properties (Mineral Inventory Card 459, 63J/13SE Au05), including 181 m 
drilled from underground stations in the Ferro shaft. A dip needle survey may also have been done. The drilling 
indicated a 76 m ore shoot, with assays of up to 141.6 g/t gold (4.13 oz/ton gold) across 0.8 m. Overall the holes 
were calculated to contain about 8.9 g/t gold (0.26 oz/ton gold), over an average width of 2.5 m. The zone was 92 m 
northeast of the 52 m shaft. On the 150- foot level of the shaft, a vein 46.7 m in length averaged 9.57 g/t gold (0.279 
oz/ton gold), cut grade, across an average width of 1.25 m (Manitoba Mines Branch, Corporation Files). 

The property was optioned to Benjamin Meen in 1943. Meen transferred the option to Frobisher Exploration 
Company Limited. These transactions took place in 1943-44, but were not registered until 1946. The Ferro claim 
was assigned to Wekusko Consolidated in 1944. Shaft sinking deepened the former 52 m shaft to 166 m by 1947, 
with levels at 275 ft. (84 m), 400 ft. (122 m), and 525 ft. (160 m) also, the old 150 ft. (46 m) level. Over 305 m of 
drifting was done on each level and 1865 m of underground drilling was completed (Non-confidential Assessment 
File (A.F.) no. 92803). Between 1946 and 1947, four levels of the Ferro Mine were driven on to the Rainbow claim 
and sampling was done on these levels. A 7 hole, 519 m, underground drilling program was done on Ferro between 
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1947 and 1948 (A.F. 92803). Sampling along the face of the zone yielded assays of up to 193.7 g/t gold (5.65 oz/ton 
gold) across 1.6 m (Manitoba Mines Branch, Corporation Files). Reserves were estimated to be 45,355 t grading 
8.57 g/t gold (0.25 oz/ton gold), cut grade (Northern Miner, October 1947). Muck samples assayed 20.9 g/t gold 
(0.61 oz/ton gold), for a length of 13.7 m. The combined length of ore found on all levels was 328 m grading 8.30 
g/t gold (0.24 oz/ton gold, cut grade) (Manitoba Mines Branch, Corporation Files, Wekusko Consolidated Annual 
Report 1947). This estimate of grade and tonnage are historical in nature and are taken from reports that are no 
longer available. Key assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the historical estimate are unknown. 
Accordingly, the historical estimates stated for the Ferro gold zones are not meant to be interpreted as current 
estimates as defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. A qualified person has not 
done sufficient work to classify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve. A 
compilation and re-working of all historic information regarding grade and tonnage will be required to upgrade or 
verify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve.

Financing and lack of an inexpensive power source for the mill caused work to be discontinued in January 1948 
(ibid.). After this date, company annual reports state that economic conditions were not favorable to reopening the 
mine. Wekusko Consolidated Limited changed its name to Amanda Mines Limited, in 1955. One year later Amanda 
changed its name to Explorers Alliance Limited. This latter company worked on the Ferro claim between 1957 and 
1960. They did some surface work and installed a 45 to 68 t mill. A surface stockpile reportedly contained 2403 to 
3991 t (Northern Miner, March 5, 1959; July 9, 1959). Providing power for the mill continued to be a problem, but 
the Northern Miner (July 9, 1959) reported that bullion shipments would be made. 

In 1959, the mill was running at 54 t per day and a gold shipment was reported (Northern Miner, January 18, 1973). 
The shaft was dewatered to a depth of 30 m in 1960. In 1962, the claim was put up for auction, due to a civil court 
decision in favor of J.C.L. Ferguson against Explorers Alliance. No bids were submitted, so the Deputy Sherriff of 
Dauphin, A. Goldstant, transferred the property to Ferguson. Ferguson renewed the lease shortly afterward. Between 
1962 and 1964, the mine produced a small amount of gold (Manitoba Mines Branch, Corporation Files, Crowduck 
Bay Mines Prospectus, 1974). Airborne geophysical surveys were flown by Hudson Bay Exploration and 
Development Co., Limited (HBED) in 1965 (A.F. 91650), and by Falconbridge Nickel Mines Limited in 1973 (A.F. 
91564). The Ferro property was assigned to Crowduck Bay Mines Ltd. in 1973. That year the shaft was dewatered 
to the 150- foot level and a sampling program was undertaken. Indicated reserves were estimated at 36,284 t 
averaging 9.43 g/t gold (0.28 oz/ton gold), cut grade, of 14.74 g/t gold (0.43 oz/ton gold), uncut grade, plus 4536 t 
on the dumps assaying 8.57 g/t gold (0.25 oz/ton gold) (Canadian Mines Handbook, 1973-74). These figures were 
revised in 1974: 40,820 t of proven ore underground; 31,750 to 40,820 t of indicated ore underground, plus 4536 t 
on the dumps (Manitoba Mines Branch, Corporation Files). Pit samples averaged about 5.14 g/t gold (0.15 oz/ton 
gold). This estimate of grade and tonnage are historical in nature and are taken from reports that are no longer 
available. Key assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the historical estimate are unknown. 
Accordingly, the historical estimates stated for the Ferro gold zones are not meant to be interpreted as current 
estimates as defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. A qualified person has not 
done sufficient work to classify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve. A 
compilation and re-working of all historic information regarding grade and tonnage will be required to upgrade or 
verify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve.

The mill was rehabilitated and operated sporadically until September 1974, when legal suits and the poor financial 
position of Crowduck Bay Mines caused its closing. In the interim, some ore had been mined from the pit by front-
end loader. Difficulties with the mill caused frequent stoppages. Some gold may have been produced though part of 
the ore may have come from the Laguna property (ibid). The Canadian Mines Handbook, (1974-75) estimated 
reserves to be 55,019 t grading 17.42 g/tonne gold (0.51 oz/ton gold). An additional 23,000 to 31,750 t of ore grade 
material was indicated by diamond drilling. This estimate of grade and tonnage are historical in nature and are taken 
from reports that are no longer available. Key assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the historical 
estimate are unknown. Accordingly, the historical estimates stated for the Ferro gold zones are not meant to be 
interpreted as current estimates as defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. A 
qualified person has not done sufficient work to classify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a 
current mineral reserve. A compilation and re-working of all historic information regarding grade and tonnage will 
be required to upgrade or verify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve.
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Crowduck Bay Mines was placed in receivership in 1974. Several Mechanics Liens and Lis Pendens were issued 
against the claims in 1974-1975. These were lifted in June 1979, when Norman Mines Limited entered into 
agreements with the receiver-manager of Crowduck Bay Mines Ltd., Campbell West Limited and Patrick Harrison 
Co. Ltd. In 1979, Norman Mines Limited gained control of the claims. They retained Prospection Limited, Excalibur 
International Consultants, A & V Harris Exploration Services Ltd., and Bonn Energy Corporation to carry out a 
technical evaluation of all prior work on the Ferro property (A.F. 92483). Prospection recommended an initial 
exploration program estimated to cost $572,000, to consist of dewatering and rehabilitating the underground 
workings, re-sampling 1525 m of drifts, mapping the surface geology and diamond drilling. 

The property surrounding the Ferro-Rainbow group was staked by HBED as CB 10689 in 1979, Kus 4316 and Kus 
4890 in 1986, and Kus 7182 in 1988. A reconnaissance VLEM survey was done on CB 10689 in 1981 (Mineral 
Inventory Card 63J/13SE Au08). Mingold Resources Inc. acquired the Kus claims except for Kus 7182 in 1988. In 
November 1980, Excalibur International Consultants, on behalf of Norman Mines, studied “geophysical 
considerations” on the Laguna and Ferro claim groups. A program of VLF-EM and magnetometer surveys was 
recommended.

In 1981, Norman Mines initiated an extensive exploration program, which consisted of:

• dewatering and rehabilitating the underground workings;

• resurveying and mapping the underground workings;

• collecting chip and sidewall sludge samples; and

• undertaking a surface exploration program, including geological mapping, ground geophysics, and 
surface diamond drilling.

The results of this exploration are not known. Norman Mines encountered financial difficulties and in 1983, a court 
case involving Patrick Harrison Co. Limited ordered the ownership of the Ferro property to revert to Patrick 
Harrison Co. Ltd. The following summary is a synthesis of Mineral Inventory Card 63/J13SE Au02: The claims 
lapsed in 1986, except for Ferro, which lapsed in 1988. In 1988 the area was re-staked under the Zed 1, Zeke 1 and 
Zeke 2 claims by Dan V. Ziehlke, who has a trust agreement with Strider Resources Limited. Pierce Mountain 
Exploration Ltd. optioned an agreement to earn 80% interest in the property (Northern Miner, June 20, 1988), as 
well as a 50% interest in the Kus claims, except for Kus 7182, which are adjacent to the property. In 1988, Pierce 
Mountain undertook a program of geological mapping and geophysical surveying and started a major drilling 
program, spending $1 million on 920 m of drilling. After 200 m of drilling, reserves were determined to be 77,600 t 
at 11 g/t gold. This estimate of grade and tonnage are historical in nature and are taken from reports that are no 
longer available. Key assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the historical estimate are unknown. 
Accordingly, the historical estimates stated for the Ferro gold zones are not meant to be interpreted as current 
estimates as defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. A qualified person has not 
done sufficient work to classify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve. A 
compilation and re-working of all historic information regarding grade and tonnage will be required to upgrade or 
verify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve.

Gold Dust Zone

In 1989, Pierce Mountain intersected a new gold zone, named the Gold Dust shear (Mineral Inventory Card No. 464, 
63J/13SE Au10), 460 m south of the main mine zone, along a rhyolite-andesite contact, which represents the 
southern limb of a major syncline. Estimates put the strike length at 915 m (3000 ft.) across the Ferro claims, open 
to the west and east. An 18,000 m diamond drilling program was to begin in June 1989; following the discovery of 
the Gold Dust shear zone about 460 m from the Ferro Main zone (Northern Miner, April 10, 1989). The new zone 
had been intersected by discovery hole 23, at 4 m (14 ft.) of 23 g/t (0.748 oz/ton.) gold, a step out hole intersected 
3.5 m (11.4 ft.) of 12.0 g/t (0.373 oz/ton) gold, and 5 m (15.65 ft.) of 6.5 g/t (0.206 oz/ton) gold. Hole 31, drilled 183 
m (600 ft.) along strike from the discovery hole, intersected 2 m (7 ft.) of 23 g/t (0.743 oz/ton) gold. Hole 24 was 
drilled 215 m (700 ft.) from the discovery hole and intersected 2.2 m (7.2 ft.) of 3.5 g/t (0.110 oz/ton) gold and 1.6 
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m (5.3 ft.) of 2.3 g/t (0.076 oz/ton) gold (Northern Miner, March 30, 1989). In 1989 the mill facility at the Ferro 
mine site was destroyed by fire. Pierce Mountain sold their 50% earned interest in the property to Strider resources 
in 1991 for $100,000.00.

In 1990, Placer Dome optioned the property and gained a right to earn 55% interest. Placer carried out a stripping 
program in the fall and diamond drilling in January on Ferro (Northern Miner, March 12, 1990). They drilled 37 
holes into the property, 19 of which intersected the Gold Dust zone. Placer traced the zone 560 m along strike and to 
a depth of 225 m. Pierce Mountain Resources changed the company name to Portal Resources Ltd. in December 
1991, on a 3 old shares for 1 new share basis. Portal retained a 50% interest in the property. Portal’s name was 
changed again in December 1994 to Capella Resources on a 1 new share for 3.7 old shares basis. Capella continued 
to hold 50% interest in the mine. Golden Tag Resources Ltd., on an option to earn 100% interest, conducted reverse 
circulation drilling in the mine area in 1995 and diamond drilling in 1996. AMT International Corp. optioned, with 
Strider International and its partners, to earn 100% interest in 1996. Indicated resources at this time were 74,000 t 
(81,300 tons) averaging 15 g/t (0.44 oz./ton) Au. This estimate of grade and tonnage are historical in nature and are 
taken from reports that are no longer available. Key assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the 
historical estimate are unknown. Accordingly, the historical estimates stated for the Ferro gold zones are not meant 
to be interpreted as current estimates as defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. A 
qualified person has not done sufficient work to classify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a 
current mineral reserve. A compilation and re-working of all historic information regarding grade and tonnage will 
be required to upgrade or verify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve.

Sampling activities on the property during exploration including the assessment of the Gold Dust Zone were 
restricted to channel sampling of surface (subcrop) veins and blast holes during extraction of the bulk sample at the 
Gold Dust Zone. Both of these activities were supervised by a qualified geologist. Sampling of blast holes was 
undertaken by placing a cone over the drill bit and after 1 m of penetration the cuttings were collected. Most holes 
were 3 m deep. The composited cuttings from each hole were split by continuous riffling until a 2 kg sample was 
obtained. The samples were then batched and transported by air/barge to the Snow Lake office of the operator and 
sent by the expeditor to TSL Laboratories in Saskatoon and Eco Tech Laboratories in Kamloops, British Columbia. 
Transportation was by bus.

The samples were run initially for fire assay gold and metallic gold. The general agreement in the determination of 
gold contents between the two methods resulted in only fire assaying being used in the second half of the program. 
The purpose of the sampling at the Gold Dust pit was to guide the selection of material for processing as a bulk 
sample rather than the definition of resources and the QA/QC procedures used are considered adequate for the stated 
purpose. 

Quality control of gold assays is maintained through the use of duplicate assays every 10th sample and the inclusion 
of standards to document accuracy of the assay. Table 2 provides some of these data to illustrate data quality.

Table 2: Quality control data, gold assays, ECO TECH Laboratories, Vancouver.

Sample Au1 g/t Au1 oz/t Au Repeat g/t Au Repeat oz/t

1062A 0.61 0.018 0.76 0.022

1066B 8.91 0.26 7.24 0.211

1071A 0.43 0.013 0.35 0.01

1084A 0.89 0.026 0.79 0.023

The measurement of in situ gold associated with the Gold Dust Zone bulk sample was based upon blast hole assays. 
The vein was drilled along strike every 1.5 m with 3-6 holes spaced 1 m apart across the vein. Drill holes that 
assayed gold were blasted to produce trenches. The tonnage collected from the trench was estimated by measuring 
and calculated by using a specific gravity of 2.75 based on metallurgical work performed at SGS Mineral Services 
(Toronto). The grade was estimated by applying each assay to its area of influence for the individual blast hole. The 
waste on either side of the vein trench was then removed to the design pit level limit and the process repeated for the 
next level.
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The same year, electromagnetic surveys, and a 4-hole diamond drilling program were performed (Canadian Mines 
Handbook 1997-1998). In 1999, Dickstone Copper Mines optioned the property to earn a 100% interest. Dickstone 
was delisted after failing to meet listing requirements (Canadian Mines Handbook, 1999-2000). The following year, 
Vital Pacific Resources Ltd. entered an option agreement to acquire 100% interest, along with several other 
Wekusko Lake properties (Canadian Mines Handbook, 2001-02).

In 2000 a vegetation geochemical survey was undertaken in the vicinity of the Gold Dust Zone by Fedikow (2000) 
of the Manitoba Geological Survey. The applicability of this technique to the recognition of buried gold mineralized 
zones of the type represented by the Gold Dust Zone was demonstrated and provided a viable exploration tool for 
the area.

In 2004 the Wekusko property was optioned by Black Pearl Minerals Consolidated Inc., who conducted two winter 
drill programs totalling 5350 meters in 112 holes. These two programs have been focused on ore shoot definition on 
the Gold Dust zone and the McCafferty zone some 7 kilometres to the northeast, and on discovery of new zones. 
The purpose of the program is to characterize the geological and metallurgical characteristics of the upper portion of 
the Gold Dust ore shoots in preparation for full scale exploitation of the entire Gold Dust mineralized zone. 

No records are known to exist regarding gold recoveries from the limited milling that occurred on the Ferro Mine 
during its brief production period although Ash & Associates (1992) reported that “A sample of the ore from the 
open pit determined that 96.7% of the gold was recovered by mercury amalgamation on grinding the sample to 50% 
passing -200 mesh”. In 1990 Placer Development Inc. reported that “high gold and moderate silver” extractions 
were obtained in a 24-hour cyanide leach period and recommended testing for gravity separation. In 2005 the 
Company sent two drill core composite samples from the Gold Dust Zone to Westcoast Mineral Processing Ltd. of 
North Vancouver, B.C. for testing. The samples average recoveries were 93% using gravity (60%) and flotation 
(33%) methods. On the basis of this work additional testing was carried out by SGS Laboratories in Lakefield, 
Ontario which confirmed the amenability of the Gold Dust ore to gravity and flotation methods. 

In 2006 Black Pearl Minerals Consolidated Inc. made capital investments exceeding 2 million dollars for operating 
equipment including the purchase of a 10 tonne per hour gold gravity-based gold recovery plant from Gekko 
Systems Pty of Ballarat, Australia along with flotation recovery equipment from Savona Equipment of Savona, B.C. 
Canada. This equipment was shipped to the site during the spring of 2008 and assembled during the summer 
months. Proceeds from the sale of the recovered gold would recoup the capital investment and in addition provide 
cash flow for ongoing exploration and development of the property.

Cuprus Mining Corporation, the project operator, determined that the next logical and necessary development step  
was the extraction, sampling, characterization and processing of a bulk sample from the upper portion of one of the 
Gold Dust Zone and the extraction of additional bulk samples from the various gold-bearing structures on the 
property. In the autumn of 2006 Black Pearl Minerals Consolidated Inc. undertook to extract gold mineralized rock 
by open cut methods and process up to 9100 tonnes of ore from the Gold Dust Zone. The Company mobilized heavy 
equipment on to the property, constructed a 16-man operations camp, stripped cover and overburden from the 
targeted zone, and mapped and sampled the Gold Dust vein. In June of 2008 the Ferro Gold property was assigned 
by Strider Resources Limited and Black Pearl Minerals Consolidated Inc. to Cuprus Mining Corporation.

In 2008 permission was granted by the Manitoba Government to extract and process a second bulk sample up to 
10,000 tonnes from the McCafferty Zone.

Activities resulting from the Gold Dust bulk sampling program were restricted to a 25 hectare area incorporating the 
excavation site and the area around the old Ferro Mine site. A temporary camp with support facilities for a 24 man 
crew was established and would be dismantled at the end of the program. Areas designated for waste rock laydowns, 
tailings disposal and bulk sample stockpiling have been prepared. Disturbance has been restricted wherever possible 
to previously cleared areas and roads from previous drill campaigns will provide all truck access.

Gold occurs in structurally controlled quartz veins at the Wekusko Gold Project and is erratically distributed within 
“shoots” along the vein systems. The orientation, controlling mechanisms and extent of these shoots is poorly 
understood. Drill intercepts vary widely in gold grade and width within the shoots resulting in extreme difficulty in 
establishing continuity of gold mineralization based on drill results even with relatively close-spaced drilling. 
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Projected onto longitudinal sections (Figure 4), the drill intercepts form a patchwork of ore blocks with varying 
grades and widths. Simple averaging to form an ore resource estimate may prove to be misleading. This situation 
occurs repeatedly in high grade narrow vein deposits in the Canadian Shield and often prevents their development 
into commercial operations. The resolution of this problem comes only through further in-fill drilling (usually at a 
prohibitive expense) or the extraction of a previously drilled “ore zone” in the form of a bulk sample. 

In order to provide effective information the bulk sample must be sufficiently large to incorporate enough drill 
intercepts to demonstrate the relationship between the drill values and the bulk sample results and, be crushed, 
milled and processed to obtain the bulk sample results and to determine the gold recovery factors for the ore and the 
chemical characteristics of the milling products.

Figure 4. Gold Dust Longitudinal section (350 Vein) demonstrating wide variance in assay results.

The Gold Dust Shear Zone has been drill tested over a strike length of 1.4 km by 74 drill holes totalling 5448 
meters. This drilling has returned 84 significant gold intercepts most of which have come from the 250 meters of 
strike length referred to as the Gold Dust Zone. Ore grade intercepts vary in width from less than one meter to over 
six meters. Since the Zone has significant gold values and widths near surface it has been determined that a small 
open pit oriented along the strike of the vein would be the most efficient method of extracting the bulk sample. In 
the Gold Dust Zone there are three distinct veins identified as the 330 Vein, 350 Vein and 370 Vein.

The Gold Dust pit and its accompanying exit ramp, upon completion, was designed to characterize material from 
about seventy vein intercepts identified from the drilling although the bulk sample will not exceed the guideline 
figure of 10,000 tonnes to be collected and processed. Gold collected during the processing of the bulk sample was 
to be sold to offset the costs associated with its extraction.
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In February-April 2007 a base camp, a 40,000 litre diesel tank and the contractors’ equipment was mobilized onto 
the property across the frozen Wekusko Lake. In the following months the camp was made operational and road 
access to the Lake and the Gold Dust Zone improved. In August the mining contractors arrived on site and by the 
end of October the Gold Dust Zone was stripped of overburden and the veins were located, power-washed, and 
sampled. In November blasting on the first level began.

During February to April 2008 more mining equipment, diesel tanks and diesel and the gold processing plant were 
moved into the property. After stripping and channel sampling, the vein(s) were percussion drilled to a depth of 
between 2-5 meters and a single sample from each hole was collected and assayed for gold. The vein material was 
blasted (with mats) and extracted for storage in stockpiles or discarded according to assays values. The footwall and 
hangingwall waste was then blasted to the same elevation and removed according to the pit plan. Once this level was 
established the process was repeated to establish the next level. Original bedrock elevations were generally between 
284-288 meters (above sea level) and the pit was taken down on 5 levels to an elevation of 268 meters. 

Approximately 150,000 tonnes of ore and waste was removed from the Gold Dust Zone out of the targeted total of 
180,000 tonnes. The pit was developed on 5 levels to a depth of 20 meters (Figure 5). The final 2 levels were to be 
removed from the pit for processing during the winter of 2009.

Figure 5. Gold Dust Bulk Sample Pit October, 2008.

In June 2008 the foundations for the plant were laid and assembly of the plant began in July with initial trials in late 
August on stockpiled low grade bulk sample material from the Gold Dust pit. Problems were encountered during 
September with the ball mill and the Vertical Impact crusher. A failure of the main bearings on this unit caused a 
three week delay in production and the plant was able to process only a portion of the planned 2008 production 
before freeze-up. At this time the plant was operating efficiently and production was scheduled to resume in the 
Spring of 2008. A minor amount of gravity concentrate was produced and sold and sufficient flotation concentrate 
produced to sample and characterize this material. Inefficiencies resulted in the production of only 40 ounces of gold 
with the balance residing in concentrate bags on-site. 

The facility was placed on a care and maintenance basis pending resumption of processing activity during late 
Spring 2009. The property has since been cleared of equipment by creditors.
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The McCafferty Vein

In 1915, H.A. McCafferty staked the King George (23151) and Ethel Palmer staked the adjacent Prince Edward 
claim (23154). Both claims were assigned to Robert Kerr in 1916. The following year the vein, which became 
known as the McCafferty vein, was trenched for over 366 m. This work produced some very rich surface samples 
(Campbell, 1917). A two-compartment shaft, later known as the S or No. 1 shaft, was sunk to a depth of 8 m where 
the vein bifurcates. Between 1917 and 1923 several people held partial interest in the claims. By 1923, B.B. Syndal 
had obtained all interest. The claims were optioned, and then assigned to Joseph Myers, a director of Bingo Gold 
Mines Limited, in 1924, and then immediately assigned to J.C. Sherburn, a Bingo shareholder. They were leased 
that year as L-395 (Prince Edward) and L-39 (King George). In 1928 they were assigned to C. Macfie. 

By 1931 and probably by 1930 the N or No. 2 shaft was sunk 28 m at a point 76 to 92 m northeast of the earlier No. 
1 shaft. At the bottom of the N shaft about 23 m of drifting was done. Bingo Gold Mines Limited reportedly 
financed the sinking of and drifting in this shaft (Wright, 1931; Stockwell, 1937).

Consolidated Mining and Smelting Company of Canada (Limited) uncovered the vein for a further 61 m in 1930. 
Channel samples taken northeast of the North shaft averaged 16.1 g Au/t (0.47 oz. Au/ton) over a width of 0.76 m 
and for a length of 87.2 m. The option was dropped in the autumn of 1930 (Stockwell, ibid). In 1934, Canadian 
Mining Projects Limited took an unregistered option on the property. This company reported that channel samples 
taken at 1.5 m intervals, southwest of the Consolidated Mining samples, ranged from 39.81 g Au/t (1.16 oz. Au/ton) 
to 96.21 g Au/t (2.81 oz. Au/ton (based on a gold price of $20.67/oz). Assays of 1.33 g Au/t (0.04 oz. Au/ton) and 
36.49 g Au/t (1.06 oz. Au/ton) were reported further south. Parts of the northern section of the vein assayed 0.66 g 
Au/t (0.02 oz. Au/ton) to 18.58 g Au/t (0.54 oz. Au/ton). Other representative assays from channel samples taken at 
1.5 m intervals varied from trace to 85.92 g Au/t (2.57 oz. Au/ton) (Manitoba Mines Branch, Canadian Mining 
Projects Limited). 

By August 1934, over 300 trenches had been dug in rock and overburden and over 1200 channel samples had been 
taken. The vein was traced for 488 m. About this time, the shafts were reported to be 27.5 m and 14.3 m deep. 
Canadian Mining Projects diamond drilled 13 holes in 1934. Core assays yielded up to 36.69 g Au/t (1.07 oz. 
Au/ton) over 1.53 m, including a 0.15 m section in porphyry that returned 272.9 g Au/t (7.96 oz. Au/ton) (Globe, 
September 22, 1924). Eight of the holes averaged 6.8 g Au/t (0.2 oz. Au/ton) over an average width of 1.3 m 
(Manitoba Mines Branch a, 8th Annual Report). The drilling indicated 18,142 tonnes grading 6.86 g Au/t (0.2 oz. 
Au/ton) across 1.37 m for a length of 137 m, after “free gold had been eliminated” (Manitoba Mines Branch, Bailor 
Gold Mines Ltd.). The option was abandoned late in the autumn of 1934 because of the poor financial situation of 
Canadian Mining Projects Limited. This estimate of grade and tonnage are historical in nature and are taken from 
reports that are no longer available. Key assumptions, parameters and methods used to prepare the historical 
estimate are unknown. Accordingly, the historical estimates stated for the Ferro gold zones are not meant to be 
interpreted as current estimates as defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. A 
qualified person has not done sufficient work to classify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a 
current mineral reserve. A compilation and re-working of all historic information regarding grade and tonnage will 
be required to upgrade or verify the historical estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve.

Early in 1935, Bailor Gold Mines Ltd. optioned the claims. Bailor diamond drilled 19 holes. Of these, three holes 
had assays ranging from 1.37 g Au/t (0.04 oz. Au/ton) to 248.57 g Au/t (7.25 oz. Au/ton (Northern Miner, May 30, 
1935). At least nine holes cut the vein at a depth of 30.5 m and indicated that it was 247 m long, averaging 7.44 g 
Au/t (0.22 oz. Au/ton) across widths of 0.76 m to 2.14 m. At a depth of 92 m, the vein averaged 8.57 g Au/t (0.25 
oz. Au/ton) over an average width of 0.76 m and a length of 214 m (Manitoba Mines Branch, op. cit). Deeper 
drilling found the vein, containing free gold, between 183 m and 214 m, but assay results are not known. Early in 
1936, the No. 2 shaft was dewatered. Channel samples taken 26.8 m below surface averaged 16.52 g Au/t (0.48 oz. 
Au/ton), based on a gold price of $35/oz. Plans were made to sink a new shaft and possibly organize a new company 
to develop the deposit. After April 1936, however, there was no further mention of exploration activity on the claims 
until 1965.
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The more recent claim history is as follows:

Year and Activity:

• 1936: both claims assigned to W.S. Barclay

• 1945: leases renewed

• 1946: Transcan Investors Limited attempted to option the property

• 1951: leases assigned to the Northern Trust Company which later became Montreal Trust Company

• 1961: leases assigned to J.C.L. Ferguson

• 1965: airborne EM and radiometric surveys flown by Hudson Bay Exploration and Development 
Co., Limited (Nonconfidential Assessment File (A.F.) no. 91650)

• 1966: leases renewed

• 1970: the King George and Prince Edward claims were cancelled

• 1973: Falconbridge Nickel Mines Limited flew airborne EM and magnetic surveys (A.F. 91564).

• 1976: H.L. Thompson staked CB 7468 over the property

• In 1981: Squall Lake Gold Mines, reorganized into McCafferty Lake Explorations Ltd., optioned the 
property and carried out underground sampling on the 27 m level of the No. 2 shaft. The average 
grade of channel samples was 10.29 g Au/t (0.3 oz. Au/ton) over an average width of 1.14 m 
(Northern Miner, March 3, 1981, p. 30). A program of bulk sampling and 15 November 2011 
diamond drilling was planned. In 1981, Cangold Ltd. optioned the property and carried out 
orientation surveys and test geophysics.

Vegetation Geochemical Surveys

A series of vegetation geochemical surveys based on the collection and geochemical analysis of tag alder twigs 
(Alnus rugosa) were undertaken on the Wekusko gold property (Fedikow, 2000). The orientation survey was 
initiated in 1995 and 1996 using the Gold Dust Zone as a gold mineralized target. A single line of samples over the 
Gold Dust Zone consisted of the most recent 4 years of twig growth of the tag alder shrub. The twig samples were 
macerated with the use of a Wiley mill, briquetted and analyzed by instrumental neutron activation at Activation 
Laboratories (Ancaster, Ontario).

The results indicated strongly elevated As, Au and Mo responses over the Zone with the following ranges (Table 3):

Table 3. Range in concentration for selected elements in alder twigs (Alnus rugosa)

Gold Dust Zone.

Element Observed Range in Concentration

As 2600-3500 ppb

Au 2.1 ppb

Mo 3.8-6.2 ppm
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Based on the orientation survey results the alder twig geochemical surveys were expanded to other portions of the 
property resulting in the collection of 622 samples with the following results (Table 4):

Table 4. Range in concentration for selected elements in alder twigs (Alnus rugosa) exploration survey (n=22 
samples)

Element
Observed Range in 

Concentration
Comments

As <0.01-0.12 ppm Elevated Au and Mo responses with 
lesser As were documented within 
recessive lineaments and geological 
contacts and structures

Au 2.1 ppb

Mo 3.8-6.2 ppm

A further survey based on the collection of 108 alder twigs was undertaken over 400 m of the McCafferty vein. 
There were anomalous Mo, As and Au responses in 14 samples including 0.84 ppm Mo, 0.11 ppm As and 0.9 ppb 
Au. In an area 80 m northwest of the vein an anomaly with a 100 m strike length was defined with 1.15-5.45 ppm 
Mo and 1.2 ppb Au. 

The surveys were deemed to be a useful method of geochemical exploration on the property. Of some concern was 
the presence of more or less alkaline environments attributed to carbonate-rich till in some areas of the property and 
low lying, poorly drained more acidic swamp-covered ground in other areas. The mobility of Mo will be 
significantly affected by less alkaline environments with the caveat that some anomalous responses could be masked 
by variable alkalinity.

Geophysical Exploration

A large program of magnetic, electromagnetic (VLF-EM) and induced polarization surveys were undertaken on the 
Wekusko gold property in 1989 by Pierce Mountain Resources Ltd. A total of 230 km of surveys were undertaken. 
Of these, 126.7 km were surveyed on claims surrounding the Ferro Mine and 11.3 km of surveys were done on the 
Ferro Mine claims. The purpose of these surveys was to map shears, faults and lithologic contacts, the preferred sites 
for gold mineralization on the property. Maps depicting the results of these surveys are available in the canceled 
assessment files stored with the Manitoba Mining Recorder however the maps are scanned versions of reduced scale 
black and white originals and as such are unsuitable for reproduction and insertion in this report. A verbal 
description of results is given below.

The results of the magnetic surveys provided control on the orientation of the magnetic fabric in the area with a 
predominant northeast to southwest trend to a series of magnetic lows on the Gold Dust Zone. These “lows” as well 
as intersections between anomalies of lesser magnetic character were interpreted to be the result of potentially 
altered and mineralized features worthy of exploration follow-up. The magnetic lows are interpreted to be related to 
the oxidation and sulphidation of magnetite in magnetite-rich lithologies such as the basaltic flows at the Gold Dust 
Zone to produce weaker magnetic responses in these rocks. Interestingly, the Ferro Zone and Rainbow-Pocahontas 
structures did not have a magnetic anomaly associated with them.

The VLF-EM surveys were used to define conductive trends on the property however many of the delineated 
features were attributed to conductive surficial sediments that had accumulated in bedrock depressions. The 
potential for some of these zones of conductance to represent mineralized shear zones was noted.

Induced polarization surveys were undertaken by JVX Ltd. Using a time domain pole-dipole configuration. No 
chargeability or resistivity features were identified over the Ferro Main Zone, Rainbow-Pocahontas and the Gold 
Dust shear zone. However, chargeability and resistivity features were identified in areas adjacent to these target 
areas. These anomalies were described as possible targets but were not drill tested. The overall quality of the 
acquired data was low due to poor ground conditions during the time of the survey. 



31

Core Storage, Sampling Method and Approach

Sampling methods for exploration drilling on the Wekusko property carried out by previous operators is unknown 
but believed to have been carried out according to industry standards. Originally, drill core was stored by all 
previous operators in a secure compound (Figure 6) however subsequent owners dispersed the drill core in various 
locations about the compound without a central core storage facility. Key mineralized intersections are stored near 
the offices of Strider Resources Ltd. at Cranberry Portage, south of Flin Flon, Manitoba.

Figure 6: Historic core Storage at the Ferro Mine site.

 

Staging

Exploration on the property has been staged from the property where existing exploration and drill camps have been 
previously established. Alternatively, office facilities in nearby Snow Lake and Cranberry Portage are available. 
These sites provide secure transfer of personnel, supplies and mobilization of equipment.

Geological Setting and Mineralization

Regional Geology

The Wekusko Lake Property is located in the extreme eastern end of the Flin Flon greenstone belt (Figures 3, 7). 
The Flin Flon Belt (FFB) is in the juvenile internal zone of the Trans-Hudson Orogen and consists of 
Paleoproterozoic volcanic, plutonic and minor sedimentary rocks. The exposed portion of the belt is 250 km long by 
75 km wide. Although it has an apparent easterly trend, this is an artifact of the belt’s tectonic contact with gneissic 
metasedimentary, metavolcanic and plutonic rocks to the north (Kisseynew Domain) and the east-trending trace of 
Phanerozoic platformal cover rocks to the south. To the north the FFB is tectonically overthrust by younger 
metasedimentary rocks of the Kisseynew Domain and by nappes of metavolcanic rocks that are equivalent in age as 
those in the FFB.
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The FFB is composed of structurally juxtaposed volcanic and sedimentary assemblages that were emplaced in a 
variety of tectonic environments. The major 1.92-1.88 Ga components include areally significant juvenile arc and 
juvenile ocean-floor rocks, and minor ocean plateau/ocean island basalt. The tectono-stratigraphic architecture of the 
FFB is of essential economic significance. The belt is one of the largest Proterozoic volcanic-hosted massive 
sulphide (VMS) districts in the world, with production and reserves in past and currently producing mines of 131.9 
million tonnes of sulphide and a further 64.3 million tonnes outlined in 43 sub-economic or pre-production deposits 
(Syme et al, 1999). This style and volume of mineralization is not indicative of the mineralization on the property 
that is the subject of the report. Most of the mined VMS deposits in the Flin Flon belt are associated with the 
juvenile arc volcanic rocks, providing a powerful focus for exploration in the belt.

Gold mineralization in the FFB is less thoroughly studied but at Flin Flon precious metals have been shown to be 
associated with late brittle-ductile shear zones that post-date peak tectonic and metamorphic activity within the 
Trans-Hudson Orogen. At Snow Lake, however, preliminary investigations suggest a long history of gold 
mineralization with at least some gold introduced prior to metamorphism.

The New Britannia gold mine at Snow Lake occurs within a sequence of mafic to felsic volcanic and volcaniclastic 
rocks. These lithologies host a series of gold deposits in the hangingwall of the McLeod Road Thrust, in the Town 
of Snow Lake. Three deposits within the New Britannia mine horizon have contributed to the production of >1.4 
million ounces of gold. There have been two periods of mining. The first period occurred between 1949 and1958 
when 610,458 ounces were produced from the Nor-Acme mine. The second period (1995–2005) produced 794,492 
ounces from the Nor-Acme (New Britannia) deposit, 25,281 ounces from the No. 3 zone and 2,777 ounces from the 
Birch zone. This gave a total of 1,433,008 ounces. The deposits are characterized by the high degree of structural-
fabric development and intense carbonatization and silicification of the host rocks. The Birch zone, No. 3 zone and 
Nor-Acme (New Britannia) mine all have a close spatial association with stratigraphic contacts, a preferred 
rheologic focus for deformation (after Beaumont-Smith and Lavigne, 2008).

Property Geology

The Ferro Gold Mine

The property is underlain by a series of Missi Group mafic to felsic volcanic rocks that overlay older Amisk Group 
mafic volcanic and metasedimentary rocks. The Missi volcanic sequence occurs in a large synformal fold structure 
that covers the central portion of the property (Figure 8). Several types of felsic to mafic plutonic rocks intrude both 
the Missi and Amisk group rocks. A major fault, the Crowduck Bay fault, has been traced for more than 100 km to 
the SW under Paleozoic cover, indicating that this structure is likely a major crustal break. Secondary and tertiary 
faults, off this major structure, occur on the Wekusko property, and are associated with significant gold 
mineralization. Two main regional zones of gold mineralization occur on the Wekusko property, the Laguna trend 
and the Ferro trend (Figure 8). Major structures shown on this map include the Crowduck Bay Fault and associated 
splays (Blue) and the Roberts Lake Thrust (Orange). Significant gold zones include the Ferro, the Gold Dust, 
Rainbow-Pocahontas and the McCafferty Vein.

The Ferro deposit is part of the Ferro vein system that includes the occurrences described by Stockwell (1937) as the 
Rainbow, Ferro, Pocahontas, Gold Dust, Lieury, Orcadian and Wizard claims. This system crosscuts a 600 m thick 
sequence of Missi Group subaerial basalt flow and breccia that form the core to the Herb Lake syncline (Fig. 
M63J/13-068-01; Stockwell, 1937). The basalt is characterized by large, quartz-filled amygdales. Some flows are 
feldspar-phyric, with phenocrysts of andesine up to 1 cm long. Some volcaniclastic interlayers contain fragments of 
epidote-rich basalt. The basalt sequence is separated from a thick underlying sequence of mixed andesite and basalt 
flows by a 100 to 200 m thick unit of thinly-bedded, welded, pyroclastic rhyolite tuff. The underlying basalt flows 
are massive and featureless except for a northeast-striking, steeply southwest-dipping shear fabric developed where 
the flows are crosscut by the Ferro shear-vein system. The strike of this system subparallels the fold axis to the Herb 
Lake syncline. The shear zone and associated quartz veins form a series of subparallel to anastamosing lineaments in 
a zone up to 100 m thick and a strike length of 1700 m. The shear zone is represented by a main shear and a series of 
subparallel shears. It is unknown whether the subsidiary shears are splays from the main shear or are smaller parallel 
shears. The subsidiary shears contain quartz veins and lenses with gold-bearing pyrite.
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The north end of the Ferro vein system occurs as a single 1 m thick biotite schist zone containing numerous 
boudinaged segments of quartz veins and thin quartz stringers that are parallel to the shear fabric. The quartz 
contains 1 to 2% pyrite. The quartz vein can be traced southwest for 550 m. A second vein system begins 400 m 
southwest of the north end of the first shear. Both vein systems are auriferous, with the biotite schist and quartz 
veins containing abundant iron carbonate, and lesser amounts of black tourmaline, pyrite, pyrrhotite, chalcopyrite 
and visible gold. The second vein system bifurcates, forming the No. 1 and 2 vein systems (Stockwell, 1937). The 
No. 1 vein system can be followed for 200 m. The No. 2 vein system has been traced for 500 m south. On the Ferro 
property, the No. 2 vein thickens to 3 m. The surface exposure of this vein is buried at the bottom of an open pit, but 
was observed underground in 1981 by J.M. Franklin of the Geological Survey of Canada. The entire vein system 
forms a sinuous Z-shaped zone that is spatially associated with the trace of the Herb Lake syncline fold axis. The 
shear zones and accompanying veins strike 035° to 050° and dip 75° to 80° southeast. Wall rocks to the veins are 
composed of biotite-carbonate-quartz schist in zones up to 5 m thick. The hornblende-andesine-quartz assemblage 
characterizing the fresh basalt is altered to a biotite-iron carbonate-albite- quartz-chlorite-muscovite assemblage 
close to the vein system. The principal sulphide minerals are chalcopyrite and pyrrhotite. The sulphide minerals are 
most commonly found in the biotite schist and along the margins of quartz boudins. Coarse blebs of free gold are 
common along sections of the vein system. Samples from the open pit on the Ferro property contain abundant 
visible gold with chalcopyrite and pyrite. The gold most commonly appears near the necks of the quartz vein 
boudins. The deposit is obscured at surface by muck and ore from underground development. Geological 
observations are taken primarily from drill core and mapping away from the immediate area. 

The Ferro deposit consists of a steeply-dipping quartz-injected shear zone that has a known strike length of 396 m. 
Host rocks to the deposit are subaerially deposited mafic flows comprised predominantly of green massive basalt 
and feldspar-porphyritic basalt. The fine- to medium-grained, magnetite-bearing basalt flows contain brecciated 
flow tops, vuggy to amygdaloidal sections and minor calc-silicate patches. Amygdales range in abundance from 
trace to 15% and are composed of quartz, calcite and a mixture of chlorite and biotite. Minor mafic to intermediate 
tuffaceous layers are present within the sequence. Feldspar porphyritic felsic dykes and dacite are also present. The 
porphyritic basalt is interlayered with the massive flows and contains 2 to 40% subhedral feldspar phenocrysts that 
vary from 4 to 25 mm in length. These basalts also contain an average of 3% magnetite. In the immediate vicinity of 
the Ferro deposit the two types of basalts are interlayered in what may be a transition zone, from stratigraphically 
underlying porphyritic basalts, to overlying massive and brecciated basalt. 

The Ferro shear zone that hosts the deposit is slightly discordant to stratigraphy and is best developed where there is 
interlayering between lithologies with a marked ductility contrast. The shear is a curvilinear structure that varies in 
strike from 044° to 065° with an average strike of 053°. The dip of the shear zone varies between 62° and 82° south; 
ore shoots plunge at 65° to 70° to the southwest. In outcrop, the Ferro shear zone is marked by the development of a 
more strongly foliated rock unit over 1 to 2 m. The mineralized portion of the shear is marked by a well-developed 
schistosity and quartz and carbonate injections. Quartz injections are boudinaged recrystallized and streaked out 
along the schistosity of the host rocks. The thickness of the shear zone varies from 1 to 18 m with an average of 
approximately 6 m. Pyrite, pyrrhotite, chalcopyrite and native gold occur in amounts up to 5% as disseminated 
sulphide grains in biotite-carbonate schist, quartz veins and whitish silicified patches. Late fractures within the 
quartz veins may contain fine grained sulphide. There is no correlation between the amount of sulphide and gold 
content. 

Alteration of the host basalts is characterized by brown to blackish-brown biotite that makes up about 60% of the 
host rock. The remainder of the alteration mineral assemblage is chlorite and up to 25% carbonate. Accessory 
minerals are tourmaline (trace to 5%), muscovite (to 2%), trace hematite and possibly albite. Coarse blebs of free 
gold are common along sections of the vein system. 
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Figure 7. Regional geological setting of the Wekusko Gold Project and the tectonic architecture of the Flin 
Flon-Snow Lake greenstone belt (Syme et al., 1996).
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Figure 8: Geology of the eastern end of the Flin Flon greenstone belt. Simplified geology after Galley et al., 
1986. 
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The Gold Dust Shear Zone

The Gold Dust Shear Zone (GDSZ) occupies a major linear depression that trends 045o with a near vertical dip. It is 
developed between feldspar porphyritic basalt and dark green, massive to amygdaloidal basaltic flows and tuff on its 
northwest flank and massive grey-green andesite and dacitic to rhyolitic altered feldspar porphyry and lapilli tuff on 
the southeast flank. The surface expression of the Gold Dust Zone occurs within the felsic rock sequence. 

The Gold Dust shear zone is interpreted to be the widest and most significantly mineralized zone discovered to date 
on the Wekusko Gold property. The average width of this zone is 20 m in drill core and 15 m true width but varies 
between 10 m and 35 m in drill core. The zone shows evidence for having been overprinted with multiple 
deformational episodes. These include inclusions of schistose altered country rock injected by quartz stringers and 
veins that vary between <3 cm to 3 m in width. 

Basalt is altered to be biotite-carbonate-chlorite schist with segments of up to 45% quartz-tourmaline. Feldspar 
phenocrysts vary from unaltered subhedral crystals to saussuritized equivalents to completely destroyed crystals. 
Dacitic to rhyolitic rocks are silicified, sericitized, carbonatized and biotized.

Quartz-tourmaline zones with up to 85% fine- to coarse-grained tourmaline is present in greater quantities in the 
GDSZ  than elsewhere on the property suggesting a different and unique process has affected the GDSZ.

Mineralization in the GDSZ consists of trace to 4% pyrite, trace to 4% pyrrhotite, trace to 4% arsenopyrite, 0.1-0.5% 
sphalerite, trace molybdenite and up to 100 grains of visible gold in 15 cm segments of drill core. The presence of 
sphalerite and molybdenite in the GDSZ is unique to this structural environment on the property. A distinctive suite 
of metals as determined by ICP-OES analysis of representative samples of the GDSZ includes Au, Ag, Mo, Zn, As, 
W, Cd and Pb where as the Ferro is marked solely by Au, Cu and W.  

The Gold Dust Shear Zone has been drill tested over a strike length of 1.4 km by 74 drill holes totalling 5448 
meters. This drilling has returned 84 significant gold intercepts most of which have come from the 250 meters of 
strike length referred to as the Gold Dust Zone. Ore grade intercepts vary in width from less than one meter to over 
six meters. Since the Zone has significant gold values and widths near surface it has been determined that a small 
open pit oriented along the strike of the vein would be the most efficient method of extracting the bulk sample. In 
the Gold Dust Zone there are three distinct veins identified as the 330 Vein, 350 Vein and 370 Vein.

The Rainbow-Pocahontas Zone

The Rainbow-Pocahontas Zone (“RPZ”) is a mineralized shear zone located within massive, brecciated and 
amygdaloidal basalt flows and mafic tuff. These volcanic rocks have been intruded by diorite, felsic feldspar 
porphyry dykes and sills. The shear zone comprises up to 80% quartz that contains schistose biotite-carbonate-rich 
inclusions and patches of black, fine-grained tourmaline. Mineralization in the RPZ consists of minor pyrite, 
chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, trace arsenopyrite and visible gold. A total of 25 drill holes have tested this zone with only 
two holes intersecting significant gold values of “0.510 opt Au over 5” and “0.282 opt over 4.6’”. The RPZ is a 
biotite-carbonate-chlorite schist that attains widths of 5 m to 12 m and has locally silicified sections.

The Mccaffery Vein

The McCafferty Vein is underlain by a fragmental biotite-feldspar porphyritic dacite crosscut by quartz porphyritic 
granite dykes and stocks. Stockwell (1937) also reports the presence of biotite-rich feldspar porphyritic lamprophyre 
dykes. The dacite is one of the main volcanic units in the northern part of the Wekusko Lake area. The well foliated, 
fine- to medium-grained rock weathers greyish to clay white with a light to dark grey fresh surface, and is composed 
of feldspar, biotite, quartz, sericite with minor pyrite and arsenopyrite. Feldspar phenoclasts are pink weathering, 
and vary from 1 to 2 mm in length. Biotite is present as: 1) fine-grained, elongate aggregates that define the 
principal foliation; 2) 1 to 2 cm clots of coarse grained biotite and quartz; and 3) up to 5 mm thick books forming 
rosettes with sulphide cores. Fine- to medium-grained quartz porphyritic granite stocks and dykes outcrop in the 
north-northwestern part of the property. These rocks weather clay white to pink and quartz phenocrysts (3 to 5 mm) 
compose 25% of the rock. The granite dykes are variable in thickness from 1 to 2 m. The groundmass consists of 
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quartz, sericite, feldspar, biotite, pyrite and/or arsenopyrite. Coarse-grained muscovite- and quartz-pegmatitic 
mobilizate are also associated with these intrusions. The structural fabric in the rocks is dominated by a regional 
penetrative foliation that strikes 042° to 055°, and dips steeply to the southeast. The foliation is axial planar to the 
Herb Lake syncline, and the occurrence is hosted within the western limb of this structure. A number of shear zones 
50 cm to 1.5 m thick are observed near the occurrence parallel to the regional foliation. Fracture surfaces within the 
main mineralized quartz vein parallel the strike of the vein, and contain slickensides that trend approximately 240° 
and plunge 40° southwest. This parallels the elongation of biotite clusters within the dacite.

Gold mineralization is contained within a quartz-filled shear that strikes 045° and dips 75° southeast. The vein is 20 
to 100 cm thick, and is exposed for over 350 m by a series of trenches and two shafts. The vein bifurcates into two 
parallel sections for 75 m north from the south shaft. The shear crosscuts quartz porphyry dykes that strike 
subparallel to the shear and the dacite. The veins have a consistent internal structure that is divided into three parts: 
1) margin; 2) outer core; and 3) inner core. The vein margins consist of quartz and carbonate with sheared, sericite-
rich inclusions of wall rock elongated parallel to the vein walls. These inclusions contain abundant prismatic, 
unoriented crystals of arsenopyrite and black tourmaline, minor sphalerite, chalcopyrite, pyrite, galena and possibly 
tetrahedrite. Tourmaline also occurs as rosettes in fractures within the quartz veins. The abundant wall rock 
inclusions give the vein margins a banded appearance. Pyrite and chalcopyrite are plated on fracture surfaces that 
crosscut the inclusions. The outer core parts of the veins consist of massive, white to vitreous quartz with very few 
observed mineral inclusions. The inner core contains strongly-fractured white quartz with a vein-parallel cleavage. 
The wall rocks to the main vein are strongly sheared over a thickness of 5 to 10 cm and contain disseminated 
arsenopyrite and minor pyrite, chalcopyrite, tourmaline, galena and sphalerite. Arsenopyrite is present in the wall 
rocks up to 30 cm away from the vein. Visible gold was found within fragments of the sheared wall rocks in the 
dump at the southern shaft. A series of smaller veins are parallel to the main shear. These veins are to 5 to 10 cm 
thick, with thin sheared wall rock contacts, and bleached wall rocks that contain disseminated arsenopyrite and 
pyrite.

Deposit Types

The east side of Wekusko Lake contains numerous gold occurrences, including the historic Rex-Laguna mine that 
produced 58,962 oz of gold from 131,386 tons for a recovery grade of 0.51 oz/ton (“opt”), the developed but not 
mined Ferro deposit, the McCafferty Vein, the Rainbow-Pocahontas and the recently discovered (1989) Gold Dust 
Zone. The historical estimates stated for the Rex-Laguna mine are not meant to be interpreted as current estimates as 
defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. It should also be noted that the 
information given with respect to this mineralization in the vicinity of the Wekusko Property may not be indicative 
of the mineralization on the property.

The east Wekusko gold deposits are structurally controlled vein systems spatially related to second and third order 
faults or splays off of the Crowduck Bay fault. The Crowduck Bay fault is a major, crustal scale fault, over 100 km 
long, extending approximately north-south below the Paleozoic cover south of Wekusko Lake. 

The Gold Dust zone is a quartz injected shear zone occurring at one or both contacts of a sheared quartz porphyry 
dyke, which intrudes a feldspar porphyritic gabbro on one side, and felsic to intermediate tuff on the other. 
Mineralization consists of 1 to 3 % total combined pyrite, pyrrhotite, and arsenopyrite, with native gold, plus minor 
amounts of sphalerite, molybdenum, bismuth, galena, chalcopyrite and tellurides.  Gangue minerals in the quartz are 
tourmaline, minor Ca/Fe/Mg carbonates, albite, and trace scheelite. The gold is free milling and although spatially 
associated with sulphide minerals, is not hosted by these minerals (Placer Dome Metallurgical Report, 1990).

Exploration

Since 1988, as noted in the History Section (Item 6.0) some $5 million has been spent in the East Wekusko belt, 
primarily on drilling at the Ferro and Gold Dust gold deposits, but also on over 300 line-km of detailed ground 
magnetometer, VLF-EM, gradiometer and induced polarization geophysical surveys. In addition, 1:5000 scale 
mapping around the Ferro mine was conducted in 1989-90 and ongoing prospecting by Pro Roc Exploration. In 
2002 new orthogonal digital air photos were flown with 2 meter contour topographic base maps constructed., 
approximately 16,000 meters of exploration drilling has been performed on the Wekusko Lake property by previous 
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operators. This is exclusive of any unrecorded pre-production drilling at the Ferro Mine. Grids developed for the 
purposes of exploration on the property are displayed in Figure 9.

Figure 9: Wekusko Gold Property grid locations. Refurbished grids are in orange and the black lines are the 
1990 grid outline (Ziehlke, 2002).

 

Prospecting work by Strider Resources on the East Wekusko belt over the past 20 years has documented that the 
target deposits are located in recessive, larger scale, altered shear zones, now marked by linear topographic features. 
The numerous small veins discovered and worked by prospectors on nearby outcrops are usually simple quartz 
veins, spatially related to the larger structures in the lineaments, and are generally useful as an exploration guide.

The exploration efforts to date at Wekusko have demonstrated the difficulties associated with the discovery of small 
tonnage, high grade gold deposits in areas of poor outcrop exposure. These deposits at Wekusko Lake have subtle 
geophysical responses and follow-up drilling of anomalies has encountered only limited success. The drill programs 
conducted since 1988 to find new gold zones appear to have been appropriate and well managed, but have been 
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sporadic and limited by availability of funds. It is the focus of the Optionee to utilize the results of extensive 
geological, geochemical and geophysical survey data obtained from historic surveys and two programs during 2010 
and 2011 to greatly expand the known mineral resource through diamond drilling of these integrated anomalies 
prioritized by the results of Mobile Metal Ion soil geochemical surveys. Figure 10 illustrates the numerous quartz 
vein prospects in the Wekusko Gold Project area as well as recognized metallogenetic trends important in the 
localization of significant gold-mineralized structures. The figure is derived from exploration, including geological 
mapping undertaken by First Majestic Resource Corp. and reported on by Ziehlke (2002). Recent exploration by Pro 
Roc Exploration has traced the Laguna trend along strike for 12.5 km to Roberts Lake, with gold prospecting finds
and results from limited drilling. At the NE end of the trend drill hole intercepts such as 0.5 m/8 g Au within a larger 
interval of 12.5 m/0.56 g Au were intersected (D.V. Ziehlke, 2012; pers.comm.).

Figure 10: Geology of the Ferro-Laguna Gold Deposits area (after First Majestic Resource Corp., 2002, 
Figure 5).

Soil Geochemical Surveys

In more recent geochemical exploration on the property, a large soil geochemical exploration program was mounted 
on the property by Strider Resources Ltd. during the winter of 2010 and summer of 2011. This program was based 
on Mobile Metal Ions Technology and resulted in the collection and analysis of 1257 soil samples. Sample 
collection was contracted to Golden Frost Exploration.

Mobile Metal Ions soil geochemistry was used on each of the McCafferty, Chicadee and Jake Lake-Johnson Lake 
survey areas. The total number of representative samples collected was 1257. The samples were distributed as 
follows: McCafferty: 757 soil samples, Chicadee: 193 soil samples and Jake Lake-Johnson Lake: 307 soil samples. 
Samples were silty clay and free of organic material. All samples were collected in exactly the same manner to 
avoid sample bias. Overall sample quality is considered to be excellent.
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Samples were collected according to recommended MMI sampling protocols with 200 g of sample collected from a 
vertical profile that extended between 10 and 25 cm below the organic-inorganic soil contact. Samples were 
collected with a Dutch auger at 10-25 m sample spacings along the grid lines. Samples were placed in medium-sized 
ZIPLOC freezer bags without label tags inserted in the sample bag. Labels were confined to the exterior of the bag. 
Sampling was undertaken on more or less rectangular grids in each area.

The areas sampled at McCafferty, Chicadee and Jake Lake-Johnson Lake and their relationship to the property 
boundary are depicted in Figure 11 and detailed sample locations are given in the figures included with the 
discussion of results for each area. All Mobile Metal Ion soil samples were collected from the Wekusko Gold 
Property and analyzed for Au, Ag, Mo, Bi, Li, As, Cu, Pb and Zn.

Mccafferty Mobile Metal Ion Survey

Mobile Metal Ion (“MMI”) soil geochemical surveys were undertaken in areas where outcrop was blanketed by 
thick wet organic and inorganic overburden. The purpose was to define anomalies related to mineralization along the 
Laguna Mine trend.

Results from the McCafferty MMI soil geochemical survey are presented below as a geochemical narrative 
accompanied by bubble plots prepared with the IOGAS software platform. All UTM coordinates are referenced to 
Datum NAD83, Zone14. The areas of soil sampling are presented in Figure 11 in relation to the property boundary 
and known mineralized zones. The McCafferty soil sample location map is presented in Figure 12. Interpretation 
was undertaken by Fedikow (2012; this report).

Figure 11. Location of Mobile Metal Ion soil geochemical surveys on the Wekusko Gold Project with 
reference to property boundaries and mineralized zones (Fedikow, 2012).
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Figure 12. Soil sample locations for the McCafferty MMI survey.

Individual element responses are described below and define a zoned precious metal (Au-As) anomaly associated 
with a distinctive trend of base metal anomalies (Cu, Pb, Zn, Mo and Bi).

Ag (1-38RR; Figure 13): Silver responses tend to be distributed across the survey grid as one- to two-sample 
moderate-contrast anomalies. The highest responses are present near the southern boundary of the survey area at the 
limits of sampling. 

As (1-452RR; Figure 14): The southwest corner of the survey grid is marked by high-contrast multi-sample 
anomalies with AsRR up to 452 times background. There is no correspondence with Ag anomalies.

Au (1-15RR; Figure 15): The extreme southwestern end of the survey grid is marked by a multi-sample, low-
contrast Au anomaly that corresponds well with As responses from the same area. The Au anomaly appears to be 
open to the southwest.

Cu (1-37RR; Figure 16): Focused multi-sample moderate-contrast Cu anomalies occur to the northeast of the Au 
and As anomalies described above. The displacement of the Cu anomalies from those for Au and As is strongly 
suggestive of metal zonation in a hydrothermal depositional regime. The copper anomalies are developed along a 
northeasterly trend with an additional strong multi-sample anomaly noted from the northeast extremity of this trend. 
This suggests the anomaly may be open to the northeast along the Laguna Mine trend.
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Pb (1-34RR; Figure 17): Anomalous Pb responses to 34 times background are coincident with those for Cu and 
together define a base metal trend that is adjacent to and somewhat overlapping with the Au-As anomalies.

Zn (1-84RR; Figure 18): A similar trend of elevated Zn responses is apparent on the grid and closely resembles the 
Cu-Pb anomalies. There are a number of 1-2 sample anomalies distributed throughout the survey area. One of these 
corresponds with the Au-As anomaly at the southwest end of the McCafferty sampling grid. 

Mo (1-115RR; Figure 19): High-contrast Mo anomalies occur in coincidence with elevated moderate-contrast Cu 
anomalies described above. The Mo anomalies form part of the northeast trend of base metal responses that extends 
and partially overlaps with the Au-As anomaly. This base metal anomalous zone may be open to the northeast along 
the Laguna Mine trend.

Bi (1-12RR; Figure 20): Bismuth responses are low-contrast with maximum RR of 12 times background. They are 
present as one to three sample anomalies distributed across the grid without particular trends being defined. There 
appears to be a predominance of this type of response in the southwest corner of the survey grid where there may be 
some coincidence with Zn. 

Li (1-115RR; Figure 21): The analysis of Li in MMI soil samples from the McCafferty grid was undertaken to 
assess the area for the geochemical signatures of buried spodumene-bearing pegmatite. Several high-contrast 
responses are apparent in the data. The maximum RR of 115 times background is considered to be very high and as 
such the general area of these high-contrast responses should be prospected to determine whether any surface 
exposures of pegmatite are present. 
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Figure 13. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Ag using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 14. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for As using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 15. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Au using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).

 



47

Figure 16. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Cu using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 17. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Pb using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 18. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Zn using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 19. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Mo using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report) .
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Figure 20. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Bi using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 21. Bubble plot and gridded data plot for Li using response ratios, McCafferty MMI survey. UTM 
grid is in metres (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Summary

The McCafferty MMI survey has delineated a zoned precious metal-base metal anomaly that extends off of the grid 
to the west in the case of Au and As and northeastwards to the limits of sampling for Cu, Pb, Zn and Mo. This 
zonation reflects the signature of mineralization deposited as a result of hydrothermal activity along the Laguna 
Mine Trend. Further surveys will be necessary to truncate these responses. 

Chicadee Lake Mobile Metal Ion Survey

The Chicadee Lake MMI-M soil geochemical survey was undertaken since the area lies along the southwest 
projection of the Ferro Gold Mine trend. Results from the Chicadee Lake survey are presented in here as a 
geochemical narrative accompanied by bubble plots prepared with Vertical Mapper, a module within the MAPINFO 
software platform. Soil sample location map is presented in Figure 22. Interpretation was undertaken by Fedikow 
(2012; this report).

Figure 22. Soil sample location map for the Chicadee MMI soil geochemical survey (Fedikow, 2012; this 
report).

 



54

Results

As (1-24RR; Figure 24): The area is characterized by isolated low-contrast responses that are 1-2 sample single line 
anomalies with no between line continuity.  

Au (1-19RR; Figure 25): Very low-contrast Au responses are present throughout the survey area with the exception 
of a single sample response from the southwest corner of the grid. At this location the AuRR is 19RR or 19 times 
background. 

Mo (1-132RR; Figure 27): There is a single very high-contrast response from the northeast portion of the survey 
area whereas the bulk of the responses throughout the area are <10RR. There is no difference in the patterns for 
truncated data. Additional sampling is warranted around this single anomalous point.

Zn (1-24RR; Figure 29): There is a possible 3 line, multi-sample low- to moderate-contrast Zn anomaly in the 
western portion of the grid. The multi-line nature of this response is significantly different from other elevated 
responses in the Chicadee Lake area which have been single sample-one line responses.

Ag (1-6RR; Figure 23); Cu (1-4RR; Figure 26); Pb (1-4RR; Figure 28); Li (1-4RR; not plotted) and Bi (1-
2RR; not plotted): The responses for these elements indicate essentially background responses without either single 
sample apical anomalies or multi-sample anomalies that might act as vectors to a mineralized zone or lithology. In 
this regard the responses are very similar to those for the Jake Lake-Johnson Lake areas (see below).

Summary

Single sample anomalies are present on the grid for Au, As and Mo. The Mo response is very high-contrast at 132 
times background. The results for Zn are developed over multiple grid lines and constitute the most significant 
multi-sample response defined by this survey. The RR for the elements Ag, Cu, Pb, Bi and Li are all interpreted as 
background responses.
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Figure 23. Bubble plot for Ag using response ratios, Chicadee Lake MMI survey(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 24. Bubble plot for As using response ratios, Chicadee Lake MMI survey (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 25. Bubble plot for Au using response ratios, Chicadee Lake MMI survey(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 26. Bubble plot for Cu using response ratios, Chicadee Lake MMI survey(Fedikow, 2012; this report).



59

Figure 27. Bubble plot for Mo using response ratios, Chicadee Lake MMI survey(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 28. Bubble plot for Pb using response ratios, Chicadee Lake MMI survey (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 29. Bubble plot for Zn using response ratios, Chicadee Lake MMI survey (Fedikow, 2012; this report).

Jake Lake-Johnson Lake Mobile Metal Ions Survey

The Jake Lake-Johnson lake MMI-M soil geochemical survey was undertaken along the Laguna Mine trend. Results 
from the Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey are presented below as a geochemical narrative accompanied by 
bubble plots prepared with Vertical Mapper, a module within the MAPINFO software platform. The soil sample 
location map is presented in Figure 30. Interpretation was undertaken by Fedikow (2012; this report).



62

Figure 30. Soil sample location map for the Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI soil geochemical survey (Fedikow, 
2012; this report).
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Results

Ag (1-20RR; Figure 31): There are two distinctive low-contrast responses present. These responses are likely 
related to lithology (mafic) rather than mineralization based on the broad area of uniform response rather than a 
focused apical-type of anomaly that is expected over mineralization.

As (1-56RR; Figure 32): There is a multi-sample, low-contrast linear anomaly confined to the northern half of the 
survey area. This is likely the signature of an arsenopyrite- mineralized structure or possibly an arsenopyrite-
mineralized lithology. This zone has no associated Au or Ag.

Au (1-11RR; Figure 33): Despite the low-contrast Au responses there are multiple single sample and multi-sample 
Au anomalies present in the southern half of the survey area. If the Ag responses noted above are related to lithology 
then the Au responses are hosted in deformed mafic rocks.

Mo (1-21RR; Figure 36): Anomalous coincident responses of Mo with As are noted from the northern half of the 
survey area. There is some Mo coincidence with the low-contrast Au responses in the southern grid area. The 
association of Mo with Au mineralization in this area is noted.

Zn (1-24RR; Figure 37): Low- to moderate-contrast anomalous responses are noted in an area that is just south of 
the anomalies for Mo and As described above. This is suggestive of bedrock-hosted metal zonation. There is also 
coincidence noted between the Zn responses and those for Mo and Au from the southern survey area.

Cu (1-4RR; Figure 34); Pb (1-5RR; Figure 36); Bi (all1RR; not plotted) and Li (1-10RR; not plotted): The 
responses for these elements indicate essentially background responses without either single sample apical 
anomalies or multi-sample anomalies that might act as vectors to a mineralized zone or lithology.

Summary

Base and precious metal responses are of moderate- to low-contrast character and possibly suggestive of metal 
zonation in the area. The absence of a correlation between the As anomalies and base and precious metals responses 
in this survey area is noted.
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Figure 31. Bubble plot for Ag using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey (Fedikow, 2012; 
this report).
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Figure 32. Bubble plot for As using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey (Fedikow, 2012; 
this report).
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Figure 33. Bubble plot for Au using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey (Fedikow, 2012; 
this report).
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Figure 34. Bubble plot for Cu using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey (Fedikow, 2012; 
this report).
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Figure 35. Bubble plot for Mo using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey(Fedikow, 2012; 
this report).
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Figure 36. Bubble plot for Pb using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey(Fedikow, 2012; 
this report).
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Figure 37. Bubble plot for Zn using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey(Fedikow, 2012; 
this report).
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Jake Lake – Johnson Lake Individual Transects And Survey Areas

Results from individual MMI soil geochemical surveys in the greater Jake Lake-Johnson Lake survey area are 
presented below as a geochemical narrative accompanied by bubble plots prepared with Vertical Mapper, a module 
within the MAPINFO software platform. It is noted that some samples were collected during this survey from 
adjacent properties not controlled by the Company. Soil sample location map is presented in Figure 38. 
Interpretation was undertaken by Fedikow (2012; this report).

Figure 38. Soil sample location map for individual sampling transects and other survey areas for the Jake 
Lake-Johnson Lake MMI soil geochemical survey (Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Results

Ag (1-20RR; Figure 39): Low-contrast responses typify all three survey areas; a single sample low-contrast 
response is noted from the southern end of Area 2.

Mo (1-21RR; Figure 43): The majority of responses in these survey areas are background and/or random 
background variation, unrelated to mineralization. There is however the possibility of a developing Mo anomaly that 
occurs at the north end of Area 4 although more sampling in this area is needed to qualify this observation.

Zn (1-24RR; Figure 45): All responses within these three survey areas are background responses with one 
exception. There is a single sample anomaly located in the northeast corner of Area 2 at the northern end of the 
sampling transect. Additional sampling is required to truncate this anomaly.

As (1-56RR; Figure 40); Au (1-11RR; Figure 41); Cu (1-4RR; Figure 43) and Pb (1-5RR; Figure 44): The 
responses for these elements indicate essentially background responses without either single sample apical 
anomalies or multi-sample anomalies that might act as vectors to a mineralized zone or lithology. In this regard the 
responses are very similar to those for Area 1.

Summary

The results of the MMI surveys in the Jake Lake-Johnson Lake survey areas are characterized by very low-contrast 
responses with the majority of the MMI-M suite elements reporting at or near background (RR=1) levels. 

Figure 39. Bubble plot for Ag using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey transects 
(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 40. Bubble plot for As using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey transects 
(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 41. Bubble plot for Au using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey transects 
(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 42. Bubble plot for Cu using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey transects 
(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 43. Bubble plot for Mo using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey transects 
(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 44. Bubble plot for Pb using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey transects 
(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Figure 45. Bubble plot for Zn using response ratios, Jake Lake-Johnson Lake MMI survey transects 
(Fedikow, 2012; this report).
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Drilling

No recent drilling has been performed on the property.

Sample Preparation, Analyses And Security

Mobile Metal Ions Soil Geochemical Surveys

Analytical Procedures

For Mobile Metal Ion analysis a 50 g soil sample was shaken for 20 minutes with 50mL of MMI Selective Weak 
Extraction Solution. The solution was allowed to stand overnight and analyzed by ICPMS (Elan 9000, 
PerkinElmer/SCIEX, Concord, Canada). The instrument was calibrated using a blank, 0.010mg/L (0.001mg/L for 
Ag, Au, Pd and 1mg/L for Al, Ca, Fe, Mg) and 0.050mg/L (0.005µg/L for Ag, Au, Pd and 5mg/L for Al, Ca, Fe, 
Mg) standards, all containing the MMI-M matrix. Results are given in parts per million, parts per billion and sub-
parts per billion.

During the analytical process analytical duplicates unknowns re-sampled every 12th sample during the analytical 
process. The results of these duplicate analyses are assessed with simple linear regression to review the data for 
outliers. In addition to this approach to data quality standard reference materials are inserted into the analytical 
stream to monitor accuracy and reproducibility of analyses. Laboratory contamination is monitored with the use of 
analytical blanks. There is no sample preparation prior to Mobile Metal Ion analysis including splitting and 
reduction of sample in any way. Samples were stored in rock pails in a secure, locked storage facility until shipment 
for analysis. The analyses are undertaken at SGS Mineral Services (Toronto, Ontario). SGS laboratories have quality 
assurance/quality control procedures and data acceptance procedures described and documented in on-site manuals. 
These manuals and described procedures are repeatedly audited by the Standards Council of Canada as part of the 
ISO/IEC 17025 accreditation held by the laboratories. There is no relationship between the issuer and SGS 
laboratories other than the normal client relationship. Certificate of analyses are presented Appendix 1.

Data Quality

The results of simple linear regression for Mobile Metal Ion suite elements are presented below (Figure 46) and are 
accompanied by the calculation of Cook’s Distances which measures the departure of duplicate pairs from the line 
of best fit. The approach indicates excellent quality of the analytical data and any outliers as defined by this 
approach have low Cook’s Distances indicating little if any effect on the regression line.

In the opinion of the author sample preparation, sample security and sample analytical procedures are adequate.
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Figure 46. Simple linear regression with Cook’s Distances for MMI suite elements, Wekusko Gold Property.
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Table 5 below summarizes replicate analyses of standard reference materials for Mobile Metal Ions analyses. 
Table 6 provides a list of elements detected in replicate analyses of the analytical blank and concentrations of these 
elements. Both tables illustrate good accuracy and reproducibility in relation to standard reference materials and a 
dearth of contaminants in the analytical blank.

Table 5. Summary of standard reference materials used in Mobile Metal Ions soil geochemical analyses, 
Wekusko Gold Project.

Mobile Metal Ions Standard Reference Material MMISRM16 (n=13)

ANALYTE Ag As Au Bi Cu Li Mo Pb Zn

METHOD MMI-M5 MMI-M5 MMI-M5 MMI-M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5

DETECTION 1 10 0.1 1 10 5 5 10 20

UNITS ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb

MMISRM16 16 <10 23.2 <1 560 <5 41 90 230

MMISRM16 15 20 21 <1 560 <5 44 100 220

MMISRM16 18 20 26.7 <1 680 <5 46 90 260

MMISRM16 18 <10 24 <1 620 <5 42 100 260

MMISRM16 18 10 24.7 <1 760 <5 44 90 240

MMISRM16 17 20 24.4 <1 610 <5 41 80 250

MMISRM16 19 10 25.6 <1 610 <5 42 80 200

MMISRM16 15 10 20.8 <1 620 <5 41 90 380

MMISRM16 18 10 24.4 <1 650 <5 41 80 220

MMISRM16 19 20 46 <1 750 <5 48 120 270

MMISRM16 19 10 28.4 <1 690 <5 48 110 270

MMISRM16 15 20 21.8 <1 640 <5 49 110 260

MMISRM16 18 20 24.6 <1 690 <5 51 100 320

Recommended Values MMISRM16

MMISRM16 17 10 31.9 <1 629 2 51 100 306

Mobile Metal Ions Standard Reference Material MMISRM18 (n=2)

ANALYTE Ag As Au Bi Cu Li Mo Pb Zn

METHOD MMI-M5 MMI-M5 MMI-M5 MMI-M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5

DETECTION 1 10 0.1 1 10 5 5 10 20

UNITS ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb

MMISRM18 26 20 9.4 <1 1060 <5 38 450 990

MMISRM18 19 10 7.8 <1 730 <5 31 450 720

Recommended Values MMISRM18

MMISRM18 24 11 10.3 <1 781 <5 35 178 708

Mobile Metal Ions Standard Reference Material AMIS0169 (n=10)

ANALYTE Ag As Au Bi Cu Li Mo Pb Zn

METHOD MMI-M5 MMI-M5 MMI-M5 MMI-M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5

DETECTION 1 10 0.1 1 10 5 5 10 20

UNITS ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb

AMIS0169 8 <10 0.3 <1 4100 <5 <5 120 220

AMIS0169 8 10 0.3 <1 3800 <5 <5 110 210

AMIS0169 9 10 0.5 <1 3920 <5 <5 120 220
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AMIS0169 10 10 0.5 <1 5820 5 <5 140 280

AMIS0169 10 10 1.2 <1 5320 <5 7 130 260

AMIS0169 9 10 0.4 <1 4120 <5 <5 120 230

AMIS0169 7 <10 0.3 <1 3440 <5 <5 90 170

AMIS0169 37 <10 0.4 <1 1580 225 13 140 70

AMIS0169 5 20 0.3 <1 4450 <5 <5 110 220

AMIS0169 8 20 0.4 <1 4240 <5 6 140 230

Recommended Values AMIS0169

AMIS0169 8.2 10.7 0.6 <1 4362 <5 5.7 145 246

Table 6. Summary of replicate analyses for the analytical blank, Mobile Metal Ions soil geochemical analyses.

ANALYTE Ag As Au Bi Cu Li Mo Pb Zn

METHOD
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5
MMI-

M5

DETECTION 1 10 0.1 1 10 5 5 10 20

UNITS ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb ppb

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 10 <0.1 <1 20 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 20 <5 8 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 30

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 20 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 20 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 20 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 20 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 <10 <5 <5 <10 <20

BLANK <1 <10 <0.1 <1 20 <5 <5 <10 <20

Data Verification

The author of this report has not undertaken any verification of analytical data from rock chip, rock channel or drill 
core samples collected from the property and subsequently analyzed. Analytical data from rock chip, channel and 
drill core samples are historic in nature and individual material is no longer available for re-analysis. It is the 
author’s opinion that the approach to rock sample collection and analysis was adequate. Soil geochemical surveys 
were under the direct supervision of the author. Sample collection was undertaken by field staff trained in Mobile 
Metal Ions Technology. As such it is the opinion of the author that data verification is not required and that the data 
is adequate for the purposes used in the technical report. There are no limitations on the usefulness of the data as a 
result of the lack of data verification in the Mobile Metal Ions soil geochemical data. 
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Mineral Resource Estimates

Mineral resource estimates in this Section are either historical or have not been generated by a Qualified Person 
independent to the Company and therefore are not compliant with NI 43-101). It should be noted that the historical 
estimates presented here were made by a source believed to be reliable.  However, the author has not independently 
verified the estimate according to CIM standards.  The resource estimate is presented for historical purposes only. 
Therefore, the author is not treating the estimate as a current National Instrument 43-101 defined resource, and the 
historical estimate should not be relied upon.

Wekusko Consolidated made a resource estimate of 60,809 tons at a grade of 0.499 oz/ton over an average undiluted 
width of 4.7 feet for the Ferro deposit. Ash & Associates (1992) estimated that the Ferro Zone contained diluted ore 
reserves totalling 81,330 tons grading 0.444 ounces per ton. A drill-indicated resource of 115,827 tons grading 0.297 
oz/ton was assigned to the Gold Dust Zone after the initial 40-hole program. Based on its two in-fill drilling 
programs on the Gold Dust and the McCafferty Zones in 2004 and 2005, Black Pearl Minerals made in-house 
resource estimates for the Wekusko Lake gold zones as follows; Ferro Mine; 73,760 tonnes grading 15.31 grams per 
tonne gold. Gold Dust Zone; 58,356 tonnes at 14.06 gpt gold McCafferty Zone; 16,761 tonnes grading 13.89 gpt 
gold Total: 148,877 tonnes grading 14.62 gpt gold . While the current estimate resource base for Wekusko Lake is 
modest in size, the grade is relatively high and, in aggregate, the tonnage and contained ounces exceed that was 
mined successfully from the adjacent Rex-Laguna past producer. It should also be noted that the erratic distribution 
of gold in these zones as indicated in drill intercepts makes ore resource estimation difficult. This estimate of grade 
and tonnage are historical in nature and are taken from reports that are no longer available. Key assumptions, 
parameters and methods used to prepare the historical estimate are unknown. Accordingly, the historical estimates 
stated for the Ferro gold zones are not meant to be interpreted as current estimates as defined in section 1.2 and 1.3 
of NI43-101 and should not be relied upon. A qualified person has not done sufficient work to classify the historical 
estimate as a current mineral resource or a current mineral reserve. A compilation and re-working of all historic 
information regarding grade and tonnage will be required to upgrade or verify the historical estimate as a current 
mineral resource or a current mineral reserve. The key assumptions, parameters and assumptions made to initially 
estimate grade and tonnage of these zones of gold mineralization are unknown. 

Gold Dust Zone bulk sample stockpile tonnages were estimated using a specific gravity of 2.75 and minimum 
widths of 2 meters of vein material were collected for analysis. The grade of the material in stockpiles was based on 
over 2000 blast hole assays. 

To date, there has not been any environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, and 
political or other factors that have had a direct bearing on the historic mineral resource estimate described above. All 
environmental and work permits have been expedited by the appropriate Provincial government offices and required 
legal title has been satisfied. The area of the exploration and development is uninhabited however an available 
workforce in the nearby community of Snow Lake will provide knowledgeable technical labour and as such 
precludes any negative socio-economic impact for the region.

Exploration and Development

The Company anticipates that it will commence exploration on the Properties immediately after Closing.

The initial program will consist of additional Geochemical sampling (MMI), trenching, mapping, grid plotting, 
electromagnetic survey (IP), Airborne survey (Lidar) and geologic follow up of historical areas of significance 
related to past work programs by previous operators and prospectors.

An extensive review of Geochemical analysis (MMI) sampling conducted during last summer and winter field 
season will determine the priorities for an initial exploratory drill program, 24, one by three kilometer target areas 
have been identified to date. The determination of high priority drill target areas will be made by the geologic team, 
once all data has been reviewed.

The optimum drilling season for the Properties is during the winter season (November – March) as equipment can 
be moved across Wekusko Lake and skidded between drill sites.
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Interpretation and Conclusions

The Wekusko Gold property consists of the Ferro gold mine and the Gold Dust Zone as the main gold-bearing 
components. Additional gold mineralization exists on the property although as currently understood these zones are 
unlikely to be brought into production status unless commercial production is achieved at the Ferro-Gold Dust Zone. 
The gold-bearing systems are near-vertical quartz vein systems that occur within shear zones of varying attitudes 
that have been delineated by significant diamond drill programs. These gold-bearing structures are splays or second 
and third order structures likely associated with the Crowduck Bay Fault. This is a significant observation and one 
which underscores the point that the recognition of these splays becomes paramount in successful exploration on the 
WGP. A deep-looking geophysical approach is required to assess the property for these structures given the 
extensive overburden cover that exists at the WGP.

The gold-mineralized zones within these structures have the potential to be commercially extracted with both open 
pit and underground mining methods. The amount and nature of sulphide mineralization in these zones should be an 
ideal target for induced polarization surveys although it has been noted that previous I.P. surveys undertaken on the 
property have failed to identify known mineralized zones. It is also noted that there is not a one-to-one correlation 
between sulphide mineralization and the presence of gold on the property. Nevertheless it is considered to be of 
prime importance to re-visit the I.P. approach with a modern system capable of seeing to significant depths of >500 
m. The I.P. system should be capable of modelling chargeability and resistivity characteristics in three dimensions. 
This will facilitate drill targeting.

A well-designed and implemented exploration program has been responsible for the discovery of the Gold Dust 
Zone. Subsequent drill testing, outcrop stripping and careful assaying has delineated a substantial gold mineralized 
zone with unknown depth extent. This mineralization occurs within a shear zone with significant lateral and vertical 
extent and as such additional exploration targets are likely to be present along this feature or in association with 
other adjacent splays from the main Crowduck Bay structure. It is evident that a similar exploration approach to the 
Gold Dust environment away from the known mineralization should be undertaken based upon cutting edge 
technologies in geophysics and geochemistry underpinned by a solid foundation of geological mapping.  The 
entirety of the Wekusko Gold property would benefit from a modern, well-funded exploration program that 
proceeds across the entire property.

However, the nature of the property is such that heavy overburden cover can be expected to blanket the high-priority 
areas on the property and in new areas that have received far less concentrated exploration than the immediate areas 
of the Ferro Mine and the Gold Dust Zone. Accordingly, modern geophysical and geochemical methods need to be 
applied on the property to provide additional follow-up drill targets in support of geological mapping. Because of 
the surface cover in what can be described as a hostile exploration surficial environment these approaches will 
necessarily have to be deep-looking.

One area where significant advances have been made by Strider Resources in the exploration for gold in the 
overburden-covered terrain of the Wekusko Gold Property has been the innovative application of vegetation and soil 
geochemical technologies. Between 1996 and 2004 the use of alder twig geochemical surveys has successfully 
identified areas of elevated precious and associated element responses on the Wekusko Gold Property. This 
technology has been successfully applied to the Gold Dust Zone and its extensions as well as to the McCafferty gold 
deposit. In a survey based on the collection of 235 twig samples, analysis by INAA on 30 g briquettes of macerated 
alder twigs (Activation laboratories Ltd., Ancaster, Ontario) anomalous responses were obtained over the Gold Dust 
Zone and in an area 700 m northeast of the Gold Dust Zone suggesting an extension to the structure hosting Gold 
Dust Zone mineralization. In this program anomalous responses were >1 ppm for Mo, >1 ppb for Au and >0.25 ppm 
for As. At the McCafferty gold deposit 14 samples collected at 25 m sample spacings across the vein system 
returned elevated Mo (0.84 ppm), As (0.11 ppm) and Au (0.9 ppb) in the briquetted twigs. From the same survey in 
an area 80 m northwest of the McCafferty vein strongly elevated Mo (1.15-5.45 ppm) and Au (1.2 ppb) were 
documented and suggest the presence of a previously unrecognized source of precious metal mineralization. 

A second area of innovative exploration geochemical surveys that has successfully defined anomalous precious 
metal anomalies with associated base metal and pathfinder element responses is Mobile Metal Ions Technology. 
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The proprietary Mobile Metal Ions Process (MMI) soil geochemical technique has been utilized on a wide range of 
commodity types from base and precious metals to diamonds worldwide. The Technology has also been utilized to 
map bedrock lithologies in overburden covered terrain. The Process is based upon proprietary partial extraction 
techniques, specific combinations of ligands to keep metals in solution, and relies on strict adherence to sampling 
protocols usually established during an orientation program. Geochemical data resulting from MMI analysis of 
improperly collected soils cannot be ameliorated with univariate and/or multivariate statistical and graphical 
solutions.

The recognition of anomalies in geochemical data has progressed from simple visual inspection in small data sets to 
multivariate, parametric and non-parametric or robust statistical methods for large datasets usually extracted from 
regional geochemical surveys. Derived parameters from these statistical exercises, such as factor scores or 
discriminant functions, have been successfully utilized in reducing a large number of potentially useful variables to a 
select few variables that identify and localize anomalous geochemical signatures. These statistical approaches have 
been required to manipulate accurate and precise, low-cost, multi-element geochemical data.

The MMI technology uses a different approach to exploration geochemistry by analyzing soils for a select few 
commodity elements upon which to base property evaluations. Having stated this, the MMI-M multi-element suite 
that was utilized to analyze inorganic soils from the Wekusko Gold property survey comprises analyses for 9 
elements which were selected for analysis in the surveys described below on the basis of the observed mineralogy of 
the mineralization discovered to date on the property. There are a larger number of elements available for analysis 
and these consist of a multi-element suite that reports ppb and sub-ppb analyses for base and precious metals, 
pathfinder elements for these commodities, as well as elements useful for mapping bedrock geology obscured by 
glacial overburden and its derivatives. A small number of elements in this larger package and in the enhanced MMI-
ME package report in the ppm concentration range (Al, Ca, Mg, Fe, K, Mn, and P). The large number of elements in 
the database provides an opportunity to assess an area of interest for a wide range of metallic mineral deposits with 
only minor drawbacks in terms of lower limits of determination.

The application of this technique, to date has successfully focused exploration to the point where traditional 
geophysical surveys coupled with diamond drilling can test these anomalies. The technique also offers promise in 
the exploration of the greater portion of the property that lies unexplored.

There are no exceptional risks or uncertainties that can be expected to impact the reliability of the geoscientific 
database used to direct the exploration of the property. Geological, geochemical and geophysical approaches used in 
the past and recommended in future exploration on the property are have become industry standard across Canada in 
similar landscape environments as exists at the Wekusko Gold Property.

The following conclusions are apparent from this review of the geoscientific database for the Wekusko Gold 
Property:

• Relatively low tonnage but moderate- to high-grade grade gold mineralization is present on the 
Wekusko Gold property. This includes historic mineralization as well as recent discoveries. The 
Ferro Gold Mine and the Gold Dust Zone have seen limited production but offer significant upside 
potential to discover additional gold mineralization in their immediate environment. This is 
particularly true for the Gold Dust Zone at depth.

• Despite many years of focused exploration at the Ferro and Gold Dust Zones the remainder of the 
property can be considered to be relatively underexplored. Considerable mineral potential is 
indicated on the property, particularly for gold mineralization.

• The geophysical coverage of the property has been necessarily piece meal and requires a unifying 
survey to cover the entire property. It is concluded that an airborne VTEM and magnetic survey 
would serve this purpose. Past geophysical campaigns have not utilized modern technologies.

• Mobile Metal Ions soil geochemistry has successfully delineated areas of precious and base metal 
anomalies. This approach offers the ability to prioritize geophysical (I.P., magnetic, 
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electromagnetic) anomalies and to assess extensions of known geological targets such as gold-
bearing brittle structures. Coupled with I.P. surveys this approach can provide an integrated target 
for drill testing. 

• Vegetation geochemistry, specifically alder (Alnus rugosa) twigs can quickly delineate 
geochemically anomalous areas for exploration follow-up although overburden characteristics such 
as alkalinity and thickness need to be factors considered in the structuring of such a survey.

• A vast geoscientific database exists for segments of the property and this data needs to be integrated 
in a digital environment. This will permit ease of assessment of the property for future drill 
programs.

Recommendations

As discussed in this report, both historic and recent WGP exploration programs have confirmed the significance of 
the gold-bearing brittle fractures as important hosts to the discovery of gold mineralization at the Ferro Gold Mine, 
Gold Dust Zone, McCafferty Vein and Rainbow-Pocahontas.  Furthermore, it has identified additional new prospect 
areas worthy of more exploration.  Mobile Metal Ions surveys have recently produced favourable results in the 
McCafferty Vein area and it is suggested that additional follow-up exploration-worthy target areas can be 
recognized on the property with this approach.  

The author recommends a digital compilation of all geoscientific databases from the property as an initial step prior 
to any diamond drill program. Following this compilation, a concurrent exercise including an extensive diamond 
drill program targeting the deeper levels of both the Ferro Mine and the Gold Dust Zone and drill testing of 
integrated MMI geochemical and deep-looking IP surveys at the McCafferty Vein and Rainbow-Pocahontas are 
required. The IP surveys must be undertaken to provide modelled responses upon which drilling can proceed. An 
economic assessment of the potential to produce an economic gold deposit on the WGP at current gold prices should 
be undertaken.

A detailed geological mapping program should be initiated concurrent with these programs. Mapping will 
concentrate on areas where available outcrop can be expanded. The mapping program will be accompanied by 
mechanical excavation and power-washing of exposed outcrop to facilitate channel and chip sampling of potential 
gold-bearing zones and possibly equally important to provide geologic clues to unravelling the structure in any 
particular area.  Where deep organic overburden and swamp precludes this approach Mobile Metal Ions surveys and 
I.P. surveys can assist in target delineation.

New exploration on the WGP should include a mixture of deep-looking helicopter-borne electromagnetic and 
magnetic surveys (VTEM), deep-looking ground geophysical surveys, MMI geochemical methods, and rock chip 
geochemistry to produce targets worthy of diamond drill testing. The drill targets should not be restricted to smaller 
gold-bearing quartz veins and vein systems but should concentrate on the likelihood that these vein systems are 
rooted in hydrothermal systems generated by larger intrusions that represent heat engines and metal sources. Any 
contemplated exploration program should include a component of step-out drilling to target these large mineralizing 
systems. So that estimates of depth to source regions can be obtained and drill set-ups established in the most 
effective manner (declination and inclination) a component of deep-looking airborne and ground geophysics that 
will model both depth to source and orientation of the target is recommended. 

The recommendations discussed above include the following points:

• A complete compilation and integration of all known data is required. These data should be plotted 
on the available orthogonal air photo base and other bases as deemed appropriate. A significant 
effort must be made to collate all geoscientific data and bring this database into a digital 
environment. This will greatly assist the facility of exploration including the dissemination of these 
data to interested parties. Sections should be prepared from known drilled mineralized zones and 
used to assist delineation drilling and formulation of further exploration programs. 
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• The Ferro gold mine and Gold Dust Zone mineralized zones require a drill program designed to 
provide the total tonnage and grade available for mining. This will include deeper drilling than has 
been undertaken in the past and will determine whether available ore is present at depth in these two 
deposits. 

• An economic analysis based on the extraction of gold from these deposits is required to determine if 
gold in these two zones can be produced profitably at current gold grades and to provide guidelines 
for extraction of gold from future discoveries.

• A detailed geological mapping program is required to assess the entire property for additional gold 
mineralized zones including the immediate area of the known mineralized zones. This 
mapping/prospecting exercise should be accompanied by a mechanical excavator capable of 
stripping overburden from accessible subcrop and by power washing apparatus. 

• A deep-looking airborne magnetic and electromagnetic survey can provide complete property 
coverage. This will be particularly useful in support of geologic mapping and the delineation of near 
solid to solid sulphide mineralization.

• A lineaments analysis is required to provide a base for focused mapping and follow-up exploration 
and should accompany the geological mapping program.

• A modern, deep-looking induced polarization geophysical survey is required in areas around known 
gold mineralization. It should focus on previously defined high-potential environments such as the 
Ferro, Gold Dust, McCafferty Vein and Rainbow-Pocahontas and in areas where previous 
exploration has indicated new areas of interest. 

• Geochemical surveys based on Mobile Metal Ions soil geochemistry should be undertaken to assist 
in target delineation in the immediate areas of known mineralization (where prudent) and in 
extensions of known prospective structures.

• A program of quality assurance and quality control must be initiated to ensure best business 
practices are established early in the exploration program.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Available Funds and Principal Purposes

The gross proceeds to be received by Doca from the sale of Common Shares offered by this Prospectus will be 
$1,900,000 (based on the Minimum Offering) or $2,875,000 (based on the Maximum Offering, and assuming the 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option). The current available working capital is approximately $27,000. From the 
aggregate gross proceeds of $1,900,000 (based on the Minimum Offering) or $2,875,000 (based on the Maximum 
Offering, and assuming the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option) will be deducted the Agent’s Commission of 
$152,000 (based on the Minimum Offering) or $230,000 (based on the Maximum Offering and assuming the 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option) and the remaining expenses and costs of this issue, including legal, 
accounting, audit, printing, regulatory fees and the Agent’s Work Fee, administration fee and expenses, estimated in 
the aggregate, to be approximately $122,500. Doca estimates that $1,691,500 will be available to the Company 
based on the Minimum Offering, and up to $2,588,500 will be available to the Company based on the Maximum 
Offering (and assuming the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option), from the sale of Common Shares distributed by 
this Prospectus and prior sales of Common Shares in order to achieve the principal purposes identified by Doca.

The net proceeds of the Offering (before payment of costs of the Offering) are estimated to be:
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Description Minimum Offering Maximum Offering

Maximum Offering and full 
exercise of Over-Allotment 

Option

Gross Proceeds $1,900,000 $2,500,000 $2,875,000

Agent’s
Commission and 
Fees(1)(2)

$152,000 $200,000 $230,000

Net Proceeds $1,748,000 $2,300,000 $2,645,000

Notes:

(1) In addition, the Agent is entitled to receive Agent’s Warrants to acquire such number of Common Shares as is equal to 10% 
of the number of Offered Shares sold in the Offering. Each Agent’s Warrant entitles the Agent to purchase one Common 
Share at the Offering Price for a period of 24 months after Closing. 

(2) In addition, the Company will pay to the Agent the Agent’s Work Fee of $75,000 ($32,500 of which has been paid) and the 
Agent’s Corporate Finance Shares upon Closing. The Agent will be reimbursed all reasonable expenses and fees in 
connection with the offering ($25,000 retainer paid) as well as receive an administrative work fee of $3,000 (paid).

After Closing, it is anticipated that the Company will have working capital (including net proceeds of the Maximum 
Offering less remaining estimated costs of this offering of $87,000 plus the Company’s existing current working 
capital of approximately $27,000) of approximately $1,688,000 (based on the Minimum Offering), $2,240,000
(based on the Maximum Offering) and $2,585,000 (based on the Maximum Offering and full exercise of the Over-
Allotment Option).

Business Objectives

The Company’s immediate short-term objectives will be to complete the Transaction, to pay out all first year 
expenses, and to begin exploration on the Wekusko Property.  

The Company intends to conduct an initial exploration program consisting of airborne surveys, geochemical 
sampling ($255,000), Grid Cutting and IP Survey ($225,000), geoscientific data analysis, mapping and contingency 
($120,500) and compensation payable to the Vice-President, Exploration for field work ($60,000) at an estimated 
cost of $660,500. Depending on the initial results of the exploration program, the Company may reallocate some 
funds to alternative geological techniques.

The Company plans to focus its initial exploration on the Wekusko Property, and will allocate some funds to 
confirming and expanding the mineralization of the Ferro Property if similar mineralization is discovered on the 
Wekusko Property.

Milestones

The principal milestones that must occur for the stated short term business objectives described above to be 
accomplished are as follows:

Milestone Target Date Estimated Cost 

Initial Exploration Program Months 1 - 12 $606,500

MMI Surveying Months 1 - 6 $54,000

TOTAL $660,500
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Principal Purposes of Funds

The Company has, since its incorporation, had negative operating cash flow, as disclosed under the heading “Risk 
Factors – Negative Operating Cash Flow”.

The Company will use the funds available to it upon the completion of the Offering and the Transaction to further its 
business objectives described above and to pay expenses of the Offering and Transaction.  In addition to the 
proceeds to be raised by this Offering, the Company currently has a working capital of approximately $27,000 
consisting of approximately $52,000 in cash less approximately $25,000 of accounts payable. It is expected that in 
the first 12 months following completion of the Offering and the Qualifying Transaction, the funds will be applied 
as follows:

Use of Funds Funds to be Expended

Minimum 
Offering

Maximum 
Offering With 
No Exercise of 

Over-Allotment 
Option

Full Exercise 
of Over-

Allotment 
Option

Remaining costs of the Offering (including the 
Agent’s Commission and the Agent’s Work Fee)

$239,000 $287,000 $317,000

Mineral property payments $525,000 $525,000 $525,000

Anticipated exploration expenditures(2) $660,500 $660,500 $660,500

Administration and regulatory compliance $93,000 $93,000 $93,000

Management and Directors fees (CEO, VP 
Operations, CFO, Board of Directors)

$218,000 $218,000 $218,000

Investor relations (consultant, travel, 
newsletters)

$25,500 $126,000 $126,000

Professional fees (accounting, audit and legal 
expenses

$66,000 $66,000 $66,000

Unallocated Working Capital(1) $100,000 $551,500 $896,500

TOTAL $1,927,000 $2,527,000 $2,902,000

Notes:

(1) Unallocated Working Capital includes the Company’s current net working capital of approximately $27,000, consisting of 
approximately $52,000 in cash less approximately $25,000 of accounts payable. 

(2) Includes $60,000 payable to the Vice President Explorations for field work.

Unallocated working capital of the Company will be used to pay future mineral property payments due under the 
Transaction Agreements, to acquire interests in other properties in the region and for general working capital.  

There may be circumstances, where for sound business reasons, the reallocation of funds may be necessary in order 
for the Company to achieve its stated business objectives.

The Company had a negative cash flow from operating activities of $67,289 for the year ended November 30, 2011 
and a negative cash flow of $81,688 for the year ended November 30, 2010. The Company anticipates that, as a 
junior mineral exploration company, it will continue to have negative operating cash flow in the future and the 
amounts allocated to unallocated working capital in the use of funds table above will be used to fund such negative 
operating cash flow. See “Risk Factors – Negative Operating Cash Flow”. 
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DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS

Doca has not paid any dividends or distributions on its Common Shares.  Any decision to pay dividends on 
Common Shares in the future will be made by the board of directors on the basis of the earnings, financial 
requirements and other conditions existing at such time.

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following discussion and analysis, dated the date of this Prospectus, includes financial information from, and 
should be read in conjunction with, the financial statements of the Company and the notes thereto, appearing 
elsewhere in this Prospectus, as well as the disclosure contained throughout this Prospectus. 

The Company’s financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2011 and prior periods were prepared in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  All currency amounts are expressed in 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis for Financial Year Ended November 30, 2011

Overall Performance

To date, Doca has not yet realized profitable operations and has relied on equity financings and trade credit to fund 
the losses.

Doca incurred a loss and comprehensive loss of $77,291 (2010 - $115,174) during the year ended November 30, 
2011. The decreased loss is primarily attributed to not having any stock-based compensation expense in 2011, 
compared with $45,156 of stock-based compensation expense recorded in 2010 on stock options granted and vested 
on July 12, 2010.  Doca incurred $36,073 (2010 - $54,121) in professional fees. Legal fees of $16,710 (2010 -
$32,036); accounting fees of $4,639 (2010 - $4,245) and audit fees of $14,724 (2010 - $17,840) in the comparative 
year were higher as a result of filing its amended and restated prospectus for its initial public offering.

Transfer agent and filing fees of $18,626 (2010 - $6,052) are significantly higher than the comparative year. Doca’s 
common shares were not publicly traded on the TSX-V until July 12, 2010. The Company did not have a transfer 
agent for the entire comparative year which resulted in lower transfer agent fees.

Travel costs of $11,442 (2010 - $Nil) are higher than in the prior year due to increased efforts to identify and 
evaluate potential acquisition targets for the Qualifying Transaction.

At November 30, 2011, the Company had $303,676 (2010 - $370,545) in cash. Working capital at November 30, 
2011 was $285,489 (2010 - $364,270). The Company’s strong financial position is attributed to raising gross 
proceeds of $530,420 from the issuance of 6,404,200 common shares since its inception on July 27, 2009.

Subsequent to year ended November 30, 2011

Doca has entered into property option agreements to earn a 100% interest in the Wekusko and Ferro properties
located near Snow Lake, Manitoba.  Pursuant to the Wekusko Option, Doca can earn a 100% interest in the 
Wekusko Property by issuing 1,000,000 share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.25 per share for 36 months, 
making cumulative cash payments totalling $1,000,000 over 4 years, issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,000,000 
over 4 years and incurring cumulative expenditures of $5,000,000 over 5 years on the Wekusko Property.

Pursuant to the Ferro Option, Doca can earn a 100% interest in the Ferro Property by making cumulative cash 
payments totalling $1,500,000 over 4 years and issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,500,000 over 4 years.
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Both the Properties are subject to a 3% net smelter return (“NSR”). On or before the first anniversary of 
commencement of commercial production, Doca can purchase ½ of each NSR for $1,500,000.

The Company intends for these transactions to serve as its Qualifying Transaction.

Selected Annual Information

The following table provides a brief summary of the Company’s financial operations. The Company’s financial 
statements for the year ended November 30, 2011 and prior periods were prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles. For more detailed information, refer to the Financial Statements.

Year Ended
November 30, 2011

Year Ended
November 30, 2010

For the Period of
Incorporation on July 27, 2009

to November 30, 2009

Total income $ - $ - $ -

Loss and comprehensive loss
before extraordinary items

$ (77,291) $ (115,174) $ (19,247)

Loss and comprehensive loss $ (77,291) $ (115,174) $ (19,247)

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.01) $ (0.02) $ (0.01)

Total assets $ 303,676 $ 375,287 $ 326,698

Total long-term liabilities $ - $ - $ -

Cash dividends $ - $ - $ -

Total assets decreased during the fiscal year ended November 30, 2011 due to spending cash on regulatory 
compliance, professional fees and travel costs in an effort to identify and evaluate potential acquisition targets for 
Doca’s Qualifying Transaction. The Company received $420 from the exercise of 4,200 agent’s options in the 
current fiscal year. During the period of incorporation on July 27, 2009 to November 30, 2009, the Company issued 
4,400,000 common shares for two private placements which raised gross proceeds of $330,000.  In 2010, the 
Company received an additional $200,000 upon completion of its initial public offering of 2,000,000 common 
shares. Since inception, the Company issued agent’s options with a fair market value of $10,649 and paid $83,375 in 
share issue costs.

The Company incurred a loss and comprehensive loss of $77,291 (2010 - $115,174; 2009 - $19,247) during the year 
ended November 30, 2011. Professional fees of $36,073 (2010 - $54,121; 2009 - $18,250) have consistently been 
the Company’s most significant expense. These fees are primarily attributed to preparing the Company’s Prospectus, 
completing the initial public offering and increased business activities as it continues to seek a suitable Qualifying 
Transaction.

The Company has not paid any dividends on its common shares. The Company has no present intention of paying 
dividends on its common shares, as it anticipates that all available funds will be invested to finance the growth of its 
business.

Results of Operations

The Company incurred a loss and comprehensive loss of $77,291 (2010 - $115,174) during the year ended 
November 30, 2011. The expenses are comprised of the following items:
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• Administration fees of $7,053 (2010 - $6,155) were incurred primarily as a result of increased business 
activities while seeking a Qualifying Transaction.

• Office and miscellaneous expenses of $4,097 (2010 - $3,690) in the current year are slightly higher than the 
comparative year. The increase is attributed to the Company incurring insurance expense which it did not 
have during the comparative year.

• Professional fees of $36,073 (2010 - $54,121) are comprised of $16,710 (2010 - $32,036) in legal fees; 
$4,639 (2010 - $4,245) in accounting fees and $14,724 (2010 - $17,840) in audit fees. Overall, these costs 
were higher in the comparative year as a result of filing its prospectus on its initial public offering.

• Stock-based compensation of $Nil (2010 - $45,156) was recognized on the granting of Nil (2010 –
600,000) stock options to officers and directors. The fair value of these options was calculated using the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

• Transfer agent and filing fees of $18,626 (2010 - $6,052) are significantly higher than the comparative 
year. The Company’s common shares were not publicly traded on the TSX-V until July 12, 2010. The 
Company did not have a transfer agent for the entire comparative year which resulted in lower transfer 
agent fees during the comparative year.

• Travel and related expenses of $11,442 (2010 - $Nil) were incurred in the current year as a result of the 
Company’s President travelling to evaluate potential deals to serve as a Qualifying Transaction.

The Company does not have any sources of revenue since it has not yet completed a Qualifying Transaction.

Significant changes in key financial data from December 1, 2009 to November 30, 2011 are primarily attributed to 
the Company completing its initial public offering.

Initial public offering

On July 12, 2010, the Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO”) and issued 2,000,000 common shares at
$0.10 per share for gross proceeds of $200,000.

The Company paid the agent a $20,000 commission, a $10,000 corporate finance fee and granted 200,000 agent’s 
options valued at $10,649 which are exercisable at $0.10 per share until July 12, 2012.

An additional $34,465 in legal and other costs directly attributed to the IPO were recorded as share issuance costs. 
The Company had previously recorded some of the aforementioned costs totaling $23,250 as deferred financing 
costs which were reallocated to share issuance costs upon completion of the IPO.

Exercised agent’s options

On December 14, 2010, the Company issued 4,200 common shares at $0.10 per share for proceeds of $420 pursuant 
to the exercise of agent’s options with a July 12, 2012 expiry date. In relation to the exercised agent’s options, $223 
of contributed surplus was transferred into share capital.

The Company has no present intention of paying dividends on its common shares as it anticipates that all available 
funds will be used to complete a Qualifying Transaction.

Fourth Quarter Results

During the three month period ended November 30, 2011, the Company reported a loss and comprehensive loss of
$24,759 (2010 - $15,646). The most significant expense during the quarter ended November 30, 2011 was $15,319 
(2010 - $10,112) in professional fees. Professional fees in the current period are primarily comprised of an $8,500 
estimate for the 2011 audit.
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The Company reclassified $1,910 of Harmonized Sales Tax to share issue costs attributed to the July 12, 2010 initial
public offering during the quarter ended November 30, 2011.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will be able 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. The 
continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to complete a Qualifying Transaction.

November 30, 2011 November 30, 2010

Working capital $ 285,489 $ 364,270

Deficit $ (211,712) $ (134,421)

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended November 30, 2011 was $67,289 (2010 – $81,688). The 
cash used in operating activities for the year consists primarily of the operating costs and a change in non-cash 
working capital.

Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended November 30, 2011 was $420 (2010 – $148,785). 
The Company issued 4,200 common shares at $0.10 per share for proceeds of $420 pursuant to the exercise of 
agent’s options. During the comparative year the Company completed its initial public offering of 2,000,000 
common shares for gross proceeds of $200,000. The Company paid $41,215 in share issuance costs for the initial 
public offering during the comparative year and transferred $10,000 in deferred financing costs to share issue costs 
related to the initial public offering.

There were no investing activities during the current and comparative years.

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms 
of such financing will be favourable. If adequate financing is not available when required, the Company may be 
unable to continue operating. The Company may seek such additional financing through debt or equity offerings, but 
there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. Any 
equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the Company’s shareholders and may result in 
dilution to the value of such interests.

The Company has sufficient funds to cover anticipated administrative expenses throughout the year. It will continue 
to focus on completing its proposed Qualifying Transaction.

Related Party Transactions

Accounts payable at November 30, 2011 includes $Nil (2010 - $651) due to a law firm in which the corporate 
secretary is partner.

During the year ended November 30, 2011, the Company paid or accrued $16,710 (2010 - $32,036) in legal fees to a 
law firm in which the corporate secretary is partner.

Related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange value, which 
represented the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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Recent Accounting Changes

Business combinations, non-controlling interest and consolidated financial statements

In January 2009, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 1582 “Business Combinations”, 1601 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements” and 1602 “Non-controlling Interests” which replace CICA Handbook Sections 1581 
“Business Combinations” and 1600 “Consolidated Financial Statements”. Section 1582 establishes standards for the 
accounting for business combinations that is equivalent to the business combination accounting standard under 
IFRS. Section 1582 is applicable for the Company’s business combinations with acquisition dates on or after 
January 1, 2011. Section 1601 together with Section 1602 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements. Section 1601 is applicable for the Company’s interim and annual consolidated financial 
statements for its fiscal year beginning December 1, 2010. Early adoption of these Sections is permitted and all three 
Sections must be adopted concurrently.

The Company does not anticipate the adoption of this above standard will have a significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.

International financial reporting standards (“IFRS”)

In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed that International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

(“IFRS”) will replace Canadian GAAP for public accountable enterprises for fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2011, including comparative figures for the prior year.

The Company will transition to IFRS effective January 1, 2011 and issued its first complete set of financial 
statements under IFRS for the quarter ending February 29, 2012.

A changeover plan is being established to convert to the new standards within the allotted timeline and is expected 
to consist of the following three key phases:

• Phase 1 – Assess the impact;

• Phase 2 – Design; and

• Phase 3 – Implementation

Phase one will carry out a detailed assessment of the impact of the conversion to IFRS.

Phase two will build the tools required for the conversion based on management’s decisions about accounting 
options and the related disclosures.

Phase three will roll-out the designed changes. The changes will include the development of the new accounting 
policies and consolidation templates, preparing the IFRS financial statements and related note disclosure.

The Company is going to consult external advisors to assist in the development and execution of a changeover plan 
to complete the transition to IFRS.

The key elements of the Company’s changeover plan will include the impact of IFRS on the following items:

• Accounting policies

• Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”)
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IFRS and Canadian GAAP contain the same basic principles of accounting for property, plant and equipment; 
however, there are some differences between them. For example, capitalization of directly attributable costs in 
accordance with IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment (“IAS 16”) may require measurement of an item of 
property, plant and equipment upon initial recognition to include or exclude certain previously recognized amounts 
under Canadian GAAP. Specifically, there may be changes in accounting for:

• The amount of capitalized overheads;

• The capitalization of major inspections that were previously expensed under Canadian GAAP;

• The capitalization of depreciation for which the future economic benefits of that asset are absorbed in the 
production of another asset; and

• The capitalization of borrowing costs in accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs.

Management does not expect IFRS to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position.

Impairment of Assets

IAS 36, Impairment of Assets (“IAS 36”) uses a one-step approach for testing and measuring asset impairments, 
with asset carrying values being compared to the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. Value in use 
is defined as being equal to the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset in its current 
state. In the absence of an active market, fair value less costs to sell may also be determined using discount cash 
flows. The use of discount cash flows under IFRS to test and measure asset impairment differs from Canadian 
GAAP where undiscounted future cash flows are used to compare against the asset’s carrying value to determine if 
impairment exists. This may result in more frequent write-downs in the carrying value of assets under IFRS since 
asset carrying values that were previously supported under Canadian GAAP based on undiscounted cash flows may 
not be supported on discounted cash flow basis under IFRS. However, under IAS 36, previous impairment losses 
may be reversed where circumstances change such that the impairment has reduced. This also differs from Canadian 
GAAP, which prohibits the reversal of previously recognized impairment losses. Management does not expect this 
change to have an impact on the Company’s financial position.

Income Taxes

IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) prescribes that an entity account for the tax consequences of transactions and 
other events in the same way that it accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. Therefore, where 
transactions and other events are recognized in earnings, the recognition of deferred tax assets or liabilities which 
arise from those transactions should also be recorded in earnings. For transactions that are recognized outside of the 
statement of earnings, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, any related tax effects should also 
be recognized outside of the statement of earnings.

The most significant impact of IAS 12 on the Company will be derived directly from the accounting policy 
decisions made under IAS 16. Management does not expect this change to have an impact on the Company’s 
financial position.

First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

Under IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”) provides the 
framework for the first time adoption of IFRS and specifies that an entity shall apply the principles under IFRS 
retrospectively. All adjustments that arise on retrospective conversion to IFRS from other GAAP should be 
recognized directly in retained earnings. Certain optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions to retrospective 
application are provided for under IFRS 1.

Under IFRS 1, an entity has the option to retroactively apply IFRS 3 to all business combinations or may elect to 
apply the standard prospectively only to those business combinations that occur after the date of transition. The 
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CICA Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations and Section 1602, Non-Controlling Interests are 
substantially aligned with the accounting for business combinations and non-controlling interests under IFRS 3. 
Management does not expect this change to have an impact on the Company’s financial position.

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair value of 
these financial instruments, other than cash, approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.

In accordance with the three level hierarchy of financial instruments, cash is measured at fair value on the balance 
sheet using level 1 fair value inputs.

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfil its payment obligations. The 
Company’s cash is held at large financial institutions and it believes it has no significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due. As at November 30, 2011, the Company had cash totaling $303,676 to settle current liabilities 
of $18,187. All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of 30 days or due on demand and 
are subject to normal trade terms.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Company has cash and no interest-bearing debt and is not subject to significant interest rate risk.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Company’s operations are in Canada and it is not exposed to foreign currency risk.

(c) Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the potential 
adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or general movements in 
the level of the stock market. The Company closely monitors individual equity movements, and the stock market to 
determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis for Three and Six Month Periods Ended May 31, 2012

Overall Performance

Operations Update

To date, the Company has not yet realized profitable operations and has relied on equity financings and trade credit 
to fund the losses.
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The Company incurred a loss and comprehensive loss of $102,699 (2011 - $31,554) during the six month period 
ended May 31, 2012.  The increased loss is primarily attributed to a $40,618 increase in professional fees from 
$9,138 during the six months ended May 31, 2011 to $49,756 incurred in the current period.  For the most part, 
professional fees in the current period are attributed to the Company’s proposed Qualifying Transaction.

Current period loss also increased due to property investigation costs of $21,128 (2011 - $Nil) which are primarily 
attributed to the Company hiring an independent geologist to prepare a National Instrument 43-101 geological 
report.  This report is required for the proposed Qualifying Transaction.

At May 31, 2012, the Company had $115,452 (November 30, 2011 - $303,676) in cash.  Working capital at May 31, 
2012 was $178,312 (November 30, 2011 - $285,489).  The Company’s financial position is primarily attributed to 
raising gross proceeds of $530,420 from the issuance of 6,404,200 common shares since its inception on July 27, 
2009.

Proposed Qualifying Transaction and Concurrent Financing

The Company has entered into property option agreements to earn a 100% interest in the Wekusko and Ferro 
properties located near Snow Lake, Manitoba.

Pursuant to the Wekusko agreement the Company can earn a 100% interest in the property by issuing 1,000,000 
share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.25 per share for 36 months, making cumulative cash payments totalling 
$1,000,000 over 4 years, issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,000,000 over 4 years and incurring cumulative 
expenditures of $5,000,000 over 5 years on the property.

Pursuant to the Ferro agreement the Company can earn a 100% interest in the property by making cumulative cash 
payments totalling $1,500,000 over 4 years and issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,500,000 over 4 years.

Both the Wekusko and Ferro properties are subject to a 3% net smelter return (“NSR”).  On or before the first 
anniversary of commencement of commercial production, the Company can purchase ½ of each NSR for 
$1,500,000.

In connection with these agreements, the Company has agreed to issue 300,000 common shares as a finders fee.

The Company intends for these transactions to serve as its Qualifying Transaction.

Upon completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the Company intends to grant up to 1,650,000 stock options 
exercisable at $0.15 per share for a period of five years.

Concurrent with the proposed Qualifying Transaction described above, the Company plans to conduct a prospectus 
offering to raise gross proceeds of up to $2,500,000 through the issuance of 16,666,666 common shares at a price of 
$0.15 per share.

The Company has entered into an agreement with Canaccord Genuity Corp. (“Canaccord”) to act as the agent for the 
offering.  Canaccord will receive a cash commission of 8% of the gross proceeds raised and be issued agent warrants 
equal to 10% of the shares sold under the offering.  The agent warrants will be exercisable at a price equal to the 
offering price for a period of 24 months from closing.

Canaccord has been granted an overallotment option for the sale of up to an additional 2,500,000 common shares 
under the prospectus offering.

The Company will also pay Canaccord a work and corporate finance fee of $75,000 ($32,500 paid) and issue up to 
402,500 corporate finance fee shares to Canaccord on closing.  Canaccord will be reimbursed all reasonable 
expenses and fees in connection with the offering ($25,000 retainer paid) as well as receive an administrative work 
fee of $3,000 (paid).
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An additional $28,037 in legal fees attributed to preparation of the prospectus has been recorded as deferred 
financing costs.

Other events and transactions

Transition to IFRS

The Company adopted IFRS on December 1, 2011 with a transition date of December 1, 2010. Under IFRS 1 First 
time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, the IFRS standards are applied retrospectively at the 
transition date with all adjustments to assets and liabilities as stated under Canadian GAAP taken to deficit, with 
IFRS 1 providing for certain optional and mandatory exemptions to this principle.

Subsequent Event

Expired agent’s options

On July 12, 2012, 315,800 agent options expired unexercised.

Results of Operations

The Company incurred a loss and comprehensive loss of $102,699 (2011 - $31,554) during the six month period 
ended May 31, 2012.  The expenses are comprised of the following items:

• Administration fees of $3,360 (2011 - $3,000) were incurred primarily as a result of increased business 
activities while seeking a Qualifying Transaction.

• Office and miscellaneous expenses of $4,550 (2011 - $1,653) in the current period are higher than the 
comparative period.  The increase is primarily attributed to increased business activities and the 
dissemination of news to shareholders regarding the proposed Qualifying Transaction.

• Professional fees of $49,756 (2011 - $9,138) are comprised of $25,197 (2011 - $2,928) in legal fees; 
$6,090 (2011 - $4,700) for accounting fees and $18,469 (2011 - $1,510) for the IFRS transition review, 
corporate tax and audit services.  For the most part, legal fees in the current period are attributed to the 
Company’s proposed Qualifying Transaction.

• Property investigation costs of $21,128 (2011 - $Nil) are primarily attributed to the Company hiring an 
independent geologist to prepare a National Instrument 43-101 geological report.  This report is required 
for the proposed Qualifying Transaction.

• Transfer agent and filing fees of $14,986 (2011 - $14,832) are similar to the comparative period.

• Travel and related expenses of $8,919 (2011 - $2,931) in the current period are significantly higher than the 
comparative period.  During the current period the Company’s President travelled to evaluate potential 
deals to serve as a Qualifying Transaction.  The Company also sent consultants to evaluate the Ferro and 
Wekusko properties.

The Company does not have any sources of revenue since it has not yet completed a Qualifying Transaction.
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Summary of Quarterly Results

The following financial information is derived from the Company’s financial statements prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, except for the quarters ended November 30, 2010 and August 31, 
2010 which were prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  However, there 
were no differences between Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and International Financial 
Reporting Standards for these quarters.

Three Months 
Ended

May 31, 2012

Three Months 
Ended

February 29, 2012

Three Months 
Ended

November 30, 2011

Three Months
Ended

August 31, 2011

Total assets $ 208,467 $ 257,297 $ 303,676 $ 313,462

Working capital $ 178,312 $ 219,347 $ 285,489 $ 312,158

Shareholders’ equity $ 182,790 $ 219,347 $ 285,489 $ 312,158

Interest income $ - $ - $ - $ -

Loss and comprehensive loss $ (36,556) $ (66,142) $ (24,759) $ (20,978)

Loss per share $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.01)

Three Months 
Ended

May 31, 2011

Three Months 
Ended

February 28, 2011

Three Months 
Ended

November 30, 2010

Three Months
Ended

August 31, 2010

Total assets $ 336,431 $ 360,059 $ 375,287 $ 388,526

Working capital $ 333,136 $ 347,321 $ 364,270 $ 379,166

Shareholders’ equity $ 333,136 $ 347,321 $ 364,270 $ 379,166

Interest income $ - $ - $ - $ -

Loss and comprehensive loss $ (14,185) $ (17,369) $ (15,646) $ (93,765)

Loss per share $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.01)

Significant changes in key financial data from June 1, 2010 to May 31, 2012 are primarily attributed to the Company 
completing its initial public offering.

Deferred financing costs

During the six month period ended May 31, 2012, the Company paid or accrued $88,537 for finders’ fees and share 
issue costs related to the proposed prospectus offering.  The total costs have been reported as deferred financing 
costs.

The Company has no present intention of paying dividends on its common shares as it anticipates that all available 
funds will be used to complete the proposed Qualifying Transaction.



101

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has financed its operations to date through the issuance of common shares.  The Company continues 
to seek capital through various means including the issuance of equity and/or debt.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will be able 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.  The 
continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to raise adequate financing and to commence 
profitable operations upon completion of the proposed Qualifying Transaction..

May 31, 2012 November 30, 2011

Working capital $ 178,312 $ 285,489

Deficit $ (314,411) $ (211,712)

Net cash used in operating activities during the six month period ended May 31, 2012 was $103,130 (2011 –
$37,134).  The cash used in operating activities for the period consists primarily of the operating costs and a change 
in non-cash working capital.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities during the six month period ended May 31, 2012 was ($80,616) 
(2011 – $420).  During the current period the Company paid $80,616 cash for share issue costs related to the 
proposed prospectus which have been reported as deferred financing costs.  During the comparative period, the 
Company issued 4,200 common shares at $0.10 per share for proceeds of $420 pursuant to the exercise of agent’s 
options.

Net cash used in investing activities during the six month period ended May 31, 2012 was $4,478 (2011 - $Nil).  
The cash spent in the current period was used to acquire fuel for future exploration activities.

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms 
of such financing will be favourable.  If adequate financing is not available when required, the Company may be 
unable to continue operating.  The Company may seek such additional financing through debt or equity offerings, 
but there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all.  
Any equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the Company’s shareholders and may result 
in dilution to the value of such interests.

The Company has sufficient funds to cover anticipated administrative expenses throughout the year.  It will continue 
to focus on completing the proposed Qualifying Transaction and concurrent prospectus offering.

There are no exploration expenditures required to keep the Properties in good standing with the Manitoba 
government until 2019.  The Company has required exploration expenditures under the option agreement with 
Strider relating to the Wekusko Property ($300,000 in year 1, $700,000 in year 2, $1,000,000 in year 3 and 
$1,500,000 in years 4 and 5) totalling $5,000,000 over 5 years.

Related Party Transactions

Accounts payable at May 31, 2012 includes $9,133 (November 30, 2011 - $Nil) due to a law firm in which the 
corporate secretary is partner.

The Company paid or accrued $24,805 (2011 - $2,928) in legal fees to a law firm in which the corporate secretary is 
partner.

The Company paid or accrued $28,037 (2011 – $Nil) in deferred financing costs to a law firm in which the corporate 
secretary is partner.
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New Standards Not Yet Adopted

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are mandatory for 
accounting years beginning after January 1, 2013 or later years.  Early adoption of either IFRS 10, 11 or 12 is 
permitted but requires the concurrent adoption of the other two standards.

IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, is part of the IASB’s wider project to replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.”  IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and established two 
primary measurement categories for financial assets; amortized cost and fair value.  The basis of classification 
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.  The 
standard is effective for the Company on or after January 1, 2015.  The Company will continue to evaluate and 
monitor the developments of this new standard.

IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of 
consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities.  The standard builds on the 
existing principles of ‘control’ by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity 
should be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company.  There will be no significant 
impact on the Company upon implementation of the issued standard.

IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”, provides for a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the 
rights and obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form (as is currently the case).  The standard 
addresses inconsistencies in the reporting of joint arrangements by requiring a single method to account for interests 
in jointly controlled entities.  The Company anticipates reviewing all existing arrangements for classification, 
particularly our mineral property agreements and may require assistance from its external advisors.

IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”, is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure 
requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
unconsolidated structured entities.  The Company anticipates reviewing all existing arrangements for classification, 
particularly our mineral property agreements and may require assistance from its external advisors.

IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurements”, is a new comprehensive standard on measuring and disclosing fair value 
and will supersede all other fair value guidance in IFRS.  The Company anticipates reviewing all existing fair valued 
accounts and may require assistance from its external auditors.

FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (IFRS 1)

The Company adopted IFRS on December 1, 2011 with a transition date of December 1, 2010. Under IFRS 1 First 
time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standard, the IFRS standards are applied retrospectively at the 
transition date with all adjustments to assets and liabilities as stated under Canadian GAAP taken to deficit, with 
IFRS 1 providing for certain optional and mandatory exemptions to this principle.

OPTIONAL EXEMPTIONS

The IFRS 1 applicable exemptions applied in the conversion from Canadian GAAP to IFRS are as follows:

Share-based Payment Transactions

The Company has elected not to retrospectively apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments that were granted and had vested 
before the Transition Date. As a result of applying this exemption, the Company will apply the provision of IFRS 2 
only to all outstanding equity instruments that are unvested as at the Transition Date to IFRS. The Company did not 
have any unvested outstanding equity instruments as of the Transition Date.
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MANDATORY EXEMPTIONS

Estimates

The estimates previously made by the Company under Canadian GAAP were not revised for the application of IFRS 
except where necessary to reflect any difference in accounting policy or where there was objective evidence that 
those estimates were in error. As a result the Company has not used hindsight to revise estimates.

As part of the Company’s transition to IFRS, the Company is required to restate comparative information that was 
previously reported under Canadian GAAP in accordance with IFRS. In addition, the Company is required to 
reconcile certain balances under Canadian GAAP to those reported under IFRS. The specific reconciliations 
required are:

i) Shareholders’ equity and financial position as at:
a. December 1, 2010;
b. February 28, 2011; and
c. November 30, 2011.

ii) Comprehensive loss for:
a. the three months ended February 28, 2011; and
b. the year ended November 30, 2011.

Management has determined that the adoption of IFRS has not resulted in any adjustments to these balances as 
reported previously under Canadian GAAP; therefore reconciliations have not been presented. There are also no 
significant differences between IFRS and Canadian GAAP in connection with the Company’s statements of cash 
flows for the period ended May 31, 2011 or the year ended November 30, 2011; therefore reconciliations have not 
been presented.

In accordance with IFRS 1, contributed surplus was renamed share-based payments reserve.

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The 
fair value of these financial instruments, other than cash, approximates their carrying value due to their short-term 
nature.

In accordance with the three level hierarchy of financial instruments, cash is measured at fair value on the balance 
sheet using level 1 fair value inputs.

The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfil its payment obligations. The 
Company’s cash is held at large financial institutions and it believes it has no significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due.  As at May 31, 2012, the Company had cash totaling $115,452 to settle current liabilities of 
$25,677.  All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of 30 days or due on demand and are 
subject to normal trade terms.
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Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Company has cash and no interest-bearing debt and is not subject to significant interest rate risk.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Company’s operations are in Canada and it is not exposed to foreign currency risk.

(c) Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the 
potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or 
general movements in the level of the stock market. The Company closely monitors individual equity 
movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 
Company.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES TO BE DISTRIBUTED

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value and 
an unlimited number of Preferred Shares without par value. As of the date hereof, there are 6,404,200 Common 
Shares issued and outstanding, 600,000 CPC Options outstanding, 315,800 CPC Agent’s Warrants outstanding, and 
no preferred shares issued and outstanding.

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to dividends, if, as and when declared by the board of directors, to one 
vote per Common Share at meetings of the shareholders of Doca and, upon liquidation, to participate equally in such 
assets of the Company as are distributable to the holders of Common Shares.  All Common Shares currently issued 
and outstanding are fully paid and non-assessable.

Agent’s Warrants and Agent’s Warrant Shares

On completion of the Offering pursuant to this Prospectus, the Agent will receive that number of non-transferable 
Agent’s Warrants that is equal to 10% of the Offered Shares sold (including any Common Shares sold pursuant to 
the Over-Allotment Option), each Agent’s Warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Common Share (an “Agent’s 
Warrant Share”) for a period of two years from the Closing Date at a price of $0.15 per Agent’s Warrant Share.  
This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Agent’s Warrants.
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CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the securities of Doca currently outstanding and the securities of Doca expected to be 
outstanding after completion of the Offering:

Designation of 
Security

Amount 
Authorized

Amount 
outstanding 

as of
May 31, 

2012

Amount 
outstanding 

assuming 
completion of 
the Minimum 

Offering

Amount 
outstanding 

assuming 
completion of 
the Maximum 

Offering 
(without 

exercise of 
Over-Allotment 

Option)

Amount outstanding 
assuming completion 

of the Maximum 
Offering (with 

exercise of Over-
Allotment Option)

Common Shares Unlimited 6,404,200 20,220,867(1) 24,220,866(2) 26,773,366(3)

Preferred Shares Unlimited – – – –

Warrants(4) – – 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Agent’s Warrants – – 1,266,666 1,666,666 1,916,666

CPC Options 640,000 600,000 1,750,000(5) 2,250,000(5) 2,250,000(5)

Notes:
(1) Includes 12,666,667 of Offered Shares (based on the Minimum Offering), 300,000 Finder’s Fee Shares, 
350,000 Agent’s Corporate Finance Shares, 200,000 common shares to be issued to Strider pursuant to the Wekusko 
Option Agreement and 300,000 common shares to be issued to Strider pursuant to the Ferro Option Agreement.  In 
addition, an aggregate of 800,000 common shares will be issued to Strider pursuant to the Wekusko Option Agreement 
(200,000 shares on each of the first four anniversary dates from Closing), and an aggregate of 1,200,000 common 
shares will be issued to Strider pursuant to the Ferro Option Agreement (300,000 shares on each of the first four 
anniversary dates from Closing).

(2) Includes 16,666,666 of Offered Shares (based on the Maximum Offering), 300,000 Finder’s Fee Shares, 
350,000 Agent’s Corporate Finance Shares, 200,000 common shares to be issued to Strider pursuant to the Wekusko 
Option Agreement and 300,000 common shares to be issued to Strider pursuant to the Ferro Option Agreement.  In 
addition, an aggregate of 800,000 common shares will be issued to Strider pursuant to the Wekusko Option Agreement 
(200,000 shares on each of the first four anniversary dates from Closing), and an aggregate of 1,200,000 common 
shares will be issued to Strider pursuant to the Ferro Option Agreement (300,000 shares on each of the first four 
anniversary dates from Closing).

(3) Includes 19,166,666 of Offered Shares, 300,000 Finder’s Fee Shares, 402,500 Agent’s Corporate Finance 
Shares,200,000 common shares to be issued to Strider pursuant to the Wekusko Option Agreement and 300,000 
common shares to be issued to Strider pursuant to the Ferro Option Agreement.  In addition, an aggregate of 800,000 
common shares will be issued to Strider pursuant to the Wekusko Option Agreement (200,000 shares on each of the 
first four anniversary dates from Closing), and an aggregate of 1,200,000 common shares will be issued to Strider 
pursuant to the Ferro Option Agreement (300,000 shares on each of the first four anniversary dates from Closing).

(4) Includes 1,000,000 share purchase warrants to be issued to Strider pursuant to the Wekusko Option 
Agreement.

(5) Includes 1,650,000 stock options to be granted to the Company’s directors, officers and consultants 
concurrently with completion of the Qualifying Transaction, assuming completion of the Maximum Offering.  If the 
Company completes the Minimum Offering, only 1,150,000 stock options will be granted.
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PRIOR SALES

Since the date of incorporation of the Company, 6,404,200 Common Shares have been issued as follows:

Date
Number of

Common Shares
Issue Price per
Common Share

Aggregate
Issue Price

Consideration
Received

July 27, 2009 1 (1) $0.01 $0.01 Cash

July 27, 2009 2,200,000(2) $0.05 $110,000 Cash

November 18, 2009 2,200,000(3)(4)(5) $0.10 $220,000 Cash

July 12, 2010 2,000,000(6) $0.10 $200,000 Cash

July 12, 2010 4,200(7) $0.10 $420 Cash

Notes:

(1) Initial incorporator’s share, which was subsequently repurchased by the Company for cancellation.

(2) All of these shares were issued below the offering price of the Company’s IPO and are escrowed. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities 
Subject to Contractual Restriction on Transfer”.

(3) 470,000 of these shares were issued to a Non Arm’s Length Party and are escrowed.  See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to 
Contractual Restriction on Transfer”.

(4) These shares were issued pursuant to the a brokered private placement by the Company of 1,200,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.10 
per Common Share which closed on November 22, 2009.

(5) 180,000 of the shares were issued to members of a Pro Group and are escrowed.  See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to 
Contractual Restriction on Transfer”.

(6) All of these shares were issued on the IPO.

(7) All of these shares were issued upon the exercise of agent’s options granted as part of the compensation to the agent in the IPO.

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES

Stock Option Plan

The Company has adopted a “rolling” stock option plan (the “Plan”), pursuant to which a maximum of 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares of the Company at the time an option is granted, less any outstanding stock 
options previously granted, will be reserved for issuance as options and will be granted at the discretion of the
Company’s Board of Directors to eligible optionees (the “Optionees”) under the Plan. While the Plan is in effect
there can never be more than 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding Common Shares reserved for issuance 
under the Plan at any point in time. A maximum of 640,000 Common Shares may be issued under the Plan until 
completion of the Qualifying Transaction.

Until the Company completes this Qualifying Transaction and ceases to be a CPC, all stock options granted under 
the Plan are subject to the terms and conditions of Policy 2.4 of the Exchange’s policy manual.

Eligible Optionees

Under the policies of the Exchange, to be eligible for the issuance of a stock option under the Plan an Optionee must
either be a director, officer, employee, consultant or an employee of a company providing management or other
services to the Company or a subsidiary at the time the option is granted.
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Options may be granted only to an individual or to a non-individual that is wholly owned by individuals eligible for
an option grant. If the option is granted to a non-individual, it must provide the Exchange with an undertaking that it
will not permit any transfer of its securities, nor issue further securities, to any individual or other entity as long as
the option remains in effect, without the consent of the Exchange.

Material Terms of the Plan

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Plan:

a) all Options granted under the Plan are non-assignable and non-transferable for a period of up to 5 years;

b) for Options granted to employees or service providers (inclusive of management company employees), the 
Company must ensure that the proposed Optionee is a bona fide employee or service provider (inclusive of 
management company employees) as the case may be, of the Company or any subsidiary;

c) if an Optionee ceases to be employed by the Company (other than as a result of termination with cause) or 
ceases to act as a director or officer of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company, any Option held by 
such Optionee may be exercised within 90 days after the date such Optionee ceases to be an officer or 
director or, as the case may be, or within 30 days if the Optionee is engaged in Investor Relations 
Activities, provided that if a director ceases to be a director upon completion of the Qualifying Transaction, 
such options may be exercised the greater of 12 months after the completion of the Qualifying Transaction 
and 90 days after the cessation of the Optionee’s position with the Company. (No Options will be granted 
under the Plan to any person providing Investor Relations Activities until the Company ceases to be a 
CPC);

d) the minimum exercise price of an Option granted under the Plan must not be less than the Discounted 
Market Price (as defined in the policies of the Exchange);

e) options granted to technical consultants cannot exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding shares of the 
Company in any one year;

f) subject to (e) above, no Optionee can be granted an option or options to purchase more than 5% of the 
outstanding listed shares of the Company in any one year period; and

g) Common Shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares 
as at the date of completion of the Offering.

As of the date of this Prospectus, Doca has granted 600,000 options to purchase Common Shares as follows:

Optionee Number of Options Exercise Price Per Common Share Expiry Date

Kim David Morris Oishi 300,000 $0.10 July 12, 2015

Dave Doherty 150,000 $0.10 July 12, 2015

Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos 100,000 $0.10 July 12, 2015

Desmond Balakrishnan 50,000 $0.10 July 12, 2015

Proposed Grant of Stock Options

Concurrently with the completion of the Company’s Qualifying Transaction, based on the Maximum Offering, the 
Company is planning to grant 1,650,000 stock options exercisable at $0.15 per Common Share within 5 years from 
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the date of grant.  If the Maximum Offering is not achieved, the number of options to be granted will be reduced pro 
rata.  These options will be granted as follows:

Optionee Title Number of Options

Kim David Morris Oishi Director, President and Chief Executive Officer 700,000

Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos Director 50,000

Desmond Balakrishnan Corporate Secretary 50,000

Gary Ostry Director 150,000

Andrew Cook Incoming Vice President Operations 300,000

Adam Kniec Chief Financial Officer 200,000

Veronica Vinje Manager Corporate Affairs 50,000

Anna Dalaire Administration 50,000

Dave Doherty Consultant, Business Development 100,000

Total 1,650,000

TRADING PRICE AND VOLUME

The Company’s Common Shares are listed on the TSXV under the trading symbol “DCA.P”.  The following tables 
set forth information relating to the trading of the Common Shares on the TSXV for the months indicated.

Month

TSXV Price Range 

Total VolumeHigh Low

June 2011 0.295 0.20 32,000

July 2011 0.20 0.20 10,000

August 2011 0.185 0.185 4,000

September 2011 0.22 0.165 25,500

October 2011 0.155 0.15 9,000

November 2011 0.155 0.15 14,000

December 2011 0.13 0.12 179,000

January 2012 0.125 0.10 51,500

February 1 - 3 2012(1) 0.15 0.13 129,000

(1) Trading in the Common Shares was halted on February 7, 2012 pending completion of the Qualifying Transaction.
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ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL 
RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER

Designation of Class

Number of securities held in 
escrow or that are subject to a 

contractual restriction on transfer Percentage of Class

Common Shares 2,925,000(1) 45.7%

(1) 2,890,000 of these Common Shares are held in escrow pursuant to the CPC Escrow Agreement.  Pursuant to the CPC 
Escrow Agreement, 10% of the Common Shares will be released following TSX-V acceptance of the Qualifying 
Transaction and in increments of 15% every 6 months thereafter.  35,000 of these Common Shares are currently in the 
process of being deposited into escrow pursuant to the CPC Escrow Agreement.

The following table sets out, as at the date hereof, the number of Common Shares of the Company, which are held in 
escrow:

Name and Municipality of Residence 
of Shareholder No. of Common Shares held in Escrow Percentage of Class Prior to Offering

DD Mercantile Corp.(1)

Vancouver, BC
300,000 4.7%

Grand Rock Capital Inc.(2)

Vancouver, BC
1,510,000(3) 23.6%

Kim Oishi
Vancouver, BC

35,000(4)

Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos
Toronto, ON

100,000 1.6%

Desmond M. Balakrishnan
Vancouver, BC

160,001 2.5%

Clinton Sharples
Kelowna, BC

639,999 10.0%

Erroll Wong
Vancouver, B.C.

20,000 0.3%

Frank Ciccone
Burnaby, B.C.

10,000 0.2%

Leslie Allan Frame
North Vancouver, B.C.

50,000 0.8%

Phillip Watts
Charlottetown, PE

100,000 1.6%

Total 2,925,000

Notes:

(1) The Principal of which is Dave Doherty.

(2) Formerly known as 0791044 B.C. Ltd.  The Principal of which is Kim David Morris Oishi.

(3) The 40,000 Common Shares were purchased by Grand Rock Capital Inc. in the IPO.

(4) These 35,000 Common Shares are currently in the process of being deposited into escrow pursuant to the CPC Escrow Agreement.
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PRINCIPAL SECURITY HOLDER

To our knowledge, at the date of this Prospectus, no person beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises 
control or direction over Shares carrying more than 10% of the outstanding voting rights attached to Shares, other 
than the following:

Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence
Type of 

Ownership

Number of 
Common 

Shares owned 
before the 
Offering

Percentage of 
outstanding 

Shares before 
the Offering

Number of Common 
Shares owned after 
giving effect to the 

Offering

Percentage of 
outstanding Common 

Shares after giving 
effect to the Offering(2)

Kim Oishi
Vancouver, BC
Canada

Direct and Indirect 1,545,000(1) 24.1% 1,545,000 6.378%

(1) Mr. Oishi holds 35,000 shares directly and 1,510,000 shares are held indirectly through Grand Capital Rock Inc. of 
which Mr. Oishi is the principal.

(2) Assumes completion of the Offering without the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Name, Occupation and Security Holding

The following table sets forth information regarding our current directors and executive officers of the Company:

Name and Municipality of 
Residence

Current Office with 
the Company

Date of 
Appointment 
as a Director

Principal Occupation 
During Five Preceding 

Years

Number of 
Shares Held on 

Closing of 
Transaction

Percentage of 
Shares Held
on Closing of 
Transaction(3)

Kim David Morris Oishi(1) (2)

Vancouver, BC
Canada

Chairman of the 
Board, President, 
Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer  and 
Director

July 27, 2009 President of Grand Rock 
Capital Inc. since May 
2007; Senior Vice 
President, Finance of 
Hanwei Energy Services 
Inc. from May 2007 to 
May 2010

1,545,000 6.378%

Dave J. Doherty(1)

Vancouver, BC
Canada 

Director July 27, 2009 Independent Corporate 
Advisor since October 
2007;  Investment Advisor 
of Canaccord Capital 
Corporation from March 
1997 to September 2007

300,000 1.239%

Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos(1) (2)

Toronto, ON
Canada

Director May 7, 2010 Partner of First Growth 
Management since June 
2005

100,000 0.413%

Adam Kniec
150 Mile House, BC
Canada

Incoming Chief 
Financial Officer

N/A President of ArkOrion 
Enterprises Inc. since 
August 2007

N/A N/A

Notes:

(1) Current members of the Audit Committee.

(2) Members of the Audit Committee upon completion of the Transaction.

(3) Assumes completion of the Maximum Offering without the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. 
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Each of the directors of the Company will hold office until the next annual meeting of the shareholders of the 
Company pursuant to the BCBCA, or unless his office is earlier vacated in accordance with the Articles of the 
Company, or with the provisions of the BCBCA.

As of the date hereof, our directors and executive officers, as a group, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or 
exercise control or direction over 1,945,000 Shares, representing 30.4% of our issued and outstanding Shares.

Management and Key Personnel

Upon completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the proposed management and the board of directors of the 
Company is as follows:  

Kim David Morris Oishi, Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Mr. Oishi has more than fifteen years experience in financing and advising growth companies, and has served in 
senior management and board positions on a number of public and private companies. Mr. Oishi is the Founder and 
President of Grand Rock Capital Inc., a company that invests in growth companies based in China, and provides 
consulting services for investor relations, corporate finance, business development, mergers and acquisitions for 
companies listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). He is currently a director of China Health Labs & 
Diagnostics Ltd., a company listed on the TSXV (TSXV: CHO).  Since June 2007, Mr. Oishi has been serving on 
the board of Zongshen PEM Power Systems Inc., a TSX listed company that manufactures and sells gas and electric 
motorcycles in China (TSX: ZPP). Since June 2011 Mr. Oishi has been serving on the board of Liberty Mines Inc. 
(TSX: LBE).

Previously, Mr. Oishi was the Senior Vice President, Finance and Business Development of Hanwei Energy 
Services Corp. (TSX: HE), an energy services company with products for oil, wind power and clean coal in China, a 
position he held from May 2007 to May 2010.  Mr. Oishi was also a director of Hanfeng Evergreen Inc., a specialty 
fertilizer manufacturer in China from March 2006 to March 2008 and served as President until March 2006 (TSX: 
HF).  He was a director of Cantronic Systems Inc., a developer of infrared imaging and night vision systems, from 
March 2009 to June 2010 (TSXV: CTS).  Mr. Oishi was a director of Grand Power Logistics Group Inc., a logistics 
and fright forwarding company that is listed on the TSXV (TSXV: GPW) from December 2007 until November 
2010. 

Mr. Oishi received a Bachelor of Sciences degree from the University of British Columbia in May 1989 and 
received a MBA from the University of British Columbia in May 1993.

Mr. Oishi will devote approximately 75% of his time to the business of the Company.

Dave Doherty, Director

Mr. Doherty brings over 12 years of investment and finance experience to the Company. Mr. Doherty is currently an 
independent corporate advisor and was an investment advisor with Canaccord Capital Corporation from March 1997 
to September 2007. Mr. Doherty was a director of Dagilev Capital Corp. (now called “Astur Gold Corp.”), a TSXV 
listed issuer, from September 2007 until April 2010.  Mr. Doherty was a director of Lonestar Capital Corp. (now 
Acro Energy Technologies Corp.), a TSXV listed issuer, from March 2007 until February 2009. He has been a 
director of Blue Cove Capital Corp. (now CuOro Resources Corp.), a TSXV listed issuer, since June 2010.
Mr. Doherty has been the Chief Executive Officer of Inform Exploration Corp., a TSXV listed issuer, since 
September 2010 and Chief Executive Officer of DD Mercantile Corp., a private company, since September 2007.

Mr. Doherty received a Bachelor of Arts Degree from Simon Fraser University in May 1994.

Mr. Doherty will resign as a director of the Company upon completion of the Transaction. The Company plans to 
engage Mr. Doherty as a business development consultant after Closing.
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Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos, Director

Mr. Mitrakos has been a Partner of First Growth Management Inc., a private investment company, since June 2005. 
Prior to that, Mr. Mitrakos held senior positions in finance and administration in the transportation and recycling 
industries and as an auditor for Arthur Anderson LLP.  He was a director and Chief Financial Officer of Infinity 
Alliance Venture Inc. (now CBM Asia Development Corp.), an Exchange listed issuer from February 2007 to 
August 2008. 

Mr. Mitrakos received a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Toronto in June, 1997.  Mr. Mitrakos 
has been a Chartered Accountant since May 2000.

Mr. Mitrakos will devote approximately 10% of his time to the business of the Company.

Gary Ostry, Incoming Director

Mr. Ostry graduated with a BSc (Hons) in geology from the University of Manitoba in 1975 and received a Bachelor 
of Laws degree from Queens University in Kingston, Ontario in 1981. He is currently registered as a Professional 
Geoscientist in the province of Manitoba. After working as an exploration geologist on projects across Canada, Mr. 
Ostry was employed by the Manitoba Government in 1984 as a mineral deposits geologist, and served as Manager 
of Minerals Policy and Business Development for 15 years until 2009. Mr. Ostry is currently a private consultant 
advising on business development and policy in the minerals industry.  

Mr. Ostry is currently on the board of directors of another public company in the resource sector and is familiar with 
its financial reporting requirements.  Also, during Mr. Ostry’s time with the Manitoba Government, he was 
responsible for business development programs, including the Manitoba Mineral Exploration Assistance Program 
and the Manitoba Prospectors Assistance Program, and for reporting on all fiscal matters related to these programs.

Mr. Ostry will be appointed a director immediately on completion of the Qualifying Transaction.  Mr. Ostry will 
devote approximately 10% of his time to the business of the Company.

Dan Ziehlke, Incoming Vice President Exploration

Mr. Ziehlke graduated with a BSc (Hons) from the University of Manitoba in 1971, and a MSc in Structural 
Geology from the University of Manitoba in 1973.  He is currently a registered P.Geo with the Association of 
Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of the Province of Manitoba.  Mr. Ziehlke is, and has been the President 
and Chief Operating Officer of Strider Resources Limited since May 1988.  Strider Resources Limited is a private 
company incorporated under the laws of Manitoba.

Mr. Ziehlke will be appointed as Vice President, Exploration immediately on completion of the Qualifying 
Transaction.

Mr. Ziehlke will devote approximately 75% of his time to the business of the Company.

Andrew Cook, Incoming Vice President Operations

Mr. Cook has been involved in the securities industry since 1980 having initiated several listings of public 
companies. He is currently CEO and President of Cuprus Mining Corporation, a private gold exploration company.  
Formerly, Mr. Cook was the Chief Operating Officer of Black Pearl Minerals Consolidated Inc., the former CEO of 
Rare Earth Metals Inc. (now VMS Ventures Inc.) and the former CEO of Scorpio Mining Corporation. He has been
responsible for the day-to-day operations of these companies as well as financing, liaising with accounting, legal and 
regulatory processes.

Mr. Cook studied Business Administration at Capilano College in North Vancouver, and received his Canadian 
Securities Course diploma in 1984.
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Mr. Cook is the incoming Vice President Operations, and will be appointed to such position immediately upon 
completion of the Transaction.  Mr. Cook will devote approximately 75% of his time to the business of the 
Company.

Adam Kniec, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Kniec has been the President and sole owner of ArkOrion Enterprises Inc., a private British Columbia company, 
since August 2007.  Mr. Kniec holds a Chartered Accountant’s degree from the Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
British Columbia (since 2002) and a United States Certified Public Accountant designation (Illinois) (since 2003).  
He is presently Chief Financial Officer of Otterburn Resources Corp. (TSXV; since May 2010); Smash Minerals 
Corp. (TSXV; since November 2010); and Petro Vista Energy Corp. (TSXV since January 2008).  He was formerly 
Chief Financial Officer of Nortec Ventures Corp. (TSXV; October 2007 to January 2009); Frontier Pacific Mining 
Corporation (TSXV; October 2007 to July 2008); Crosshair Exploration & Mining Corp. (TSX; NYSE; September 
2009 to February 2011) and China Health Labs & Diagnostics Ltd. (TSXV; from October 2010 to August 2011).  
He was a Senior Manager and employee at PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered Accountants, Vancouver, B.C. from 
August 2006 to August 2007 and a Manager and employee of Staley, Okada & Partners, Chartered Accountants, 
Vancouver, B.C. from February 1998 to July 2006.

Mr. Kniec will devote approximately 40% of his time to the business of the Company.

Desmond M. Balakrishnan, Corporate Secretary

Mr. Balakrishnan is a Vancouver lawyer and has practiced law as a partner at the Vancouver office of McMillan 
LLP since February 2002.  Mr. Balakrishnan was the Corporate Secretary of AM Gold Inc. (formerly Acero-Martin 
Exploration Inc., an Exchange listed issuer, from November 2001 to June 2009 and was the Chief Financial Officer 
from May 2002 to June 2003.  Mr. Balakrishnan has been the Secretary of Yankee Hat Minerals Ltd., an Exchange 
listed issuer, since January 2005.  Mr. Balakrishnan has also been a director of Copacabana Capital Ltd., an 
Exchange listed issuer, since June 2005.  From June 2006 to October 2010, Mr. Balakrishnan was the Assistant 
Corporate Secretary of Great Canadian Gaming Corporation, a Toronto Stock Exchange listed issuer and was the 
Corporate Secretary from October 2010 to November 2011.  Mr. Balakrishnan served as Corporate Secretary of 
Iciena Ventures Inc., an Exchange listed issuer from October 2006 to July 2008 and from October 2008 to 
December 2009.  As of May 2008, Mr. Balakrishnan has been the Corporate Secretary of Network Exploration Ltd., 
an Exchange listed issuer.  Mr. Balakrishnan was a director of Probe Resources Ltd., an Exchange listed issuer, from 
November 2007 to March 2011.  Mr. Balakrishnan has been the Corporate Secretary of Electric Metals Inc. 
(formerly Amerpro Resources Inc.), an Exchange listed issuer, since June 2009.  Mr. Balakrishnan was Corporate 
Secretary of Capella Resources Ltd., an Exchange listed issuer from July 2006 until January 2009.  Mr. 
Balakrishnan was Corporate Secretary of Evolving Gold Corp, an Exchange listed issuer from May 2007 to 
September 2008 and has been the Assistant Corporate Secretary since December 2010.  Mr. Balakrishnan was also a 
director of Halmont Properties Corporation (formerly HAL Concepts Ltd.) from October 2003 to December 2003.  
Mr. Balakrishan was the Corporate Secretary of Aroway Energy Inc. (formerly Aroway Minerals Inc.), an Exchange 
listed issuer, from July 2009 to October 2011 and has been a Director since July 30, 2010.

Mr. Balakrishnan received his Law Degree from the University of Alberta in August 1997 and was called to the 
British Columbia Bar in May 1998.  He received his Bachelor of Arts from Simon Fraser University in August 1994.

Corporate Cease Trade Orders

To the best of our knowledge no current director or executive officer of the Company is, as at the date of this 
Prospectus, or was, within 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, a director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer of any company (including the Company), that:

(a) was subject to an order that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the 
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or
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(b) was subject to an order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, 
chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred 
while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial 
officer.

For the purposes of the above paragraphs, “order” means a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order; 
or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect 
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

Bankruptcies

To the best of our knowledge no director or executive officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company:

(a) is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or has been within the 10 years before the date of this 
Prospectus, a director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while that 
person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 
became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director, executive officer or shareholder.

Penalties or Sanctions

To the best of our knowledge no director or executive officer of the Company or a shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to:

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory 
authority; or

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

Conflicts of Interest

To the best of our knowledge there are no known existing or potential material conflicts of interest among the 
Company and the Company’s directors, officers or other members of management, as a result of their outside 
business interests except that certain of our directors and officers serve as directors and officers of other companies, 
and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to us and their duties as a director or officer 
of such companies. In the event of such a conflict of interest, the Company will follow the requirements and 
procedures of applicable corporate and securities legislation and applicable exchange policies, including the relevant 
provisions of the BCBCA.

Other Reporting Issuer Experience

The following table sets out the proposed directors and officers of the Company that are, or have been within the last 
five years, directors, officers or promoters of other reporting issuers.  In the following tables, “TSX” means Toronto 
Stock Exchange and “TSX-V” means TSX Venture Exchange Inc.
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Kim David Morris Oishi, Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Mr. Oishi is, or was within the past five years, an officer and/or director of the following public companies:

Name of Reporting Issuer
Name of

Trading Market Position From To

China Health Labs & Diagnostics Ltd. TSX-V Director December 2009 Present

Zongshen PEM Power Systems Inc. TSX Director June 2007 Present

Liberty Mines Inc. TSX Director June 2011 Present

Hanfeng Evergreen Inc. TSX Director March 2006 March 2008

Hanwei Energy Services Corp. TSX Senior Vice President, 
Finance and Business 
Development

May 2007 May 2010

Cantronic Systems Inc. TSX-V Director March 2009 June 2010

Grand Power Logistics Group Inc. TSX-V Director December 2007 November 2010

KCO Capital Inc. Not yet trading
CEO, CFO and 
Director August 2011 Present

Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos, Director

Mr. Mitrakos  is, or was within the past five years, an officer and/or director of the following public companies:

Name of Reporting Issuer
Name of

Trading Market Position From To

CBM Asia Development Corp.
(formerly Infinity Alliance Venture Inc.)

TSX-V Director February 2007 August 2008

Gary Ostry, Incoming Director

Mr. Ostry is, or was within the past five years, an officer and/or director of the following public companies:

Name of Reporting Issuer
Name of

Trading Market Position From To

Halo Resources Ltd. TSX-V Director March 2010 Present

Andrew Cook, Incoming Vice President Operations

Mr. Cook is, or was within the past five years, an officer and/or director of the following public companies:

Name of Reporting Issuer
Name of

Trading Market Position From To

Canada Lithium Corp.
(formerly Black Pearl Minerals 
Consolidated Inc.)

TSX Chief Operating Officer February 2008 March 2009

China Health Labs & Diagnostics Ltd.
(formerly CCS Capital Corp)

TSX-V Director July 2009 October 2010

KCO Capital Inc. Not yet trading Director August 2011 Present
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Adam Kniec, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Kniec is, or was within the past five years, an officer and/or director of the following public companies:

Name of Reporting Issuer
Name of

Trading Market Position From To

Otterburn Resources Corp. TSX-V Chief Financial Officer May 2010 Present

Smash Minerals Corp. TSX-V Chief Financial Officer November 2010 Present

Petro Vista Energy Corp. TSX-V Chief Financial Officer January 2008 Present

China Health Labs & Diagnostics 
Ltd.

TSX-V Chief Financial Officer October 2010 August 2011

Crosshair Exploration & Mining 
Corp.

TSX and NYSE 
Amex

Chief Financial Officer September 2009 February 2011

Nortec Ventures Corp. TSX-V Chief Financial Officer October 2007 January 2009

Frontier Pacific Mining 
Corporation

TSX-V Chief Financial Officer October 2007 July 2008

KCO Capital Inc. Not yet trading Director August 2011 Present

Desmond M. Balakrishnan, Corporate Secretary

Mr. Balakrishnan is, or was within the past five years, an officer and/or director of the following public companies:

Name of Reporting Issuer
Name of

Trading Market Position From To

AM Gold Inc. TSX-V Corporate Secretary November 2001 June 2009

Aroway Energy Inc. TSX-V Corporate Secretary July 2009 October 2011

Director July 2010 Present

Capella Resources Ltd. TSX-V Corporate Secretary July 2006 January 2009

Copacabana Capital Ltd. TSX-V Director June 2005 Present

Electric Metals Inc. TSX-V Corporate Secretary June 2009 Present

Evolving Gold Corp. TSX-V Corporate Secretary May 2007 September 2008

Assistant Corporate 
Secretary

December 2010 Present

Great Canadian Gaming 
Corporation

TSX Assistant Corporate 
Secretary

June 2006 October 2010

Corporate Secretary October 2010 Present

Iciena Ventures Inc. TSX-V Corporate Secretary October 2006 July 2008

October 2008 December 2009

Network Exploration Ltd. TSX-V Secretary May 2008 Present

Rooster Energy Ltd.
(formerly Probe Resources Ltd.)

TSX-V Director November 2007 March 2011

Yankee Hat Minerals Ltd. TSX-V Secretary January 2005 Present
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive Compensation

In this section “Named Executive Officer” means (a) the Chief Executive Officer (or an individual who acted in a 
similar capacity), (b) the Chief Financial Officer (or an individual who acted in a similar capacity), (c) each of the 
Company’s three other most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly compensated 
individuals acting in a similar capacity (except those whose total salary and bonus does not exceed $150,000), and 
(d) each individual who would be an Named Executive Officer under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the 
individual was neither an executive officer of the company, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that 
financial year. The Company presently has one Named Executive Officer, namely Kim David Morris Oishi, the 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (the “NEO”).

All dollar amounts referenced herein are Canadian Dollars unless otherwise specified.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The Company is a “capital pool company” or “CPC” in accordance with the policies of the TSXV and, at present, 
does not conduct any active business operations. Until such time as a “Qualifying Transaction” has been identified, 
no compensation will be paid to any NEO. 

The NEO is not compensated for his services as executive officer of the Company, except for the granting from time 
to time of incentive stock options in accordance with the policies of the TSXV. On January 12, 2010, the Company 
granted a total of 600,000 stock options to its directors (300,000 to the NEO). These options are exercisable until 
July 12, 2015 at an exercise price of $0.10 per Common Share. The purpose of granting such options is to assist the 
Company in compensating, attracting, retaining and motivating its NEO and directors and to closely align the 
personal interests of such persons to that of the shareholders. The exercise price of the stock options was established 
by the Company’s directors in accordance with the policies of the TSXV and was based on the initial public offering 
price of the Company’s shares. The options were granted pursuant to the Share Option Plan of the Company.

Summary of Compensation

The compensation paid to, or earned by, the NEO during the Company’s financial years ended November 30, 2010 
and November 30, 2011 are as set out below:

Summary Compensation Table

Name  and 
principal 
position

Year Salary
($)

Share-
based 

awards
($)

Option-
based 

awards
($)

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation

($)
Pension 

value
($)

All other 
compensation

($)

Total 
Compensation

($)

Annual 
incentive 

plans

Long-term
incentive 

plans

Kim D.M. Oishi
President, CEO, 
CFO and Director 

2011 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

2010 Nil Nil 22,578 Nil Nil Nil Nil 22,578

Incentive Plan Awards

The Company does not have any share-based awards.

The Company currently has in place a share option plan which was approved by the Board on December 4, 2009 and 
amended on February 1, 2011 for the purpose of attracting and motivating directors, officers, employees and 
consultants of the Company and advancing the interests of the Company by affording such person with the 
opportunity to acquire an equity interest in the Company through rights granted under the plan to purchase shares of 
the Company.
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The following table discloses the particulars of the option based awards outstanding for the NEO as at November 30, 
2011:

Option-based Awards

Name

Number of securities 
underlying unexercised 

options(1)

(#)
Option exercise price

($)
Option expiration 

date

Value of unexercised in-the-
money options

($)(1)

Kim D. M. Oishi 300,000 $0.10 July 12, 2015 15,000

Note:

(1) These options were granted effective the date of listing of the Company’s Common Shares on the TSXV (July 12, 
2010). “In-the-Money Options” means the excess of the market value of the Company’s shares on November 30, 2011
over the exercise price of the options. On November 30, 2011 the Common Shares of the Company were trading at 
$0.15 per Common Share.

Value Vested or Earned for Incentive Plan Awards during the most recently completed financial year

The following table sets out all incentive plans (value vested or earned) during the year ended November 30, 2011
for each NEO: 

Name

Option-based awards –
Value vested during the 

year(1)

($)

Share-based awards –
Value vested during the 

year
($)

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation – Value 
earned during the year

($)

Kim D. M. Oishi Nil Nil Nil

Note:

(1) These amounts represent the aggregate dollar value that would have been realized if the options under the option-based 
award had been exercised on the vesting date.  The value of each amount has been determined by taking the difference 
between the market price of the option at date of exercise and the exercise or base price of the option under the option-based 
award on the vest date.  The Common Shares were not trading as at February 7, 2012. The Common Shares have been 
voluntarily halted from trading pending completion of its Qualifying Transaction, and did not have a market price as at 
February 7, 2012.

Pension Plan Benefits

The Company does not have any pension or retirement plan.

Termination and Change of Control Benefits

The Company does not have any employment contracts with the NEO. In addition, there are no compensatory plans, 
contracts or arrangements in place with the NEO resulting from the resignation, retirement or any other termination 
of employment of the NEO with the Company or from a change in control of the Company or a change in the 
NEO’s responsibilities following a change in control.

Director Compensation

The Company has no arrangements, standard or otherwise, pursuant to which directors are compensated by the 
Company for their services in their capacity as directors, or for committee participation, except for the granting from 
time to time of incentive stock options in accordance with the policies of the TSXV. The purpose of granting such 
options is to assist the Company in compensating, attracting, retaining and motivating the directors of the Company
and to closely align the personal interests of such persons to that of the shareholders.

Compensation for the NEO has been disclosed in the “Summary Compensation Table” above. 
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The following table discloses the particulars of the compensation provided to the directors of the Company (not 
including the NEO) during its financial years ended November 30, 2010 and November 30, 2011:  

Name(1)

Year

Fees 
earned

($)

Share-
based

Awards
($)

Option
-based 
awards

($)

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation

($)

Pension 
value

($)

All other 
compensation

($)
Total

($)

David J. Doherty 2011 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

2010 Nil Nil 11,289 Nil Nil Nil 11,289

Dimitrios (Jim) 
Mitrakos

2011 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

2010 Nil Nil 7,526 Nil Nil Nil 7,526

The following table discloses the particulars of the option based awards outstanding for directors, excluding a 
director who is not a NEO, as at November 30, 2011:

Option-based Awards

Name

Number of securities 
underlying unexercised 

options
(#)

Option exercise price
($)

Option expiration 
date

Value of unexercised in-the-
money options

($)(1)

David J. Doherty 150,000 0.10 July 12, 2015 7,500

Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos 100,000 0.10 July 12, 2015 5,000

(1) These options were granted effective the date of listing of the Company’s Common Shares on the TSXV (July 12, 2010).  
“In-the-Money Options” means the excess of the market value of the Company’s shares on November 30, 2011 over the 
exercise price of the options. On November 30, 2011 the Common Shares of the Company were trading at $0.15 per 
Common Share.

Post-Qualifying Transaction Director Compensation

After completion of the Qualifying Transaction, in addition to granting stock options as described in the Options to 
Purchase Securities section, the Company is planning to pay to each director an annual fee of $12,000 plus an annual 
fee of $2,000 for each Committee Chair.  The fees will be paid on quarterly basis.

Post-Qualifying Transaction Executive Compensation

After completion of the Qualifying Transaction, in addition to granting stock options as described in the Options to 
Purchase Securities section, the Company is planning to pay $5,000 a month to Kim Oishi for his services as 
President and Chief Executive Officer, $5,000 to Dan Ziehlke for his services as Vice President Explorations, 
$5,000 a months to Andrew Cook for his services as Vice President Operations, and $5,000 a month to Adam Kniec 
for his services as Chief Financial Officer.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

No director, executive officer, employee, former director, former executive officer or former employee of the 
Company is or has within 30 days before the date of this Prospectus been indebted to the Company or another entity 
whose indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar agreement provided 
by the Company, except for routine indebtedness.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Audit Committee Charter

The full text of the charter of the Audit Committee is attached as Appendix B to this Prospectus.

Composition of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is currently composed of Kim David Morris Oishi, Dave J. Doherty and Dimitrios (Jim) 
Mitrakos.  Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  Upon completion of the Transaction, 
Dave J. Doherty will resign from the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee, and in his place, Gary Ostry will 
be appointed to the Audit Committee.  Messrs. Doherty, Ostry and Mitrakos are independent as defined in National 
Instrument 52-110 (“NI 52-110”).  As Mr. Oishi is the President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, he is not considered independent.  Each of the members of the Audit Committee is 
considered financially literate as that term is used in NI 52-110.

Relevant Education and Experience

For details regarding the experience of each member of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee that is 
relevant to the performance of his responsibilities as an Audit and Corporate Governance Committee member refer 
to “Directors and Executive Officers”.

Audit Committee Oversight

The Audit Committee has not made any recommendations to the Board to nominate or compensate any auditor other 
than Davidson & Company LLP.

Reliance on Certain Exemptions

The Company has not, since the commencement of its most recently completed financial year, relied on (a) the 
exemption in section 2.4 of NI 52-110 (De Minimis Non-audit Services), or (b) an exemption, in whole or in part, 
granted under Part 8 (Exemptions) of NI 52-110.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Refer to the Audit Committee Charter for policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services.

External Auditor Service Fees

The Audit Committee has reviewed the nature and amount of the non-audited services provided by Davidson & 
Company LLP to the Company to ensure auditor independence.  Fees billed by Davidson & Company LLP for audit 
and non-audit services are outlined in the following table:

Nature of Services

Fees Billed by Auditor 
during the Year Ended 

November 30, 2010

Fees Billed by Auditor 
during the Year Ended 

November 30, 2011

Fees Billed by Auditor 
during the Six-Month 
Period Ended May 31, 

2012

Audit Fees(1) $17,340 $10,200 $10,200

Audit-Related Fees(2) – – –

Tax Fees(3) – $2,500 –

All Other Fees(4) – – 1,700
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Nature of Services

Fees Billed by Auditor 
during the Year Ended 

November 30, 2010

Fees Billed by Auditor 
during the Year Ended 

November 30, 2011

Fees Billed by Auditor 
during the Six-Month 
Period Ended May 31, 

2012

Total $17,340 $12,700 $11,900

Notes:

(1) “Audit Fees” include fees necessary to perform the annual audit and quarterly reviews of the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.  Audit Fees include fees for review of tax provisions and for accounting consultations on matters reflected in 
the financial statements.  Audit Fees also include audit or other attest services required by legislation or regulation, such as 
comfort letters, consents, reviews of securities filings and statutory audits. 

(2) “Audit-Related Fees” include services that are traditionally performed by the auditor.  These audit-related services 
include employee benefit audits, due diligence assistance, accounting consultations on proposed transactions, internal control 
reviews and audit or attest services not required by legislation or regulations.

(3) “Tax Fees” include fees for all tax services other than those included in “Audit Fees” and “Audit-Related Fees”.  This 
category includes fees for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.  Tax planning and tax advice includes assistance with tax 
audits and appeals, tax advice related to mergers and acquisitions, and requests for rulings or technical advice from tax 
authorities.

(4) “All Other Fees” include all other non-audit services.

Exemption

The Company is relying upon the exemption in section 6.1 of NI 52-110 in respect of the composition of its Audit 
Committee and in respect of its reporting obligations under NI 52-110 for the year ended November 30, 2010.  This 
exemption exempts a “venture issuer” from the requirement to have 100% of the members of its Audit Committee 
independent, as would otherwise be required by NI 52-110.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

General

Corporate governance refers to the policies and structure of the board of directors of a company, whose members are 
elected by and are accountable to the shareholders of the company.  Corporate governance encourages establishing a 
reasonable degree of independence of the board of directors from executive management and the adoption of 
policies to ensure the board of directors recognizes the principles of good management.  The Board is committed to 
sound corporate governance practices, as such practices are both in the interests of shareholders and help to 
contribute to effective and efficient decision-making.

Board of Directors

Directors are considered to be independent if they have no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company.  
A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the view of the Company’s Board of Directors, be 
reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of a director’s independent judgment. 

A majority of the Board is independent. Messrs. Doherty and Dimitrios are independent. As Mr. Oishi is the 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, he is not considered independent. 
The Board facilitates its independent supervision over management by conducting a quarterly review of the 
Company’s financial statements and management discussion and analysis as well as requiring material transactions 
to be approved by the Board prior to the transaction taking place.

Directorships

The following directors are presently serving on the boards of other reporting companies or equivalent as follows:
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Name Name of Reporting Issuer Name or Exchange or Market

Kim David Morris Oishi China Health Labs & Diagnostics 
Ltd. 

TSXV(1)

Zongshen PEM Power Systems Inc. TSX(2)

Liberty Mines Inc. TSX(2)

Dave Doherty Blue Cove Capital Corp. TSXV(1)

Notes:
1. TSXV means the TSX Venture Exchange.

2. TSX means the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Orientation and Continuing Education

When new directors are appointed, they receive an orientation, commensurate with their previous experience, on the 
Company’s properties, business, technology and industry and on the responsibilities of directors.

Board meetings may also include presentations by the Company’s management and employees to give the directors 
additional insight into the Company’s business. 

Ethical Business Conduct

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing corporate 
legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual 
directors’ participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to ensure 
that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company.

Nomination of Directors

The Board considers its size each year when it considers the number of directors to recommend to the shareholders 
for election at the annual meeting of shareholders, taking into account the number required to carry out the Board’s 
duties effectively and to maintain a diversity of views and experience.

The Board does not have a nominating committee, and these functions are currently performed by the Board as a 
whole.  However, if there is a change in the number of directors required by the Company, this policy will be 
reviewed.

Other Board Committees

The Board has no other committees other than the Audit Committee.

Assessments

The Board monitors the adequacy of information given to directors, communication between the Board and 
management and the strategic direction and processes of the Board and committees.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The Offering

The Offering consists of a minimum of 12,666,667 Shares and a maximum of 16,666,666 Shares, at an Offering 
Price of $0.15 each, to raise gross proceeds of $1,900,000 and $2,500,000, respectively (not including proceeds from 
the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option).  After deduction of the Agent’s fee of $152,000 (based on the Minimum 
Offering) or $200,000 (based on the Maximum Offering), net proceeds to the Company are expected to be
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$1,748,000 (based on the Minimum Offering) or $2,300,000 (based on the Maximum Offering) before deduction of 
other expenses of the Offering.

The Company engaged the Agent as its exclusive agent for the purposes of the Offering.  Pursuant to the Agency 
Agreement, the Company, through the Agent, offers for sale to the public under this Prospectus, on a commercially 
reasonable efforts basis, the Offered Shares at the Offering Price. Subscriptions will be payable in cash against 
delivery of certificates representing the Offered Shares.  Subscriptions will be received subject to rejection or 
allotment in whole or in part and the right is reserved to close the subscription books at any time without notice. 

The Offering Price was established through negotiation between Doca and the Agent.  The Agent will agree to use 
commercially reasonable efforts to secure subscriptions for Offered Shares in the provinces of British Columbia, 
Ontario, Manitoba and Alberta. This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Offered Shares to the subscribers in 
those jurisdictions.  The Agent may, in connection with the Offering and in its sole discretion, incorporate a selling 
group pursuant to typical Canadian Investment Banking practices.

The Agent is not obligated to purchase any Common Shares in connection with this Offering.  The duties and 
obligations of the Agent under this Offering are subject to the Agency Agreement, which may be terminated at any 
time in the Agent’s discretion on the basis of its assessment of the state of the financial markets, and may also be 
terminated upon the occurrence of certain other events.

Subscriptions will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the right to close the 
subscription books at any time without notice is reserved. Subscriptions for 12,666,667 Shares for total gross 
proceeds of $1,900,000 must be raised within 90 days of the issuance of a receipt for the final prospectus (being 
December 12, 2012), unless an amendment to the final prospectus is filed and receipted in which case the 
distribution must close within 90 days of the receipt for the amended Prospectus, and in any case not later than 180 
days from the date of the issuance of a receipt for the final prospectus, or such other time as may be consented to by 
the Agent and persons or companies that subscribed for Shares within such period.  If the Agent is unable to receive 
subscriptions for a total of 12,666,667 Shares (based on the Minimum Offering), all subscription monies will be 
returned to subscribers without interest or deduction, unless subscribers have otherwise instructed the Agent.

Directors, officers and other insiders of Doca may purchase Offered Shares pursuant to the Offering.

The Transaction

In connection with the Transaction, the Company has entered into a Finder’s Fee Agreement with the Finder and has 
agreed to issue the Finder’s Fee Shares to the Finder upon closing of the Transaction.  See “Material Contracts”.  
The Finder is a corporation that is controlled by Andrew Cook, the incoming Vice President of Operations of the 
Company.  This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Finder’s Fee Shares.

Over-Allotment Option

Doca has granted the Agent the Over-Allotment Option, exercisable in full or in part at any time not later than 30
days after the Closing of the Offering, to arrange for the sale of up to an additional 2,500,000 Shares at the Offering 
Price for the purpose of covering over-allotments and for market stabilization purposes.  If the Over-Allotment 
Option is exercised in full, the gross proceeds of the Offering will be $2,875,000, the Agents’ fee will be $230,000
and the net proceeds to the Company, before deducting the estimated expenses of the Offering, will be $2,645,000. 

Pursuant to policies of certain securities regulators, the Agent may not, throughout the period of distribution under 
this Prospectus, bid for or purchase Common Shares.  The foregoing restriction is subject to certain exceptions, on 
the condition that the bid or purchase not be engaged in for the purpose of creating actual or apparent active trading 
in or raising the price of the Common Shares.  These exceptions include a bid or purchase permitted under the by-
laws and rules of the Exchange relating to market stabilization and passive market-making activities, and a bid or 
purchase made for or on behalf of a client where the client’s order was not solicited during the period of distribution.  
The Company has been advised that the Agent may engage in market stabilization or market balancing activities on 
the Exchange where the bid for or purchase of the Common Shares is for the purpose of maintaining a fair and 
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orderly market in the Common Shares, subject to price limitations applicable to such bids or purchases.  Such 
transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. 

A purchaser who acquires Offered Shares forming part of the Over-Allotment Option acquires those Offered Shares
under this Prospectus, regardless of whether the Over-Allotment Option is ultimately filled through the exercised 
through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases.

The Agent may, prior to the closing of the Offering, over-allocate a number of Common Shares which does not 
exceed the 2,500,000 Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, in order to hold a 
short position in such securities.  This over-allocation position allows the Agent to engage in limited market 
stabilization to compensate for the increased liquidity in the market.  If the market price of the Common Shares is 
below the Offering Price, the short position created by the over-allocation position in Common Shares may be filled 
through purchases in the market, creating upward pressure on the price of the Common Shares.  If the market price 
of the Common Shares is above the Offering Price, the over-allocation position in Common Shares may be filled 
through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option in respect of Common Shares at the Offering Price.

Agent’s Compensation

Doca has agreed to pay the Agent a cash commission equal to 8% of the gross proceeds from the sale of Offered 
Shares.  Assuming all Offered Shares carry a cash commission of 8% and the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in 
full, the cash commission payable to the Agent will be $230,000.  

In addition, the Agent is entitled to receive, upon successful completion of the Offering, as part of its remuneration, 
Agent’s Warrants entitling the Agent to purchase that number of Common Shares as is equal to 10% of the number 
of Offered Shares sold pursuant to this Offering.  The Agent’s Warrants will be exercisable at the Offering Price for 
a period of 24 months after the closing of the Offering.

The company will also pay to the Agent the Agent’s Work Fee of $75,000 ($32,500 of which has been paid), a non-
refundable administrative work fee of $3,000 (paid) and issue to the Agent the Agent’s Corporate Finance Shares
(up to 402,500 common shares on Closing of the Offering, assuming a full exercise of the Over-Allotment Option).  

This Prospectus qualifies for distribution the Agent’s Warrants and the Corporate Finance Shares to the extent 
permitted by National Instrument 41-101 (“NI 41-101”).  NI 41-101 restricts the maximum number of securities 
being issued to an agent as compensation that may be qualified under a prospectus (“Qualified Compensation 
Securities”), to not more than 10% of the number of securities being offered; which in the case of the Maximum 
Offering equates to 1,666,666 Shares (1,916,666 Shares if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised).  For the 
purposes of this Offering, any combination of Agent’s Warrants and Corporate Finance Shares totalling up to 10% 
of the number of Shares sold are Qualified Compensation Securities and are qualified for distribution by this 
Prospectus.  To the extent that the Agent is entitled to receive securities as compensation exceeding 10% of the 
Shares sold, those securities exceeding the 10% threshold will not be Qualified Compensation Securities, will not be 
qualified for distribution under this Prospectus and will be subject to a four month hold period in accordance with 
applicable securities laws.  See “Plan of Distribution”.

The Agent will be reimbursed all reasonable expenses and fees in connection with the Offering ($25,000 retainer 
paid) as well as receive an administrative work fee of $3,000 (paid).

RISK FACTORS

The following are certain risk factors relating to the Company which prospective investors should carefully consider 
before deciding whether to purchase Common Shares. The following information is a summary only of certain risk 
factors and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction with, the detailed information 
appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. Additional risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks and 
uncertainties the Company faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Company or that the 
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Company currently deems immaterial also may impair our business operations. If any of the following risks actually 
occur, the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition, could suffer.

An investment in the Common Shares is speculative and subject to a number of risks that you should consider. An 
investment in the Common Shares is only suitable to those who can afford a total loss of their investment. No 
stability rating for the Common Shares has been applied for or obtained from any rating agency. There is currently 
no market through which the Common Shares may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell the Common 
Shares purchased under this Prospectus.

Exploration and Development

Mineral exploration and development involves a high degree risk and few properties which are explored are 
ultimately developed into producing mines. With respect to the Company’s properties, should any ore reserves exist, 
substantial expenditures will be required to confirm ore reserves which are sufficient to commercially mine and to 
obtain the required environmental approvals and permitting required to commence commercial operations. Should 
any resources be defined on such properties there can be no assurance that the mineral resources on such properties 
can be commercially mined or that the metallurgical processing will produce economically viable or saleable 
products. The decision as to whether a property contains a commercial mineral deposit and should be brought into 
production will depend upon the results of exploration programs and/or feasibility studies, and the recommendations 
of duly qualified engineers and/or geologists, all of which involves significant expense. This decision will involve 
consideration and evaluation of several significant factors including, but not limited to: (1) costs of bringing a 
property into production, including exploration and development work, preparation of production feasibility studies 
and of construction of production facilities; (2) availability and costs of financing; (3) ongoing costs of production; 
(4) market prices for the minerals to be produced; (5) environmental compliance regulations and restraints 
(including potential environmental liabilities associated with historical exploration activities); and (6) political 
climate and/or governmental regulation and control. The ability of the Company to sell and profit from the sale of 
any eventual gold production from any of the Company’s properties will be subject to the prevailing conditions in 
the precious metals marketplace at the time of sale. The global precious metals marketplace is unregulated and 
subject to changing attitudes of consumers and other end-users on the basis of economic conditions, fashion, other
trends that effect demand for products that use gold. Many of these factors are beyond the control of the Company
therefore representing a market risk which could impact the long term viability of the Company and its operations.

Dependence on Management, Key Personnel and Employees

The success of the Company is dependent on the services of its directors, officers and key employees. The 
experience of these individuals is a factor contributing to the Company’s continued success and growth. The ability 
of the Company to conduct its operations is also highly dependent on the availability of skilled workers. The 
Company does not intend to get any key man insurance policies, and therefore there would be a risk that the death or 
departure of any member of management or any key employee would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company. Investors who are not prepared to rely on the management of the Company should not invest in its 
securities.

Fluctuating Mineral Prices

The mining industry is heavily dependent upon the market price of the metals or minerals being mined.  There is no 
assurance that, even if commercial quantities of mineral resources are discovered, a profitable market will exist for 
their sale.  There can be no assurance that mineral prices will be such that the Properties can be mined at a profit.  
Factors beyond the Company’s control may affect the marketability of any minerals discovered.  The price of gold 
has experienced volatile and significant price movements over short periods of time, and is affected by numerous 
factors beyond the control of the Company.

Management of Growth

The Company may be subject to growth-related risks, capacity constraints and pressure on its internal systems and 
controls, particularly given the early stage of the Company’s development. The ability of the Company to manage 
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growth effectively will require it to continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to 
expand, train and manage its employee base. The inability to deal with this growth could have a material adverse 
impact on its business, operations and prospects.

No Prior Market; No Liquidity

The Common Shares have never been publicly traded and as a result, the Company cannot foresee the extent to 
which a trading market will develop. The Company also cannot predict the degree of liquidity that will be associated 
with the Common Shares. The price at which Common Shares are offered hereunder was determined by negotiation 
between the Company and the Agent. Therefore, the offering price hereunder may not be indicative of prices that 
will prevail in the public market.

Uncertainty of Additional Funding

With the net proceeds from the Offering, the Company will have sufficient financial resources to undertake the work 
program on the Wekusko Gold Property.  Assuming the successful completion of the program, the Company may 
not have sufficient financial resources to complete additional work programs.  There is no assurance that the 
Company will be successful in obtaining the required financing or that such financing will be available on terms 
acceptable to us.  Any future financing may also be dilutive to the Company’s existing shareholders.

Negative Operating Cash Flow

Since inception, the Company has had negative operating cash flow. The Company has incurred losses since its 
incorporation.  The losses and negative operating cash flow are expected to continue for the foreseeable future as 
funds are expended on the recommended exploration program on the Properties and for general and administrative 
costs.  The Company cannot predict when it will reach positive operating cash flow.

Share Price Volatility

A number of factors could influence the volatility in the trading price of the Common Shares, including changes in 
the economy or in the financial markets, industry-related developments, and the impact of changes in the 
Company’s daily operations. The Company’s quarterly revenues and profits may vary because of expenses it incurs 
related to future acquisitions, expanding into new markets, changes in the mix of its business or operations, or 
fluctuations in the demand for its services. Each of these factors could lead to increased volatility in the market price 
of the Common Shares. In addition, variations in earnings estimates by securities analysts and the market prices of 
the securities of the Company’s competitors may also lead to fluctuations in the trading price of the Common 
Shares.

Discretion in the Application of Proceeds from the Offering

The proposed allocation of the net proceeds of the Offering represents the Company’s best estimate of the expected 
use of the funds. Management and the board of directors may allocate the funds in significantly different proportions 
depending on their assessment of the Company’s needs subsequent to the Offering.

No History of Earnings

The Company has no history of earnings, and there is no assurance that any of its mineral properties will generate 
earnings, operate profitably or provide a return on investment in the future. The Company has not paid dividends in 
the past and has no plans to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. The future dividend policy of the Company
will be determined by its directors.

Title Matters

While Doca has reviewed and is satisfied with the title to the claims comprising the Properties, and, to the best of 
our knowledge, such title is in good standing, there is no guarantee that titles to such claims will not be challenged 
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or impugned.  Any of the Company’s mineral property interests may be subject to prior unregistered agreements of 
transfer or aboriginal land claims, and title may be affected by undetected defects.

Permits and Licenses

There is no assurance that the Company will obtain required permits and licenses. The Company’s operations may 
sometimes require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. The Company believes that it will be 
able to obtain in the future all necessary licenses and permits to carry on the activities which it intends to conduct, 
and intends to comply in all material respects with the terms of such licenses and permits. There can be no 
guarantee, however, that the Company will be able to obtain and maintain, at all times, all necessary licenses and 
permits required to undertake the proposed exploration and development or to place its properties into commercial 
production and to operate mining facilities thereon. In the event of commercial production, the cost of compliance 
with changes in governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability of operations or preclude the 
economic development of a particular property.

Potential Profitability Depends Upon Factors Beyond the Control of the Company

The potential profitability of mineral properties is dependent upon many factors beyond the Company’s control. 
Factors beyond the control of the Company may affect the marketability of gold and base metals discovered, if any. 
Gold and base metal prices have fluctuated widely. The effect of these factors cannot be predicted. Another factor is 
that rates of recovery of gold and base metals from mined ore may vary from the rate experienced in tests and a 
reduction in the recovery rate will adversely affect profitability and, possibly, the economic viability of a property. 
Profitability also depends on the cost of operations, including costs of labour, equipment, electricity, environmental 
compliance or other production inputs. Such costs will fluctuate in ways the Company cannot predict and are 
beyond the Company’s control, and such fluctuations will impact on profitability and may eliminate profitability
altogether. Additionally, due to worldwide economic uncertainty, the availability and cost of funds for development 
and other costs have become increasingly difficult, if not impossible, to project. These changes and events may 
materially affect the financial performance of the Company.

Operating Hazards and Risks

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, certain risks, and in particular, 
unexpected or unusual geological operating conditions including rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, flooding and 
earthquakes may occur. It is not always possible to fully insure against such risks and the Company may decide not 
to insure against such risks as a result of high premiums or other reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could 
reduce or eliminate any future profitability and result in increasing costs and a decline in the value of the securities 
of the Company.

Environmental Risks and Other Regulatory Requirements

The current or future operations of the Company, including development activities and commencement of 
production on its properties, require permits from various federal and local government authorities, and such 
operations are and will be governed by laws and regulations governing prospecting, development, mining, 
production, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, toxic substances, land use, environmental 
protection, mine safety and other matters. Companies engaged in the development and operation of mines and 
related facilities generally experience increase costs and delays in production and other schedules as a result of the 
need to comply with the applicable laws, regulations and permits. There can be no assurance that all permits which 
the Company may require for the construction of mining facilities and conduct of mining operations will be 
obtainable on reasonable terms or that such laws and regulations would not have an adverse effect on any mining 
project which the Company might undertake. Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting 
requirements may result in enforcement actions including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation 
of additional equipment or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining activities may be required to compensate 
those suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties 
imposed upon them for violation of applicable laws or regulations. Amendments to current laws, regulations and 
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permits governing operations and activities of mining companies, or more stringent implementation thereof, could 
have a material adverse impact on the Company and cause increases in capital expenditures or production costs or 
reduction in levels of production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in the development of 
new mining properties.

Reliability of Historical Information

The Company has relied, and the disclosure from the Technical Report set above, is based, in part, upon historical 
data compiled by previous parties involved with the Wekusko Gold Property.  To the extent that any of such 
historical data is inaccurate or incomplete, Doca’s exploration plans may be adversely affected. 

Competition

The mining industry is intensely and increasingly competitive, and the Company competes for exploration and 
exploitation properties with many companies possessing greater financial resources and technical facilities than 
Doca.  Competition in the mining business could adversely affect our ability to acquire suitable producing properties 
or prospects for mineral exploration in the future.

Conflicts of Interest

Certain of our directors and officers are, and may continue to be, involved in the mineral exploration industry 
through their direct and indirect participation in corporations, partnerships or joint ventures which are potential 
competitors of the Company.  Situations may arise in connection with potential acquisitions or opportunities where 
the other interests of these directors and officers may conflict with our interests.  Directors and officers of the 
Company with conflicts of interest will be subject to and follow the procedures set out in applicable corporate and 
securities legislation, regulations, rules and policies.

Current Global Financial Condition

The downturn of the global capital markets generally makes the raising of capital by equity or debt financing more 
difficult, and we will be dependent upon the capital markets to raise financing.  Access to financing has been 
negatively impacted by global macro-economic issues.  As such, we are subject to counterparty risk and liquidity 
risk.  The Company is exposed to various counterparty risks including, but not limited to: (i) financial institutions 
that hold the Company’s cash; (ii) companies that have payables to the Company; and (iii) the Company’s insurance 
providers.  The Company is also exposed to liquidity risks in meeting its operating and exploration expenditure 
requirements in instances where cash positions are unable to be maintained or appropriate financing is unavailable.  
These factors may impact the ability of the Company to raise equity or obtain loans and other credit facilities in the 
future and, if obtained, on terms favourable to the Company.  If these increased levels of volatility and market 
turmoil continue, the Company’s operations could be adversely impacted and the trading price of the Company’s 
Shares could be adversely affected.

Our operations and performance may depend significantly on general economic conditions, and their impact on 
levels of business and the demand for base and precious metals.  Spending is often affected by a number of factors, 
including business / consumer confidence in the strength of economies, fears of recession, the tightening of credit 
markets, higher levels of unemployment, higher tax rates, the cost of credit and other factors.  The current volatility 
in the global economy in particular has resulted in an overall slowing in growth in many sectors because of 
decreased business and consumer spending, which may remain depressed for the foreseeable future.  

Industry Regulation

We currently operate our business in a regulated industry.  There can be no assurances that we may not be 
negatively affected by changes in the applicable legislation, or by any decisions or orders of any governmental or 
administrative body or applicable regulatory authority.
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Uninsured or Uninsurable Risks

We may become subject to liability for cave-ins, pollution or other hazards against which we cannot insure or 
against which we may elect not to insure because of high premium costs or for other reasons.  The payment of any 
such liabilities would reduce the funds available for exploration and mining activities.  Payments of liabilities for 
which we do not carry insurance may have a material adverse effect on our financial position.

PROMOTERS

No person will be or has been within the two years preceding the date of this Prospectus a promoter of Doca.  

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

There are currently no actual or pending legal proceedings to which the Company is a party or of which any of its 
assets are subject.

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

None of our directors, senior officers or any shareholder holding, on record or beneficially, directly or indirectly, 
more than 10% of the issued Shares, or any of their respective associates or affiliates, had any material interest, 
directly or indirectly, in any material transaction with us in the last three years or in any proposed transaction which 
has materially affected us or would materially affect.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Except as otherwise disclosed herein, the Company has not entered and will not enter into management contracts, 
non-competition agreements or non-disclosure agreements, with any director, officer, employee or consultant.  
Except as disclosed herein, no management function of the Company is performed or will be performed by a person 
other than a director or officer of the Company.

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS

Auditors

The auditors of the Company are Davidson & Company LLP, of Suite 1200, 609 Granville Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V7Y 1G6.

Transfer Agent & Registrar

The registrar and transfer agent of the Company is Computershare Investor Services Inc., 2nd Floor, 510 Burrard 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3B9.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following are the only material contracts, other than those contracts entered into in the ordinary course of 
business, which we have entered into since the beginning of the last financial year before the date of this Prospectus, 
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entered into prior to such date but which contract is still in effect, or to which we are or will become a party to on or 
prior to the completion of the Qualifying Transaction:

1. Property Option Agreement dated February 6, 2012 between Strider and Cangame and the Company with 
respect to the Ferro Property;

2. Property Option Agreement dated February 6, 2012 between Strider and the Company with respect to the 
Wekusko Property; 

3. Finder’s Fee Agreement dated May 1, 2012 between 668730 B.C. Ltd. and the Company with respect to the 
payment of a finders fee in relation to the Transaction; and

4. Agency Agreement dated September 13, 2012 between the Agent and the Company with respect to the 
Offering.

Copies of these agreements will be available for inspection at the offices of McMillan LLP, solicitors for the 
Company, located at 1500 – 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, B.C., V6E 4N7, during ordinary business hours 
until the date of closing of the Transaction and for a period of thirty days thereafter.

EXPERTS

The following is a list of the persons or companies named as having prepared or certified a statement, report or 
valuation, in the Prospectus either directly or in a document incorporated by reference and whose profession or 
business gives authority to the statement, report or valuation made by the person or company:

• Mark A.F. Fedikow, Ph.D., P. Eng. P. Geo. C.P.G., a Qualified Person who authored the technical report 
dated May 12, 2012 on the Wekusko Property entitled “NI 43-101 Technical Report: Geology, 
Mineralization and Exploration of The Wekusko Gold Project, Snow Lake Area, Manitoba (NTS 63J/13), 
Canada”;

• Davidson & Company LLP, who prepared the audit report on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company and notes thereto for the financial year ended November 30, 2011; and

• McMillan LLP provided a summary opinion with respect to eligibility for investment of the Common 
Shares.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, none of the above persons or companies hold any beneficial ownership, 
direct or indirect, in any securities of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company.

Based on information provided by the relevant persons, and except as otherwise disclosed in this Prospectus, none of 
the persons or companies referred to above has received or will receive any direct or indirect interests in the 
Company’s property or the property of an associated party or an affiliate of the Company or have any beneficial 
ownership, direct or indirect, of the Company’s securities or of an associated party or an affiliate of the Company.

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS

There are no other material facts relating to the securities proposed to be offered which have not been disclosed 
elsewhere in this prospectus.
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RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides purchasers with the right to 
withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after 
receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation 
further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the prospectus and 
any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for 
rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of 
the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities 
legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser.

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT

In the opinion of McMillan LLP, counsel to the Company, based on the current provisions of the Income Tax Act 
(Canada) (the “Tax Act”), the regulations thereunder and the proposals to amend the Tax Act and the regulations 
publicly announced by the Minister of Finance prior to the date hereof, if, as and when the Shares are listed on a 
“designated stock exchange” for purposes of the Tax Act (which currently includes the TSXV) or the Company is a 
“public corporation” as defined in the Tax Act, the Shares would, at such time, be “qualified investments” under the 
Tax Act and the regulations thereunder for trusts governed by registered retirement savings plans, registered 
retirement income funds, registered education savings plans, deferred profit sharing plans, registered disability 
savings plans, and tax-free savings accounts (collectively, the “Plans”). While the Shares are currently suspended 
from trading on the TSXV, based on the representations made by the Company to counsel, the Company continues 
to be, as of the date hereof, a “public corporation” for purposes of the Tax Act. Tax considerations relevant where 
Shares are acquired or held within a Plan as a non-qualified investment are not discussed in this summary.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the holder of a tax-free savings account (“TFSA”) or the annuitant of an RRSP or 
RRIF will be subject to a penalty tax in respect of a Share held in a TFSA, RRSP or RRIF if such Share is a 
“prohibited investment” under the Tax Act. A Share will generally not be a prohibited investment for a TFSA, 
RRSP or RRIF, as applicable, provided that (i) the holder or annuitant of the account does not have a “significant 
interest” (within the meaning of the Tax Act) in the Company and (ii) the Company deals at “arm’s length”, for the 
purposes of the Tax Act, with such holder/annuitant and any corporation, partnership or trust in which the 
holder/annuitant has a “significant interest”. Prospective holders should consult their own tax advisors to ensure that 
Shares would not be prohibited investments in their particular circumstances.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached to and forming a part of this Prospectus are the following financial statements of the Company:

• Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended November 30, 2011; and

• Interim Financial Statements for the quarter ended May 31, 2012.



AUDITOR’S CONSENT

We have read the Prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of Doca Capital Corp. (the “Company”) dated September13, 2012
relating to the proposed offering of common shares of the Company. We have complied with Canadian generally 
accepted standards for an auditor’s involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above mentioned Prospectus of our report to the shareholders of the Company on the 
consolidated balance sheets of Doca as at November 30, 2011 and 2010 and the consolidated statements of loss and 
deficit and cash flows for the years then ended.  Our report is dated September 13, 2012.

Vancouver, Canada Davidson & Company LLP
September 13, 2012 Chartered Accountants
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
 
 
To the Directors of 
Doca Capital Corp. 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Doca Capital Corp. which comprise the balance sheets as at 
November 30, 2011 and 2010 and the statements of operations, comprehensive loss and deficit and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits are sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Doca Capital Corp. 
as at November 30, 2011 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
  



 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which describes conditions and 
matters that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about Doca Capital Corp.’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. 
 
 

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP” 
 
Vancouver, Canada  Chartered Accountants 
  
September 13, 2012  
 
 
 
 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
BALANCE SHEETS 
AS AT NOVEMBER 30 
 

  
2011 

 
2010 

   
   
ASSETS   
   
   
Current   
 Cash $ 303,676 $ 370,545 
 Receivable  -     4,742 
   
 $ 303,676 $ 375,287 
   
   
   
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   
   
   
Current   
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 18,187 $ 11,017 
   
Shareholders' equity   
 Capital stock (Note 3)  436,619  437,886 
 Contributed surplus (Note 3)  60,582  60,805 
 Deficit  (211,712)  (134,421)
   
  285,489  364,270 
   
 $ 303,676 $ 375,287 

 
Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1) 
Subsequent events (Note 9) 
 
On behalf of the Board:    
    
    
    

“Kim Oishi” Director “Dave Doherty” Director 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS, COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AND DEFICIT 
 

    
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2011 

 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2010 

     
     
     
EXPENSES     
 Administration   $ 7,053 $ 6,155 
 Office and miscellaneous    4,097  3,690 
 Professional fees    36,073  54,121 
 Stock-based compensation    -     45,156 
 Transfer agent and filing fees    18,626  6,052 
 Travel and related    11,442  -    
     
Loss and comprehensive loss for the year    (77,291)  (115,174)
     
Deficit, beginning of year    (134,421)  (19,247)
     
Deficit, end of year   $ (211,712) $ (134,421)
     
     
Basic and diluted loss per common share   $ (0.01) $ (0.02) 
     
     
Weighted average number of common 
  shares outstanding 

   
 6,404,039 

 
 5,172,603 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

    
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2011 

 
Year Ended 

November 30, 
2010 

     
     
     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
 Loss for the year   $ (77,291) $ (115,174)
 Items not affecting cash     
  Stock-based compensation    -     45,156 
     
 Change in non-cash working capital items:     
  (Increase) decrease in receivables    2,832  (4,742)
  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 
    and accrued liabilities 

   
 7,170 

 
 (6,928)

     
 Net cash used in operating activities    (67,289)  (81,688)
     
     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
 Proceeds from the issuance of capital stock    420  200,000 
 Share issue costs    -     (41,215)
 Deferred financing costs    -     (10,000)
     
 Net cash provided by financing activities    420  148,785 
     
Change in cash during the year    (66,869)  67,097 
     
Cash, beginning of year    370,545  303,448 
     
Cash, end of year   $ 303,676 $ 370,545 

 
Supplemental disclosures with respect to cash flows (Note 6) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOVEMBER 30, 2011 
    
 
 
 
1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 
 
 Doca Capital Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (B.C.) on July 27, 2009 

and is classified as a Capital Pool Company as defined in TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) Policy 2.4.  The 
principal business of the Company is the identification and evaluation of a Qualifying Transaction and once 
identified or evaluated, to negotiate an acquisition or participation in a business subject to receipt of shareholder 
approval, if required, and acceptance by regulatory authorities.  The Company has entered into certain agreements 
intended to serve as its Qualifying Transaction (“QT”) (Note 9). 

 
The Company filed an amended and restated Prospectus for its initial public offering (“IPO”) on May 19, 2010, 
received regulatory approval on May 31, 2010 and commenced trading on Tier 2 of the TSX-V on July 12, 2010. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles with the assumption that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business rather than through a process of forced liquidation. 

 
 The Company’s continuing operations as intended are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate 

an acquisition of, a participation in or an interest in properties, assets or businesses.  Such an acquisition will be 
subject to regulatory approval and may be subject to shareholder approval.  There is no assurance the Company will 
be able to complete its QT.  If the transaction does not complete the Company will require additional financing to 
maintain operations.  These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.  The financial statements do not include any adjustments to assets or liabilities should the Company 
be unable to continue in existence. 

 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 Use of estimates 
 
 The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of 
revenues and expenses during the year.  Areas requiring significant estimates include stock-based compensation and 
future income taxes.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 
 Deferred financing costs 
 
 Costs directly identifiable with the raising of capital will be charged against the related capital stock.  Costs related 

to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred financing costs.  These costs will be deferred until the issuance of 
the shares to which the costs relate, at which time the costs will be charged against the related capital stock or 
charged to operations if the shares are not issued. 

 
 Future income taxes 
 
 Future income taxes are recorded using the asset and liability method whereby future tax assets and liabilities are 

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying 
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  Future tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability 
settled.  The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period 
that substantive enactment or enactment occurs.  To the extent that the Company does not consider it more likely 
than not that a future tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against the excess. 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOVEMBER 30, 2011 
    
 
 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 
 
 Financial instruments – recognition and measurement 
 

The Company classifies all financial instruments as either held-for-trading, available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, 
loans and receivables, or other financial liabilities.  Financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value 
on initial recognition.  Subsequent measurement and changes in fair value will depend on the financial instrument 
classification.  Held-for-trading financial instruments are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 
recognized in results of operations.  Available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income.  Instruments held-to-maturity, loans and 
receivables, and other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 
 
The Company has classified its cash as held-for-trading and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as 
other financial liabilities. 
 

 Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures requires entities to provide disclosures in their financial 
statements that enable users to evaluate (a) the significance of financial instruments for the entity's financial position 
and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the entity is 
exposed during the period and at the balance sheet date, and how the entity manages those risks.  The section also 
requires disclosure about the inputs used in making fair value measurements, including their classification within a 
hierarchy that prioritizes their significance.  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 
 Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets or model inputs that are observable for the asset or 
liability either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
 

See Note 5 for relevant disclosures. 
 
 
 
Capital disclosures 
 
The CICA has established standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it is managed.  The 
entity’s disclosure should include information about its objectives, policies and procedures for managing capital and 
disclose whether it has complied with any capital requirements to which it is subject and the consequences of non-
compliance (see Note 7). 
 
 
 
Comprehensive income 
 
Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity (net assets) from transactions and other events from non-
owner sources.  Other comprehensive income is defined as revenues, expenses, gains and losses that, in accordance 
with primary sources of GAAP, are recognized in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income.  This 
would include holding gains and losses from financial instruments classified as available-for-sale. 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOVEMBER 30, 2011 
    
 
 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
 

 Loss per share 
 
 The Company uses the treasury stock method to compute the dilutive effect of options, warrants and similar 

instruments.  Under this method the dilutive effect on earnings per share is recognized on the use of the proceeds 
that could be obtained upon exercise of options, warrants and similar instruments.  It assumes that the proceeds 
would be used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the year.  

 
 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.  
 
 
 
 Stock-based compensation 
 
 Stock options and direct awards of stock granted to employees and non-employees are recorded at fair value on the 

date of grant and the associated expense is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the shares on 
the exercise of stock options is credited to capital stock. 

 
 
 

Recent accounting standards 
 
Business combinations, non-controlling interest and consolidated financial statements 
 
In January 2009, the CICA issued Handbook Sections 1582 “Business Combinations”, 1601 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements” and 1602 “Non-controlling Interests” which replace CICA Handbook Sections 1581 
“Business Combinations” and 1600 “Consolidated Financial Statements”. Section 1582 establishes standards for the 
accounting for business combinations that is equivalent to the business combination accounting standard under 
IFRS. Section 1582 is applicable for the Company’s business combinations with acquisition dates on or after 
January 1, 2011. Section 1601 together with Section 1602 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements. Section 1601 is applicable for the Company’s interim and annual consolidated financial 
statements for its fiscal year beginning December 1, 2010.  Early adoption of these Sections is permitted and all 
three Sections must be adopted concurrently.  
 
The Company does not anticipate the adoption of this above standard will have a significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 
 
International financial reporting standards (“IFRS”) 
 
In 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) published a new strategic plan that will significantly 
affect financial reporting requirements for Canadian companies.  The AcSB strategic plan outlines the convergence 
of Canadian GAAP with IFRS over an expected five year transitional period.  In February 2008, the AcSB 
announced that 2011 is the changeover date for publicly-listed companies to use IFRS, replacing Canada’s own 
GAAP.  The date is for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2011.  The transition date of January 1, 2011 will require the restatement for comparative purposes of 
amounts reported by the Company for the year ended November 30, 2011. 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOVEMBER 30, 2011 
    
 
 
 
3. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 
 

  
 Number 
 of Shares 

 
 
 Amount 

 
 Contributed  
 Surplus 

    
    
Authorized    
 Unlimited common shares, without par value    
 Unlimited preferred shares, without par value    
    
    
Issued    
 Balance as at November 30, 2009  4,400,000 $ 313,000 $ 5,000 
  Shares issued for cash  2,000,000  200,000  -    
  Share issue costs  -     (64,465)  -    
  Issue costs for agents’ options  -     (10,649)  10,649 
  Stock-based compensation  -     -     45,156 
    
 Balance as at November 30, 2010  6,400,000  437,886  60,805 
  Exercise of agent’s options  4,200  420  -    
  Share issue costs  -     (1,910)  -    
  Adjustment for exercised agent’s options  -     223  (223)
    
 Balance as at November 30, 2011  6,404,200 $ 436,619 $ 60,582 

 
 
 
 
Share issuances 
 
On July 12, 2010, the Company completed its IPO and issued 2,000,000 common shares at $0.10 per share for gross 
proceeds of $200,000. 
 
The Company paid the agent a $20,000 commission, a $10,000 corporate finance fee and granted 200,000 agent’s 
options valued at $10,649 which are exercisable at $0.10 per share until July 12, 2012. 
 
An additional $34,465 in legal costs and other costs directly attributed to the IPO were recorded as share issuance 
costs.  The Company had previously recorded some of the aforementioned costs totaling $23,250 as deferred 
financing costs which were reallocated to share issuance costs upon completion of the IPO. 
 
Escrow shares 
 
As at November 30, 2011, there were 2,890,000 common shares held in escrow pursuant to the requirements of the 
TSX-V.  Pursuant to the escrow agreements, 10% of the escrowed common shares will be released following TSX-
V acceptance of the Qualifying Transaction and in increments of 15% every 6 months thereafter. 
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3. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (cont’d…) 

 
Stock options 
 
The Company has adopted a “rolling” stock option plan (the “Plan”), pursuant to which a maximum of 10% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the time an option is granted, less any outstanding stock 
options previously granted, will be reserved for issuance as options and will be granted at the discretion of the 
Company’s Board of Directors to eligible optionees under the Plan.  While the Plan is in effect there can never be 
more than 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares reserved for issuance under the Plan at any 
point in time.  A maximum of 640,000 common shares may be issued under the Plan until completion of the 
Qualifying Transaction.  Stock options granted vest at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  The options can be 
granted for a maximum term of 5 years. 
 
Stock option transactions are summarized as follows: 
 

  
 

Number 
Of Options 

 
Weighted 

Average 
Exercise Price 

   
Balance, November 30, 2009  -    $ - 
 Granted  600,000  0.10 
   
Balance, November 30, 2010 and 2011  600,000 $              0.10 

 
As at November 30, 2011, the following incentive stock options are outstanding and exercisable: 

 
  

Number 
of Options 

  
Exercise 

Price 

  
 
Expiry Date 

      
 600,000  $  0.10  July 12, 2015 

 
Stock-based compensation 
 
During the year ended November 30, 2011, the Company granted Nil (2010 – 600,000) stock options to officers and 
directors.  The fair value of these options calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was $Nil (2010 - 
$45,156). 
 
The following assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option-pricing model calculation of stock options 
granted during the year: 

 
  

2011 
 

2010 
   
Risk-free interest rate -    2.51% 
Expected life of options -    5 years 
Expected annualized volatility -    100.00% 
Expected dividend rate -    0% 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOVEMBER 30, 2011 
    
 
 
 
3. CAPITAL STOCK AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (cont’d…) 

 
Agent’s options 
 
Agent’s option transactions are summarized as follows: 

 
  

 
Number 

Of Options 

 
Weighted 

Average 
Exercise Price 

   
Balance, November 30, 2009  120,000 $ 0.10 
 Granted  200,000  0.10 
   
Balance, November 30, 2010  320,000                 0.10 
 Exercised  (4,200)  0.10 
   
Balance, November 30, 2011  315,800 $ 0.10 

 
As at November 30, 2011, the following agent’s options are outstanding: 

 
  

Number 
of Options 

  
Exercise 

Price 

  
 
Expiry Date 

      
 120,000  $  0.10  July 12, 2012 
 195,800  0.10  July 12, 2012 

 
 The weighted average fair value of agent’s options granted was $Nil (2010 - $0.05) per option. 
 

The following assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes option-pricing model calculation of agent’s options 
granted during the year: 

 
  

2011 
 

2010 
   
Risk-free interest rate -    2.51% 
Expected life of options -    2 years 
Expected annualized volatility -    100.00% 
Expected dividend rate -    0% 

 
 
4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Accounts payable at November 30, 2011 includes $Nil (2010 - $651) due to a law firm in which the corporate 
secretary is partner. 

 
The Company paid or accrued $16,710 (2010 - $32,036) in legal fees to a law firm in which the corporate secretary 
is partner. 
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4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d...) 
 
Related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange value, which 
represented the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 
 
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
 The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  The fair value of 

these financial instruments, other than cash, approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature. 
 

In accordance with the three level hierarchy of financial instruments, cash is measured at fair value on the balance 
sheet using level 1 fair value inputs. 

 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfil its payment obligations.  The 
Company’s cash is held at large financial institutions and it believes it has no significant credit risk. 
 
Liquidity risk  
 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due.  As at November 30, 2011, the Company had cash totaling $303,676 to settle current liabilities 
of $18,187.  All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of 30 days or due on demand and 
are subject to normal trade terms.  
 
Market risk  
 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk  
 
 The Company has cash and no interest-bearing debt and is not subject to significant interest rate risk.  
 
(b) Foreign currency risk  
 

The Company’s operations are in Canada and it is not exposed to foreign currency risk. 
 
(c) Price risk  
 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the 
potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or 
general movements in the level of the stock market. The Company closely monitors individual equity 
movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 
Company. 
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6. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 
 
 

  
2011 2010

   
Cash paid during the period for interest $ -    $ -    
   
Cash paid during the period for income taxes $ -    $ -    

 
 
 The significant non-cash transaction during the year ended November 30, 2011 were as follows: 
 

a) The Company transferred $223 of contributed surplus to share capital upon the exercise of agent’s options. 
 
b) The Company reclassed $1,910 of receivables for cost recoveries to share issue costs. 
 
 

 The significant non-cash transactions during the year ended November 30, 2010 were as follows: 
 

a) The Company granted 200,000 agent’s options valued at $10,649. 
 
b) The Company reallocated $23,250 of deferred financing costs to share issuance costs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
7. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
 

The Company defines its capital as shareholders’ equity.  The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support the identification and evaluation 
of a Qualifying Transaction.  The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future development of the 
business.  Additional funds may be required to finance the Company’s Qualifying Transaction. 

 
The proceeds raised from the issuance of share capital may only be used to identify and evaluate assets or businesses 
for future investment, with the exception that up to the lesser of 30% and $210,000 of the gross proceeds from the 
sale of all securities issued by the Company may be used to cover prescribed costs of issuing the common shares and 
administrative and general expenses of the Company.  These restrictions apply until completion of a Qualifying 
Transaction by the Company. 

 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given 
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  There has been no change in the Company’s approach to managing 
its capital. 
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8. INCOME TAXES 
 

 A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows: 
 

  
2011 

 
2010 

   
Loss for the year $ (77,291) $ (115,174)
   
Expected income tax recovery $ (20,611) $ (32,968)
Non-deductible and other items  (4,180)  8,548 
Unrecognized benefit of non-capital losses  24,791  24,420 
   
Total income tax recovery $ -    $ -    

 
 The significant components of the Company's future income taxes assets are as follows: 
 

  
2011 

 
2010 

   
   
Future income tax assets:   
 Non-capital loss carryforwards $ 50,000 $ 26,000 
 Share issue costs  11,000  15,000 
   
  61,000  41,000 
Valuation allowance  (61,000)  (41,000)
   
Net future income tax asset $ -    $ -    

 
 The Company has available for deduction against future taxable income non-capital losses of approximately 

$198,000.  These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2031.  Future tax benefits which may arise as a result 
of these non-capital losses and share issue costs have not been recognized in these financial statements and have 
been offset by a valuation allowance due to the uncertainty of their realization. 

 
 
9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

The Company has entered into property option agreements to earn a 100% interest in the Wekusko and Ferro 
properties located near Snow Lake, Manitoba. 
 
Pursuant to the Wekusko agreement the Company can earn a 100% interest in the property by issuing 1,000,000 
share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.25 per share for 36 months, making cumulative cash payments totalling 
$1,000,000 over 4 years, issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,000,000 over 4 years and incurring cumulative 
expenditures of $5,000,000 over 5 years on the property. 
 
Pursuant to the Ferro agreement the Company can earn a 100% interest in the property by making cumulative cash 
payments totalling $1,500,000 over 4 years and issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,500,000 over 4 years. 
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9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (cont’d…) 

 
Both the Wekusko and Ferro properties are subject to a 3% net smelter return (“NSR”).  On or before the first 
anniversary of commencement of commercial production, the Company can purchase ½ of each NSR for 
$1,500,000. 
 
In connection with these agreements, the Company has agreed to issue 300,000 common shares as a finders fee. 
 
The Company intends for these transactions to serve as its Qualifying Transaction. 
 
Concurrent with the proposed Qualifying Transaction, the Company plans to conduct a prospectus offering to raise 
gross proceeds of up to $2,500,000 through the issuance of 16,666,666 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share. 
 
The Company has entered into an agreement with Canaccord Genuity Corp. (“Canaccord”) to act as the agent for the 
offering.  Canaccord will receive a cash commission of 8% of the gross proceeds raised and be issued agent warrants 
equal to 10% of the shares sold under the offering.  The agent warrants will be exercisable at a price equal to the 
offering price for a period of 24 months from closing. 
 
Canaccord has been granted an overallotment option for the sale of up to an additional 2,500,000 common shares 
under the prospectus offering. 
 
The Company will also pay Canaccord a work and corporate finance fee of $75,000 ($32,500 paid) and issue up to 
402,500 corporate finance fee shares to Canaccord on closing.  Canaccord will be reimbursed all reasonable 
expenses and fees in connection with the offering ($25,000 retainer paid) as well as receive an administrative work 
fee of $3,000 (paid). 
 
On completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the Company intends to grant up to 1,650,000 stock options 
exercisable at $0.15 per share for a period of 5 years. 
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CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
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Notes 

 
May 31, 

2012 

 
November 30, 

2011 

 
December 1, 

2010 
     
     
ASSETS     
     
     
Current     
 Cash  $ 115,452 $ 303,676  370,545 
 Receivable 3  -     -     4,742 
 Deferred financing costs 4  88,537  -     -    
     
   203,989  303,676  375,287 
     
Exploration supplies 5  4,478  -     -    
     
  $ 208,467 $ 303,676 $ 375,287 
     
     
     
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY     
     
     
Current     
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6 $ 25,677 $ 18,187 $ 11,017 
     
Shareholders' equity     
 Share capital 7  436,619  436,619  437,886 
 Share-based payments reserve   60,582  60,582  60,805 
 Deficit   (314,411)  (211,712)  (134,421)
     
   182,790  285,489  364,270 
     
  $ 208,467 $ 303,676 $ 375,287 

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1) 
Proposed Qualifying Transaction (Note 12) 
Subsequent Event (Note 13) 

 
On behalf of the Board 
  on July 30, 2012 
    
    
                                

“ Kim Oishi” Director “David Doherty” Director 
    
 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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Three Months 

Ended 
May 31, 

2012 

 
Three Months 

Ended 
May 31, 

2011 

 
Six Months 

Ended 
May 31, 

2012 

 
Six Months 

Ended 
May 31, 

2011 
     
     
     
EXPENSES     
 Administration $ 1,680 $ 1,500 $ 3,360 $ 3,000 
 Office and miscellaneous  1,852  1,398  4,550  1,653 
 Professional fees  26,293  6,130  49,756  9,138 
 Property investigation  102  -     21,128  -    
 Transfer agent and filing fees  4,132  5,157  14,986  14,832 
 Travel and related  2,497  -     8,919  2,931 
     
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period $ (36,556) $ (14,185) $ (102,699) $ (31,554)
     
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.02) $ (0.01) 
     
Weighted average number of common 
  shares outstanding 

 
 6,404,200 

 
 6,404,200 

 
 6,404,200 

 
 6,403,877 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
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(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

    
Six Months 

Ended 
May 31, 

2012 

 
Six Months 

Ended 
May 31, 

2011 
     
     
     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
 Loss for the period   $ (102,699) $ (31,554)
     
 Change in non-cash working capital items:     
  Decrease in receivables    -     2,142 
  Decrease in accounts payable 
    and accrued liabilities 

   
 (431)

 
 (7,722)

     
 Net cash used in operating activities    (103,130)  (37,134)
     
     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
 Proceeds from the issuance of capital stock    -     420 
 Deferred financing costs    (80,616)  -    
     
 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (80,616)  420 
     
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
 Exploration supplies    (4,478)  -    
     
 Net cash used in investing activities    (4,478)  -    
     
Decrease in cash during the period    (188,224)  (36,714)
     
Cash, beginning of period    303,676  370,545 
     
Cash, end of period   $ 115,452 $ 333,831 

 
Supplemental disclosures with respect to cash flows (Note 10) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
 



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
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 Share Capital    
 

 

 
 

Number 

 

 
 

Amount 

 

Share-Based 
Payments 
Reserve 

 

 
 

Deficit 

 

 
 

Total 
      
Balance, December 1, 2010  6,400,000 $ 437,886 $ 60,805 $ (134,421) $ 364,270 
      
 Exercise of agents’ options  4,200  420  -     -     420 
 Adjustment for exercised agents’ options  -     223  (223)  -     -    
 Loss for the period  -     -     -     (31,554)  (31,554)
      
Balance, May 31, 2011  6,404,200  438,529  60,582  (165,975)  333,136 
      
 Share issue costs  -     (1,910)  -     -     (1,910)
 Loss for the period  -     -     -     (45,737)  (45,737)
      

Balance, November 30, 2011  6,404,200  436,619  60,582  (211,712)  285,489 
      

 Loss for the period  -     -     -     (102,699)  (102,699)
           
Balance, May 31, 2012  6,404,200 $ 436,619 $ 60,582 $ (314,411) $ 182,790 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 
 
 Doca Capital Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (B.C.) on July 27, 2009 

and is classified as a Capital Pool Company as defined in TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) Policy 2.4.  The 
principal business of the Company is the identification and evaluation of a Qualifying Transaction and once 
identified or evaluated, to negotiate an acquisition or participation in a business subject to receipt of shareholder 
approval, if required, and acceptance by regulatory authorities.  On February 6, 2012, the Company entered into 
certain agreements intended to serve as its Qualifying Transaction (“QT”) (Note 12). 

 
The Company’s head office address is Suite 300-1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 
2E9.  The registered and records office address is Suite 1500-1055 West Georgia Street, P.O. Box 11117, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 4N7. 

 
The Company filed an amended and restated Prospectus for its initial public offering (“IPO”) on May 19, 2010, 
received regulatory approval on May 31, 2010 and commenced trading on Tier 2 of the TSX-V on July 12, 2010. 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will be 
able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.  The 
Company’s continuing operations as intended are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an 
acquisition of, a participation in or an interest in properties, assets or businesses.  Such an acquisition will be subject 
to regulatory approval and may be subject to shareholder approval.  There is no assurance the Company will be able 
to complete its QT.  If the transaction does not complete the Company will require additional financing to maintain 
operations.  These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  The financial statements do not include any adjustments to assets or liabilities should the Company be 
unable to continue in existence. 

 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Basis of presentation 
 
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook was revised in 2010 to incorporate International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and requires publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards 
effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.  The Company has commenced reporting on this basis in 
these condensed interim financial statements. 
 
These are the Company’s second IFRS condensed interim financial statements for the second quarter of the period 
covered by IFRS and have been prepared in accordance with IFRS applicable to the preparation of interim financial 
statements, including International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting and IFRS 1, First-
time Adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards.  Subject to certain transition elections disclosed in 
Note 14, we have consistently applied the same accounting policies in our opening IFRS statement of financial 
position as at December 1, 2010 and throughout all periods presented, as if the policies had always been in effect.  
Note 14 discloses the impact of the transition from Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“Canadian 
GAAP”) to IFRS on our reported financial position, operating earnings and cash flows, including the nature and 
effect of significant changes in accounting policies from those used in our financial statements for the year ended 
November 30, 2011.  IFRS 1, which governs the first-time adoption of IFRS, generally requires accounting policies 
to be applied retrospectively to determine the opening statement of financial position on our transition date of 
December 1, 2010 and allows certain exemptions on transition to IFRS.  The elections adopted by the Company 
have been disclosed in Note 14. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 

Basis of presentation (cont’d…) 
 
The policies applied in these condensed interim financial statements are based on IFRS guidance available as of July 
26, 2012, the date the Board of Directors approved the financial statements.  Any subsequent changes to IFRS that 
are given effect in our annual financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2011 could result in restatement 
of these condensed interim financial statements.  None of these standards are expected to have a significant effect on 
the financial statements. 
 
These condensed financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated, which is the 
Company’s reporting currency.  The Company’s functional currency is detailed below. 

 
 Use of estimates 
 
 The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of 
revenues and expenses during the period.  Areas requiring significant estimates and judgements include share-based 
compensation and deferred income taxes.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 
Deferred income tax 
 
Significant judgement is required to determine whether to recognize deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried 
forward to the extent there are sufficient taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same 
taxation authority and the same taxable entity against which the unused tax losses can be utilized.  However, 
utilization of the tax losses also depends on the ability of the taxable entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the 
losses are recouped. 
 
Share-based compensation 
 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
requires using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.  
This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected 
life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. 

 
 Deferred financing costs 
 
 Costs directly identifiable with the raising of capital will be charged against the related capital stock.  Costs related 

to shares not yet issued are recorded as deferred financing costs.  These costs will be deferred until the issuance of 
the shares to which the costs relate, at which time the costs will be charged against the related capital stock or 
charged to operations if the shares are not issued. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 
 

Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
Upon acquiring the legal right to explore an exploration and evaluation asset, costs related to the acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation are capitalized by property.  Pre-exploration and evaluation costs and costs incurred prior 
to obtaining the legal right to explore are expensed.  If commercially profitable ore reserves are developed, 
capitalized costs of the related exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified as mining assets and amortized 
using the unit of production method.  If, after management review, it is determined that capitalized acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation costs are not recoverable, or the exploration and evaluation assets are abandoned, or 
management deems there to be an impairment in value, the exploration and evaluation assets are written down to 
their net realizable value. 
 
Any option payments received by the Company from third parties or tax credits refunded to the Company are 
credited to the capitalized cost of the exploration and evaluation assets.  If payments received exceed the capitalized 
cost, the excess is recognized as income in the year received.  The amounts shown for exploration and evaluation 
assets do not necessarily represent present or future values.  Their recoverability is dependent upon the discovery of 
economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the 
exploration and evaluation, and future production or proceeds from the disposition thereof. 
 

 Income taxes 
 
 Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in 

which case it is recognized in equity.  Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 
regards to previous years. 

 
Deferred tax is recorded using the liability method, providing for temporary differences, between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  The 
following temporary differences are not provided for:  goodwill not deductible for tax purposes; the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss; and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the forseeable future.  The amount of 
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilized.  To the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that a deferred 
tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against that excess. 
 
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognized at the same time as the liability 
to pay the related dividend.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 
 Loss per share 
 
 Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders by the 

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 
computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are 
increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive.  The 
number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised 
and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market price during the 
reporting periods.  All of the Company’s outstanding options and warrants have been excluded from the diluted 
calculations as they are anti-dilutive. 

 
 Share-based compensation 
 
 Stock options and direct awards of stock granted to employees and non-employees are recorded at fair value on the 

date of grant and the associated expense is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the shares on 
the exercise of stock options is credited to capital stock. 

 
Foreign currency translation 
 
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates and has 
been determined as the Canadian dollar for the Company.  The functional currency determinations were conducted 
through an analysis of the consideration factors identified in IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 
Rates. 
 
Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of 
the transactions.  At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange at the financial position reporting date.  
Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates approximating those in effect on the date of the 
transactions.  Exchange gains and losses arising on translation are reflected in profit or loss for the period. 

 
Financial instruments  
 
Financial assets 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the purpose for which 
the asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows: 
 
Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or incurred principally for 
the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognized through profit or loss.  
 
Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at amortized cost less any provision for impairment. 
Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective 
evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 
Financial instruments (cont’d…) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d…) 
 
Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These 
assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the 
investment is impaired, determined by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial 
asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying amount of the 
investment, including impairment losses, are recognized through profit or loss. 
 
Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as available-
for- sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in 
the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the 
loss is removed from equity and recognized through other comprehensive income (loss). 
 
All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment at least 
at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of 
financial assets, which are described above. 
 
The Company has classified its cash at fair value through profit and loss. The Company’s receivable is classified as 
loans and receivables. 
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the 
asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows:  
 
Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities acquired or incurred principally 
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized through profit or loss.  
 
Other financial liabilities: This category consists of liabilities carried at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.  
 
New Standards Not Yet Adopted 

 

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are mandatory for 
accounting years beginning after January 1, 2013 or later years.  Early adoption of either IFRS 10, 11 or 12 is 
permitted but requires the concurrent adoption of the other two standards. 

  



DOCA CAPITAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
MAY 31, 2012 
    

 
 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, is part of the IASB’s wider project to replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.”  IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and established two 
primary measurement categories for financial assets; amortized cost and fair value.  The basis of classification 
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.  The 
standard is effective for the Company on or after January 1, 2015.  The Company will continue to evaluate and 
monitor the developments of this new standard. 
 
IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of 
consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities.  The standard builds on the 
existing principles of ‘control’ by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity 
should be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company.  There will be no significant 
impact on the Company upon implementation of the issued standard. 
 
IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”, provides for a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the 
rights and obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form (as is currently the case).  The standard 
addresses inconsistencies in the reporting of joint arrangements by requiring a single method to account for interests 
in jointly controlled entities.  The Company anticipates reviewing all existing arrangements for classification, 
particularly our mineral property agreements and may require assistance from its external advisors. 
 
IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”, is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure 
requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
unconsolidated structured entities.  The Company anticipates reviewing all existing arrangements for classification, 
particularly our mineral property agreements and may require assistance from its external advisors. 
 
IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurements”, is a new comprehensive standard on measuring and disclosing fair value 
and will supersede all other fair value guidance in IFRS.  The Company anticipates reviewing all existing fair valued 
accounts and may require assistance from its external auditors. 
 
 

3. RECEIVABLE 
 

The Company’s receivable was comprised of Harmonized Sales Tax due from the Canadian government taxation 
authorities. 

 
  

May 31, 
2012 

 
November 30, 

2011 

 
December 1, 

2010 
    
    

HST receivable $ -    $ -    $ 4,742 
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4. DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS 
 

Concurrent with the proposed Qualifying Transaction described in Note 12, the Company plans to conduct a 
prospectus offering to raise gross proceeds of up to $2,500,000 through the issuance of 16,666,666 common shares 
at a price of $0.15 per share. 
 
The Company has entered into an agreement with Canaccord Genuity Corp. (“Canaccord”) to act as the agent for the 
offering.  Canaccord will receive a cash commission of 8% of the gross proceeds raised and be issued agent warrants 
equal to 10% of the shares sold under the offering.  The agent warrants will be exercisable at a price equal to the 
offering price for a period of 24 months from closing. 
 
Canaccord has been granted an overallotment option for the sale of up to an additional 2,500,000 common shares 
under the prospectus offering. 
 
The Company will also pay Canaccord a work and corporate finance fee of $75,000 ($32,500 paid) and issue up to 
402,500 corporate finance fee shares to Canaccord on closing.  Canaccord will be reimbursed all reasonable 
expenses and fees in connection with the offering ($25,000 retainer paid) as well as receive an administrative work 
fee of $3,000 (paid). 
 
An additional $28,037 in legal fees attributed to preparation of the prospectus has been recorded as deferred 
financing costs. 

 
 
5. EXPLORATION SUPPLIES 
 

The Company’s exploration supplies are comprised of diesel fuel for future exploration activities (Note 12). 
 

  
May 31, 

2012 

 
November 30, 

2011 

 
December 1, 

2010 
    
    

Diesel fuel $ 4,478 $ -    $ -    

 
 
6. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities for the Company are broken down as follows: 
 

  
May 31, 

2012 

 
November 30, 

2011 

 
December 1, 

2010 
    

Trade payables $ 17,177 $ 1,000 $ 2,366 
Accrued liabilities  8,500  17,187  8,651 
    

Total $ 25,677 $ 18,187 $ 11,017 

 
All payables and accrued liabilities for the Company fall due within the next 12 months. 
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7. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 

Authorized: 
 
Unlimited common shares, without par value 
 
Unlimited preferred shares, without par value 
 
Share issuances 
 
On July 12, 2010, the Company completed its IPO and issued 2,000,000 common shares at $0.10 per share for gross 
proceeds of $200,000. 
 
The Company paid the agent a $20,000 commission, a $10,000 corporate finance fee and granted 200,000 agent’s 
options valued at $10,649 which are exercisable at $0.10 per share until July 12, 2012. 
 
An additional $34,465 in legal costs and other costs directly attributed to the IPO were recorded as share issuance 
costs.  The Company had previously recorded some of the aforementioned costs totaling $23,250 as deferred 
financing costs which were reallocated to share issuance costs upon completion of the IPO. 
 
Escrow shares 
 
As at May 31, 2012, there were 2,890,000 common shares held in escrow pursuant to the requirements of the TSX-
V.  Pursuant to the escrow agreements, 10% of the escrowed common shares will be released following TSX-V 
acceptance of the Qualifying Transaction and in increments of 15% every 6 months thereafter. 
 
Stock options 
 
The Company has adopted a “rolling” stock option plan (the “Plan”), pursuant to which a maximum of 10% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the time an option is granted, less any outstanding stock 
options previously granted, will be reserved for issuance as options and will be granted at the discretion of the 
Company’s Board of Directors to eligible optionees under the Plan.  While the Plan is in effect there can never be 
more than 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares reserved for issuance under the Plan at any 
point in time.  A maximum of 640,000 common shares may be issued under the Plan until completion of the 
Qualifying Transaction.  Stock options granted vest at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  The options can be 
granted for a maximum term of 5 years. 
 
Stock option transactions are summarized as follows: 
 

  
 

Number 
Of Options 

 
Weighted 

Average 
Exercise Price 

   
   
Balance, December 1, 2010, November 30, 2011 and May 31, 2012  600,000 $              0.10 
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7. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (cont’d…) 

 
As at May 31, 2012, the following incentive stock options are outstanding and exercisable: 

 
  

Number 
of Options 

  
Exercise 

Price 

  
 
Expiry Date 

      
 600,000  $  0.10  July 12, 2015 

 
Share-based compensation 
 
There were no stock options granted during the six month periods ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2012, 
respectively. 
 
Agent’s options 
 
Agent’s option transactions are summarized as follows: 

 
  

 
Number 

Of Options 

 
Weighted 

Average 
Exercise Price 

   
Balance, December 1, 2010  320,000 $ 0.10 
 Exercised  (4,200)  0.10 
   
Balance, November 30, 2011 and May 31, 2012  315,800 $ 0.10 

 
Exercised agent’s options 
 
On December 14, 2010, the Company issued 4,200 common shares at $0.10 per share for proceeds of $420 pursuant 
to the exercise of agent’s options with a July 12, 2012 expiry date.  In relation to the exercised agent’s options, $223 
of share-based payments reserve was transferred into share capital. 
 
As at May 31, 2012, the following agent’s options are outstanding: 

 
  

Number 
of Options 

  
Exercise 

Price 

  
 
Expiry Date 

      
 315,800  $  0.10  July 12, 2012 
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Accounts payable at May 31, 2012 includes $9,133 (November 30, 2011 - $Nil) due to a law firm in which the 
corporate secretary is partner. 

 
The Company paid or accrued $24,805 (2011 - $2,928) in legal fees to a law firm in which the corporate secretary is 
partner. 
 
The Company paid or accrued $28,037 (2011 - $Nil) in deferred financing costs to a law firm in which the corporate 
secretary is partner. 

 
 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 
 
 The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  The 

fair value of these financial instruments, other than cash, approximates their carrying value due to their short-term 
nature. 

 
In accordance with the three level hierarchy of financial instruments, cash is measured at fair value on the balance 
sheet using level 1 fair value inputs. 

 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfil its payment obligations.  The 
Company’s cash is held at large financial institutions and it believes it has no significant credit risk. 
 
Liquidity risk  
 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due.  As at May 31, 2012, the Company had cash totaling $115,452 to settle current liabilities of 
$25,677.  All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of 30 days or due on demand and are 
subject to normal trade terms.  
 
Market risk  
 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk  
 
 The Company has cash and no interest-bearing debt and is not subject to significant interest rate risk.  
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9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (cont’d…) 
 
(b) Foreign currency risk  

 
The Company’s operations are in Canada and it is not exposed to foreign currency risk. 

 
(c) Price risk  
 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the 
potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or 
general movements in the level of the stock market. The Company closely monitors individual equity 
movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 
Company. 

 
 
10. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 
 

  
2012 2011

   
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 24 $ -    
   
Cash paid during the period for income taxes $ -    $ -    

 
 The significant non-cash transaction during the six month period ended May 31, 2012 was as follows: 

 
a) The Company accrued $7,921 of deferred financing costs in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
 

 The significant non-cash transaction during the six month period ended May 31, 2011 was as follows: 
 

a) The Company transferred $223 from share-based payments reserve to share capital upon the exercise of agent’s 
options. 

 
 
11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company defines its capital as shareholders’ equity.  The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support the identification and evaluation 
of a Qualifying Transaction.  The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future development of the 
business.  Additional funds may be required to finance the Company’s Qualifying Transaction. 

 
The proceeds raised from the issuance of share capital may only be used to identify and evaluate assets or businesses 
for future investment, with the exception that up to the lesser of 30% and $210,000 of the gross proceeds from the 
sale of all securities issued by the Company may be used to cover prescribed costs of issuing the common shares and 
administrative and general expenses of the Company.  These restrictions apply until completion of a Qualifying 
Transaction by the Company. 
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11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d…) 
 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given 
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  There has been no change in the Company’s approach to managing 
its capital. 
 

 
12. PROPOSED QUALIFYING TRANSACTION 
 

The Company has entered into property option agreements to earn a 100% interest in the Wekusko and Ferro 
properties located near Snow Lake, Manitoba. 
 
Pursuant to the Wekusko agreement the Company can earn a 100% interest in the property by issuing 1,000,000 
share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.25 per share for 36 months, making cumulative cash payments totalling 
$1,000,000 over 4 years, issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,000,000 over 4 years and incurring cumulative 
expenditures of $5,000,000 over 5 years on the property. 
 
Pursuant to the Ferro agreement the Company can earn a 100% interest in the property by making cumulative cash 
payments totalling $1,500,000 over 4 years and issuing cumulative shares totalling 1,500,000 over 4 years. 
 
Both the Wekusko and Ferro properties are subject to a 3% net smelter return (“NSR”).  On or before the first 
anniversary of commencement of commercial production, the Company can purchase ½ of each NSR for 
$1,500,000. 
 
In connection with these agreements, the Company has agreed to issue 300,000 common shares as a finders fee. 
 
The Company intends for these transactions to serve as its Qualifying Transaction. 
 
The Company is also conducting a concurrent financing (Note 4). 
 
On completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the Company intends to grant up to 1,650,000 stock options 
exercisable at $0.15 per share for a period of five years. 
 
 

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
Expired agent’s options 
 
On July 12, 2012, 315,800 agent options expired unexercised. 
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14. TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
 

As stated in Note 2, these are the Company’s condensed interim financial statements for the period covered by the 
first annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. An explanation of how the transition from 
previous Canadian GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s financial position and comprehensive loss is set out 
in this note. 

 
The accounting policies set out in Note 2 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the period 
ended May 31, 2012, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the period ended May 
31, 2011 and in the preparation of the comparative statement of financial position at November 30, 2011 and an 
opening IFRS statement of financial position at December 1, 2010 (“Transition Date”). 

 
FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (IFRS 1)  
 
The Company adopted IFRS on December 1, 2011 with a transition date of December 1, 2010. Under IFRS 1 First 
time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, the IFRS standards are applied retrospectively at the 
transition date with all adjustments to assets and liabilities as stated under Canadian GAAP taken to deficit, with 
IFRS 1 providing for certain optional and mandatory exemptions to this principle. 
 
OPTIONAL EXEMPTIONS 
 
The IFRS 1 applicable exemptions applied in the conversion from Canadian GAAP to IFRS are as follows: 
 
Share-based Payment Transactions 
 
The Company has elected not to retrospectively apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments that were granted and had vested 
before the Transition Date.  As a result of applying this exemption, the Company will apply the provision of IFRS 2 
only to all outstanding equity instruments that are unvested as at the Transition Date to IFRS.  The Company did not 
have any unvested outstanding equity instruments as of the Transition Date. 
 
MANDATORY EXEMPTIONS 
 
Estimates 
 
The estimates previously made by the Company under Canadian GAAP were not revised for the application of IFRS 
except where necessary to reflect any difference in accounting policy or where there was objective evidence that 
those estimates were in error.  As a result the Company has not used hindsight to revise estimates. 
 
As part of the Company’s transition to IFRS, the Company is required to restate comparative information that was 
previously reported under Canadian GAAP in accordance with IFRS.  In addition, the Company is required to 
reconcile certain balances under Canadian GAAP to those reported under IFRS.  The specific reconciliations 
required are: 
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14. TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont’d…) 
 
FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (IFRS 1)  
 
MANDATORY EXEMPTIONS (cont’d…) 
 
Estimates (cont’d…) 
 
i) Shareholders’ equity and financial position as at:  

a. December 1, 2010; 
b. May 31, 2011; and 
c. November 30, 2011. 

 
ii) Comprehensive loss for: 

a. the six months ended May 31, 2011; and 
b. the year ended November 30, 2011. 

 
Management has determined that the adoption of IFRS has not resulted in any adjustments to these balances as 
reported previously under Canadian GAAP; therefore reconciliations have not been presented.  There are also no 
significant differences between IFRS and Canadian GAAP in connection with the Company’s statements of cash 
flows for the period ended May 31, 2011 or the year ended November 30, 2011; therefore reconciliations have not 
been presented. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 1, contributed surplus was renamed share-based payments reserve. 



APPENDIX B

DOCA CAPITAL CORP.
(the “Company”)

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

1. Mandate

The audit committee will assist the board of directors (the “Board”) in fulfilling its financial oversight 
responsibilities.  The audit committee will review and consider in consultation with the auditors the financial 
reporting process, the system of internal control and the audit process.  In performing its duties, the committee will 
maintain effective working relationships with the Board, management, and the external auditors.  To effectively 
perform his or her role, each committee member must obtain an understanding of the principal responsibilities of 
committee membership as well and the Company’s business, operations and risks.

2. Composition 

The Board will appoint from among their membership an audit committee after each annual general meeting of the 
shareholders of the Company.  The audit committee will consist of a minimum of three directors.

2.1 Independence

A majority of the members of the audit committee must not be officers, employees or control persons of the 
Company.

2.2 Expertise of Committee Members

Each member of the audit committee must be financially literate or must become financially literate within a 
reasonable period of time after his or her appointment to the committee.  At least one member of the committee must 
have accounting or related financial management expertise. The Board shall interpret the qualifications of financial 
literacy and financial management expertise in its business judgment and shall conclude whether a director meets 
these qualifications.

3. Meetings

The audit committee shall meet in accordance with a schedule established each year by the Board, and at other times 
that the audit committee may determine.  The audit committee shall meet at least annually with the Company’s 
Chief Financial Officer and external auditors in separate executive sessions. 

4. Roles and Responsibilities

The audit committee shall fulfill the following roles and discharge the following responsibilities:

4.1 External Audit

The audit committee shall be directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors in preparing or 
issuing the auditor’s report, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the external 
auditors regarding financial reporting and audit scope or procedures.  In carrying out this duty, the audit committee 
shall:

(a) recommend to the Board the external auditor to be nominated by the shareholders for the purpose 
of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the 
Company;
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(b) review (by discussion and enquiry) the external auditors’ proposed audit scope and approach;

(c) review the performance of the external auditors and recommend to the Board the appointment or 
discharge of the external auditors;

(d) review and recommend to the Board the compensation to be paid to the external auditors; and

(e) review and confirm the independence of the external auditors by reviewing the non-audit services 
provided and the external auditors’ assertion of their independence in accordance with professional 
standards.

4.2 Internal Control

The audit committee shall consider whether adequate controls are in place over annual and interim financial 
reporting as well as controls over assets, transactions and the creation of obligations, commitments and liabilities of 
the Company.  In carrying out this duty, the audit committee shall:

(a) evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of management’s system of internal controls over the 
accounting and financial reporting system within the Company; and

(b) ensure that the external auditors discuss with the audit committee any event or matter which 
suggests the possibility of  fraud, illegal acts or deficiencies in internal controls.

4.3 Financial Reporting

The audit committee shall review the financial statements and financial information prior to its release to the public.  
In carrying out this duty, the audit committee shall:

General

(a) review significant accounting and financial reporting issues, especially complex, unusual and 
related party transactions; and

(b) review and ensure that the accounting principles selected by management in preparing financial 
statements are appropriate.

Annual Financial Statements

(a) review the draft annual financial statements and provide a recommendation to the Board with 
respect to the approval of the financial statements;

(b) meet with management and the external auditors to review the financial statements and the results 
of the audit, including any difficulties encountered; and

(c) review management’s discussion & analysis respecting the annual reporting period prior to its 
release to the public.

Interim Financial Statements

(a) review and approve the interim financial statements prior to their release to the public; and

(b) review management’s discussion & analysis respecting the interim reporting period prior to its 
release to the public.
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Release of Financial Information

(a) where reasonably possible, review and approve all public disclosure, including news releases, 
containing financial information, prior to its release to the public.

4.4 Non-Audit Services

All non-audit services (being services other than services rendered for the audit and review of the financial 
statements or services that are normally provided by the external auditor in connection with statutory and regulatory 
filings or engagements) which are proposed to be provided by the external auditors to the Company or any 
subsidiary of the Company shall be subject to the prior approval of the audit committee.  

Delegation of Authority

(a) The audit committee may delegate to one or more independent members of the audit committee 
the authority to approve non-audit services,  provided any non-audit services approved in this manner must 
be presented to the audit committee at its next scheduled meeting. 

De-Minimis Non-Audit Services

(a) The audit committee may satisfy the  requirement for the pre-approval of non-audit services if:

(i) the aggregate amount of all non-audit services that were not pre-approved is reasonably 
expected to constitute no more than five per cent of the total amount of fees paid by the Company 
and its subsidiaries to the external auditor during the fiscal year in which the services are provided; 
or 

(ii) the services are brought to the attention of the audit committee and approved, prior to the 
completion of the audit, by the audit committee or by one or more of its members to whom 
authority to grant such approvals has been delegated.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

(a) The audit committee may also satisfy the  requirement for the pre-approval of non-audit services 
by adopting specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services, if:

(i) the pre-approval policies and procedures are detailed as to the particular service;

(ii) the audit committee is informed of each non-audit service; and

(iii) the procedures do not include delegation of the audit committee’s responsibilities to 
management.

4.5 Other Responsibilities

The audit committee shall:

(a) establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the 
Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters;

(b) establish procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of 
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters;

(c) ensure that significant findings and recommendations made by management and external auditor 
are received and discussed on a timely basis;
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(d) review the policies and procedures in effect for considering officers’ expenses and perquisites;

(e) perform other oversight functions as requested by the Board; and

(f) review and update this Charter and receive approval of changes to this Charter from the Board.

4.6 Reporting Responsibilities

The audit committee shall regularly update the Board about committee activities and make appropriate 
recommendations.

5. Resources and Authority of the Audit Committee

The audit committee shall have the resources and the authority appropriate to discharge its responsibilities, including 
the authority to 

(a) engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties;

(b) set and pay the compensation for any advisors employed by the audit committee; and

(c) communicate directly with the internal and external auditors.

6. Guidance – Roles & Responsibilities

The following guidance is intended to provide the audit committee members with additional guidance on fulfilment 
of their roles and responsibilities on the committee:

6.1 Internal Control

(a) evaluate whether management is setting the goal of high standards by communicating the 
importance of internal control and ensuring that all individuals possess an understanding of their roles and 
responsibilities;

(b) focus on the extent to which external auditors review computer systems and applications, the 
security of such systems and applications, and the contingency plan for processing financial information in 
the event of an IT systems breakdown; and

(c) gain an understanding of whether internal control recommendations made by external auditors 
have been implemented by management.

6.2 Financial Reporting

General

(a) review significant accounting and reporting issues, including recent professional and regulatory 
pronouncements, and understand their impact on the financial statements; and

(b) ask management and the external auditors about significant risks and exposures and the plans to 
minimize such risks; and

(c) understand industry best practices and the Company’s adoption of them.
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Annual Financial Statements

(a) review the annual financial statements and determine whether they are complete and consistent 
with the information known to committee members, and assess whether the financial statements reflect 
appropriate accounting principles in light of the jurisdictions in which the Company reports or trades its 
shares;

(b) pay attention to complex and/or unusual transactions such as restructuring charges and derivative 
disclosures;

(c) focus on judgmental areas such as those involving valuation of assets and liabilities, including, for 
example, the accounting for and disclosure of loan losses; warranty, professional liability; litigation 
reserves; and other commitments and contingencies;

(d) consider management’s handling of proposed audit adjustments identified by the external auditors; 
and

(e) ensure that the external auditors communicate all required matters to the committee.

Interim Financial Statements

(a) be briefed on how management develops and summarizes interim financial information, the extent 
to which the external auditors review interim financial information;

(b) meet with management and the auditors, either telephonically or in person, to review the interim 
financial statements; and

(c) to gain insight into the fairness of the interim statements and disclosures, obtain explanations from 
management on whether:

(i) actual financial results for the quarter or interim period varied significantly from 
budgeted or projected results;

(ii) changes in financial ratios and relationships of various balance sheet and operating 
statement figures in the interim financials statements are consistent with changes in the 
Company’s operations and financing practices;

(iii) generally accepted accounting principles have been consistently applied;

(iv) there are any actual or proposed changes in accounting or financial reporting practices;

(v) there are any significant or unusual events or transactions;

(vi) the Company’s financial and operating controls are functioning effectively;

(vii) the Company has complied with the terms of loan agreements, security indentures or 
other financial position or results dependent agreement; and

(viii) the interim financial statements contain adequate and appropriate disclosures.

6.3 Compliance with Laws and Regulations

(a) periodically obtain updates from management regarding compliance with this policy and industry 
“best practices”;
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(b) be satisfied that all regulatory compliance matters have been considered in the preparation of the 
financial statements; and

(c) review the findings of any examinations by securities regulatory authorities and stock exchanges.

6.4 Other Responsibilities

(a) review, with the Company’s counsel, any legal matters that could have a significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.
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CERTIFICATE OF DOCA CAPITAL CORP.

Dated: September 13, 2012

This Prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this 
prospectus as required by the securities legislation in the provinces of British Columbia, Ontario, Manitoba and
Alberta.

(Signed) Kim Oishi
Kim David Morris Oishi
Chief Executive Officer and President

(Signed) Kim Oishi
Kim David Morris Oishi
Chief Financial Officer

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(Signed) Dave Doherty
Dave J. Doherty
Director

(Signed) Dimitrios Mitrakos
Dimitrios (Jim) Mitrakos
Director
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CERTIFICATE OF THE AGENT

Dated: September 13, 2012

To the best of our knowledge, information and belief, this Prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus as required by the securities legislation in the 
provinces of British Columbia, Ontario, Manitoba and Alberta.  

CANACCORD GENUITY CORP.

(Signed) David Rentz

David Rentz, Managing Director,
Investment Banking


